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LETTER FROM OUR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER & DIRECTOR 

Dear Fellow Stockholders,

As I reflect on this past year at Broadstone Net Lease, I am incredibly proud of all that we accomplished during 2022
despite what has been both a challenging and uncertain market backdrop. We continued to successfully deliver on 
BNL’s core mission of creating long-term stockholder value via our diversified approach to investing in and managing net
lease real estate. As we turn the page on 2022, the work completed last year has positioned BNL to continue to deliver 
consistent and predictable results for our stockholders throughout 2023 and beyond.

Looking ahead, we recognize that there remains a great deal of macroeconomic uncertainty, but as we have communicated
in the past, our differentiated approach centered around intentional diversification provides several unique benefits in
all market environments. As we enter 2023, we remain steadfast in our commitment to both building and strengthening 
service-oriented relationships with all of our stakeholders, and I could not be more excited to begin serving all of you
in the capacity of CEO.

2022 ACHIEVEMENTS AND RESULTS

With over $900 million of accretive investments at a weighted average initial cash capitalization rate of 6.4%, more than 
99.9% rent collected, minimal vacancies, and proactive capital markets execution, we were able to deliver full year 2022
AFFO of $1.40 per share, representing 6.9% year-over-year growth. By closing out 2022 with a conservative leverage 
profile of 5.2x Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre and approximately $825 million of liquidity, we are well 
positioned to continue to selectively pursue attractive investment opportunities in 2023.

2022 was a year of significant achievement and solid execution across all facets of our business. In light of significant
macroeconomic uncertainty, rising interest rates, and dislocation in the capital and transaction markets, we placed a
heightened focus on disciplined capital allocation, proactive portfolio management, and conservative balance sheet
management to create near and intermediate term flexibility. While these principles have always been core BNL
competencies, they will continue to serve as key pillars to our success as we navigate current and future economic
uncertainty. 

2022 was the distillation of what makes our diversified investment strategy so compelling. On an external growth front, 
our quarterly weighted average acquisition cap rate expanded 100 basis points during the year – from 5.7% in Q1 to 6.7% 
in Q4 – which represents the largest expansion of any net lease REIT. Having a buy-box that spans multiple core property 
types coupled with a disciplined but flexible approach to capital allocation allows us to maintain accretive investment
spreads without compromising our underwriting standards. Our same-store portfolio continues to perform exceptionally
well, and our best-in-class geographic, tenant, brand, and industry diversification provides a unique defensive hedge
against any single tenant credit event. Disciplined underwriting and proactive portfolio management over the entire
investment lifecycle has translated into a resilient and predictable operating profile. Our rent collections continue to be 
a testament to that disciplined approach as they again paced the net lease industry with more than 99.9% collected for 
the year. With the exception of 2020 during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic when our collections were still top-
tier in the net lease space, 2022 continued a seven-year track record of 99% or better rent collections since becoming 
a public reporting company.

In addition to the achievements I have already mentioned, BNL:

Mitigated risk and strengthened our portfolio through the sale of eight assets for proceeds of $57.9 million at a 
weighted average cash capitalization rate of 5.6%, a solid result as the majority of assets sold possessed significant 
credit or residual risk.

Ended the year with 99.4% occupancy and a strong portfolio comprised of 804 properties occupied by 221 different 
commercial tenants across 55 industries with weighted average annual rent escalations of 2.0% and a weighted average 
remaining lease term of 10.9 years.



Locked in attractive investment spreads on all acquisitions completed during the year.

Extended our debt maturity profile and locked in an attractive relative cost of debt by:
• amending and restating our revolving credit facility to increase the capacity to $1.0 billion, extend the        

maturity date to March 2026, and reduce the applicable margin to 0.85% based on our BBB/Baa2 credit
ratings; and

• closing a $200 million, five-year unsecured term loan and a $300 million, seven-year 
unsecured term loan, the proceeds of which were used to repay our $190 million 2024
term loan and a portion of the outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility.

Built dry powder that can be accretively deployed by:
• completing a public offering of 13 million shares of common stock in August at a price of $21.35 per 

share in connection with a forward sale agreement that we settled in December for net proceeds of 
$273.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts; and

• selling approximately 10.5 million shares of common stock at a weighted average sales price of $21.66 
per share for net proceeds of $222.9 million under our ATM Program.

We also furthered our commitment to being a responsible corporate citizen and advanced our ESG and DE&I initiatives
by, among other things, increasing the diversity of our Board of Directors, partnering with our tenants and funding
sustainable and energy efficient improvements at our properties, and hiring a third party to conduct a gender pay equity 
study that found no issues of note or material risks in our compensation practices.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Following more than 15 years of service to BNL, Geoffrey Rosenberger is set to retire from our Board following the 
Annual Meeting. Geoff is one of the founding members of our Board and served as Lead Independent Director from 
2007 until 2019 and Chair of the Audit Committee from 2007 through 2017. His contributions to the Board have been 
immense and innumerable and his presence in the boardroom will be missed.

I am pleased to welcome Jessica Duran and Laura Felice to our Board, who bring a wealth of industry knowledge, 
practical experience, and operational insights that supplement those of our current directors, enhance our Board’s overall 
value to BNL’s stockholders, and ensure that our Board is comprised of individuals with rich and varying experiences 
and mindsets.

CONCLUSION

To the team at BNL – Thank you for your dedication to our “One Broadstone” approach, your hard work, and your 
commitment to our purpose and values in service of our mission to deliver long-term stockholder value.

To our Board of Directors – Thank you for your continued support and guidance for today and our future. 

To our stockholders – On behalf of the Board of Directors and all the employees at BNL, we thank you for your investment 
and confidence in us. 

In conclusion, with a disciplined, prudent, and selective approach to growth this year, no material debt maturities until 
2026, a conservative leverage profile, robust liquidity, and solid portfolio performance, I believe BNL is well positioned 
to capitalize on 2023 and build momentum throughout the year for continued growth in 2024 and beyond.

Chief Executive Officer
Member, Board of Directors
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, which reflect our current views regarding our business,
financial performance, growth prospects and strategies, market opportunities, and market trends, that are intended to be made pursuant to
the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts.
In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of words such as “outlook,” “believes,” “expects,” “potential,”
“continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,” “approximately,” “projects,” “predicts,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,”
“anticipates,” or the negative version of these words or other comparable words. All of the forward-looking statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with
respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions, and future business decisions, all of which are difficult
or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such
forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results, performance, and achievements could differ materially
from those expressed in or by the forward-looking statements and may be affected by a variety of risks and other factors. Accordingly, there
are or will be important factors that could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements.

Important factors that could cause results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements are described in Item 1. “Business,”
Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The “Risk Factors” section should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with
other cautionary statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All
forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the risk that actual results, performance, and
achievements will differ materially from the expectations expressed in or referenced by this Annual Report on Form 10-K will increase
with the passage of time. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of
new information, future developments, or otherwise, except as required by law.

Regulation FD Disclosures

We use any of the following to comply with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD: U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) filings, press releases, public conference calls, or our website. We routinely post important information on our website
at www.broadstone.com, including information that may be deemed material. We encourage our shareholders and others interested in our
company to monitor these distribution channels for material disclosures. Our website address is included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K as a textual reference only and the information on the website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Explanatory Note and Certain Defined Terms

Except where the context suggests otherwise, as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “BNL,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and
“our company” refer to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., a Maryland corporation incorporated on October 18, 2007, and, as required by context,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, a NewYork limited liability company, which we refer to as the or our “OP,” and to their respective subsidiaries.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms and phrases are used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K as
described below:

“annualized base rent” or “ABR” means the annualized contractual cash rent due for the last month of the reporting period,
excluding the impacts of short-term rent deferrals, abatements, or free rent, and adjusted to remove rent from properties sold
during the month and to include a full month of contractual cash rent for investments made during the month;

“investments” or amounts “invested” include real estate investments in new property acquisitions as well as revenue generating
capital expenditures, whereby we agree to fund certain expenditures in exchange for increased rents that often include rent
escalations and terms consistent with that of the underlying lease, and excludes capitalized acquisition costs;

“cash capitalization rate” represents the estimated first year cash yield to be generated on a real estate investment, which was
estimated at the time of investment based on the contractually specified cash base rent for the first full year after the date of the
investment, divided by the purchase price for the property;

“CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): U.S. City Average, All Items, as published by the
U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, or other similar index which is a measure of the average change over time in the prices paid by
urban consumers for a market basket of consumer goods and services;

“occupancy” or a specified percentage of our portfolio that is “occupied” or “leased” means as of a specified date the quotient
of (1) the total rentable square footage of our properties minus the square footage of our properties that are vacant and from
which we are not receiving any rental payment, and (2) the total square footage of our properties;
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“Revolving Credit Facility” means our amended and restated $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, dated January 28,
2022, with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and the other lenders party thereto; and

“Internalization” means the internalization of the external management functions on February 7, 2020.
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Part I.

Item 1. Business

The Company

We are an internally-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that invests in, owns, and manages primarily single-tenant
commercial real estate properties that are net leased on a long-term basis to a diversified group of tenants. Since our inception in 2007, we
have selectively invested in net leased assets in the industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office property types. As of December 31,
2022, our portfolio has grown to 804 properties, with 797 properties located in 44 U.S. states and seven properties located in four Canadian
provinces.

We focus on investing in real estate that is operated by creditworthy single tenants in industries characterized by positive business
drivers and trends. We target properties that are an integral part of the tenants’ businesses and are therefore opportunities to secure long-
term net leases. Through long-term net leases, our tenants are able to retain operational control of their strategically important locations,
while allocating their debt and equity capital to fund core business operations rather than real estate ownership.

Diversified Portfolio. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio comprised approximately 39.1 million rentable square feet of
operational space and was highly diversified based on property type, geography, tenant, and industry, and is cross-diversified
within each (e.g., property-type diversification within a geographic concentration):

• Property Type: We are focused primarily on industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office property types
based on our extensive experience in and conviction around these sectors. Within these sectors, we have
meaningful concentrations in manufacturing, distribution and warehouse, food processing, casual dining,
clinical, quick service restaurants, general merchandise, and flex/research and development.

• Geographic Diversification: Our properties are located in 44 U.S. states and four Canadian provinces, with no
single geographic concentration exceeding 9.7% of our ABR.

• Tenant and Industry Diversification: Our properties are occupied by 221 different commercial tenants who
operate 211 different brands that are diversified across 55 different industries, with no single tenant accounting
for more than 4.0% of our ABR.

Strong In-Place Leases with Significant Remaining Lease Term. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio was approximately
99.4% leased with an ABR weighted average remaining lease term of approximately 10.9 years, excluding renewal options.

Standard Contractual Base Rent Escalation. Approximately 97.3% of our leases have contractual rent escalations, with an
ABR weighted average minimum increase of 2.0%.

Extensive Tenant Financial Reporting. Approximately 94.3% of our tenants, based on ABR, provide financial reporting, of
which 85.8% are required to provide us with specified financial information on a periodic basis, and an additional 8.5% of our
tenants report financial statements publicly, either through SEC filings or otherwise.

We conduct substantially all of our activities through, and all of our properties are held directly or indirectly by, the OP, which is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust (“UPREIT”). We are the sole managing member of the OP. As
of December 31, 2022, we owned approximately 94.8% of the issued and outstanding membership units of the OP (“OP Units”), with the
remaining 5.2% held by persons who were issued OP Units in exchange for their interests in properties acquired by the OP, as well as OP
Units issued pursuant to the Internalization.
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2022 Highlights

Operating Highlights

Invested $907.2 million at a weighted average initial cash capitalization rate of 6.4%, including the acquisition of 86 properties
located across 24 U.S. states and four Canadian provinces with a weighted average remaining lease term of 20.3 years and
minimum annual rent increases of 2.0%.

Sold eight properties, at a weighted average cash capitalization rate of 5.6%, for net proceeds of $57.9 million, recognizing a
$9.6 million gain over original purchase price.

Ended the year with occupancy of 99.4%.

Collected more than 99.9% of base rents due during the year.

Generated net income of $129.5 million or $0.72 per diluted share.

Generated funds from operations (“FFO”) of $273.7 million or $1.52 per diluted share.

Generated core funds from operations (“Core FFO”) of $267.3 million or $1.48 per diluted share.

Generated adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”) of $252.2 million or $1.40 per diluted share.

Ended the year with total outstanding debt and Net Debt of $2.0 billion and a Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre
ratio of 5.2x.

Amended and restated our Revolving Credit Facility to upsize the capacity to $1.0 billion, extend the maturity date to March
2026, and reduce the applicable margin 15 basis points to 0.85% based on our current investment grade credit ratings.

Entered into a $200 million, five-year unsecured term loan and a $300 million, seven-year unsecured term loan, the proceeds
of which were used to repay in full our $190 million term loan set to mature in 2024 and a portion of the outstanding borrowings
on our Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, we entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional value of $260 million to
fix the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) component of the borrowing rate at a weighted average fixed interest rate
of 2.59% until August 1, 2029.

Sold 10,470,785 shares of common stock for net proceeds of $222.9 million under our at-the-market common equity offering
(“ATM Program”).

Completed a forward equity offering of 13,000,000 shares, which fully settled on December 28, 2022 for net proceeds of $273.2
million after deducting underwriting discounts.

FFO, Core FFO, AFFO, Net Debt, and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre are performance measures that are not calculated in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). We present these non-GAAP
measures as we believe certain investors and other users of our financial information use them as part of their evaluation of our historical
operating performance. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading Non-GAAP Measures, which includes discussion of the definition, purposrr e, and use of
these non-GAAP measures as well as a reconciliation of each to the most comparable GAAP measure.
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Our Real Estate Investment Portfolio

The following charts summarize our portfolio diversification by property type, tenant, brand, industry, and geographic location as of
December 31, 2022. The percentages below are calculated based on our ABR of $389.1 million as of December 31, 2022.

Diversification by Property Type
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Property Type # Properties ABR ($000s)
ABR as a % of
Total Portfolio

Square Feet
(000s)

SF as a % of
Total Portfolio

Industrial
Manufacturing 80 $ 63,406 16.3% 11,873 30.3%
Distribution & Warehouse 47 51,406 13.2% 9,459 24.2%
Food Processing 34 44,427 11.4% 5,516 14.1%
Flex and R&D 7 17,498 4.5% 1,457 3.7%
Cold Storage 4 12,810 3.3% 933 2.4%
Services 22 10,851 2.8% 587 1.5%
Untenanted 1 — 0.0% 122 0.3%
Industrial Total 195 200,398 51.5% 29,947 76.5%

Healthcare
Clinical 52 27,020 6.9% 1,091 2.8%
Healthcare Services 29 10,679 2.7% 478 1.2%
Animal Health Services 27 10,549 2.7% 405 1.0%
Surgical 12 10,463 2.7% 329 0.9%
Life Science 9 7,867 2.1% 549 1.4%
Untenanted 1 — 0.0% 18 0.0%
Healthcare Total 130 66,578 17.1% 2,870 7.3%

Restaurant
Casual Dining 102 27,387 7.0% 678 1.7%
Quick Service Restaurants 146 24,993 6.5% 499 1.3%
Restaurant Total 248 52,380 13.5% 1,177 3.0%

Retail
General Merchandise 132 24,435 6.3% 1,865 4.8%
Automotive 68 12,667 3.3% 776 2.0%
Home Furnishings 13 7,147 1.8% 797 2.0%
Child Care 1 375 0.1% 10 0.0%
Retail Total 214 44,624 11.5% 3,448 8.8%

Office
Corporate Headquarters 8 10,761 2.8% 691 1.8%
Strategic Operations 5 9,875 2.5% 615 1.6%
Call Center 3 4,478 1.1% 345 0.9%
Untenanted 1 — 0.0% 46 0.1%
Office Total 17 25,114 6.4% 1,697 4.4%

Total 804 $ 389,094 100.0% 39,139 100.0%
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Diversification by Tenant

Tenant Property Type # Properties
ABR

($’000s)

ABR as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Square Feet
(‘000s)

SF as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Roskam Baking Company * Food Processing 7 $ 15,605 4.0% 2,250 5.7%
AHF, LLC * Distribution &

Warehouse/Manufacturing 9 8,995 2.3% 2,014 5.1%
Jack’s Family Restaurants * Quick Service Restaurants 43 7,310 1.9% 147 0.4%
Joseph T. Ryerson & Son, Inc Distribution & Warehouse 11 6,491 1.7% 1,537 3.9%
Red Lobster Hospitality & Red Lobster
Restaurants LLC*

Casual Dining
19 6,178 1.6% 158 0.4%

J. Alexander’s, LLC * Casual Dining 16 6,115 1.6% 131 0.4%
Axcelis Technologies, Inc. Flex and R&D 1 5,991 1.5% 417 1.1%
Dollar General Corporation General Merchandise 60 5,956 1.5% 562 1.4%
Hensley & Company* Distribution & Warehouse 3 5,871 1.5% 577 1.5%
BluePearl Holdings, LLC** Animal Health Services 13 5,543 1.4% 165 0.4%
Total Top 10 Tenants 182 74,055 19.0% 7,958 20.3%

1 Casual Dining 22 5,365 1.4% 140 0.4%
Tractor Supply Company General Merchandise 21 5,349 1.4% 417 1.1%
Krispy Kreme Doughnut Corporation Quick Service Restaurants/

Food Processing 27 5,034 1.3% 156 0.4%
Siemens Medical Solutions USA, Inc. &
Siemens Corporation

Manufacturing/Flex
and R&D 2 5,012 1.2% 545 1.4%

Big Tex Trailer Manufacturing, Inc.* Automotive/Distribution &
Warehouse/Manufacturing/ Corporate
Headquarters 17 4,957 1.2% 1,302 3.3%

Nestle’ Dreyer’s Ice Cream Company Cold Storage 1 4,543 1.2% 309 0.8%
Carvana, LLC* Industrial Services 2 4,509 1.2% 230 0.6%
Klosterman Bakery * Food Processing 11 4,500 1.2% 549 1.4%
Arkansas Surgical Hospital Surgical 1 4,475 1.2% 129 0.3%
American Signature, Inc. Home Furnishings 6 4,309 1.1% 474 1.2%
Total Top 20 Tenants 292 $ 122,108 31.4% 12,209 31.2%
1 Tenant’s properties include 20 Outback Steakhouse restaurants and two Carrabba’s Italian Grill restaurants.
* Subject to a master lease.
** Includes properties leased by multiple tenants, some, not all, of which are subject to master leases.
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Diversification by Brand

Brand Property Type # Properties
ABR

($’000s)

ABR as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Square Feet
(‘000s)

SF as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Roskam Baking Company* Food Processing 7 $ 15,605 4.0% 2,250 5.7%
AHF, LLC * Distribution &

Warehouse/Manufacturing 9 8,995 2.3% 2,014 5.1%
Jack’s Family Restaurants * Quick Service Restaurants 43 7,309 1.9% 147 0.4%
Ryerson Distribution & Warehouse 11 6,491 1.7% 1,537 3.9%
Red Lobster* Casual Dining 19 6,178 1.6% 157 0.4%
Axcelis Flex and R&D 1 5,991 1.5% 417 1.1%
Dollar General Corporation General Merchandise 60 5,956 1.5% 562 1.4%
Hensley* Distribution & Warehouse 3 5,871 1.5% 577 1.5%
BluePearl Veterinary Partners** Animal Health Services 13 5,543 1.4% 165 0.4%
Bob Evans Farms*1 Casual Dining/Food

Processing 21 5,391 1.4% 281 0.8%
Total Top 10 Brands 187 73,330 18.8% 8,107 20.7%

General Merchandise 21 5,349 1.4% 417 1.1%
Krispy Kreme Quick Service Restaurants/

Food Processing 27 5,034 1.3% 156 0.4%
Siemens Manufacturing/Flex

and R&D 2 5,012 1.2% 545 1.4%
Big Tex Trailers* Automotive/Distribution &

Warehouse/Manufacturing/
Corporate Headquarters 17 4,957 1.2% 1,302 3.3%

Outback Steakhouse* Casual Dining 20 4,641 1.2% 126 0.3%
Nestle’ Cold Storage 1 4,543 1.2% 310 0.8%
Carvana, LLC* Industrial Services 2 4,509 1.2% 230 0.6%
Klosterman Bakery * Food Processing 11 4,500 1.2% 549 1.4%
Arkansas Surgical Hospital Surgical 1 4,476 1.2% 129 0.3%
Wendy’s ** Quick Service Restaurants 29 4,319 1.1% 84 0.2%
Total Top 20 Brands 318 $ 120,670 31.0% 11,955 30.5%
1 Brand includes one BEF Foods, Inc. property and 20 Bob Evans Restaurants, LLC properties.
* Subject to a master lease.
** Includes properties leased by multiple tenants, some, not all, of which are subject to master leases.

Diversification by Industry

Industry # Properties
ABR
($000s)

ABR as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Square Feet
(‘000s)

SF as a %
of Total
Portfolio

Restaurants 251 $ 53,151 13.7% 1,220 3.1%
Healthcare Facilities 103 52,306 13.4% 2,044 5.2%
Packaged Foods & Meats 29 37,998 9.8% 4,713 12.0%
Distributors 27 15,922 4.1% 2,695 6.9%
Auto Parts & Equipment 43 15,348 3.9% 2,668 6.8%
Food Distributors 8 14,699 3.8% 1,786 4.6%
Specialty Stores 31 13,805 3.5% 1,338 3.4%
Specialized Consumer Services 49 12,725 3.3% 728 1.9%
Home Furnishing Retail 18 12,684 3.3% 1,858 4.7%
Metal & Glass Containers 8 10,010 2.6% 2,206 5.6%
General Merchandise Stores 96 9,634 2.5% 880 2.2%
Industrial Machinery 20 9,317 2.4% 1,949 5.0%
Healthcare Services 18 9,231 2.4% 515 1.3%
Forest Products 9 8,995 2.3% 2,014 5.1%
Aerospace & Defense 6 7,419 1.9% 776 2.0%
Other (40 industries) 85 105,850 27.1% 11,530 29.6%

p pUntenanted properties 3 — — 219 0.6%
Total 804 $ 389,094 100.0% 39,139 100.0%
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Diversification by Geography
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State
#
pProperties

ABR
($000s)

ABR as
a

% of
Total

Portfolio

Square
Feet
(000s)

SF as a %
of Total
Portfolio State

#
pProperties

ABR
($000s)

ABR as a
% of Total
Portfolio

Square
Feet (000s)

SF as a %
of Total
Portfolio

TX 72 $37,883 9.7% 3,621 9.3% LA 4 3,400 0.9% 194 0.5%
MI 55 32,545 8.4% 3,811 9.7% MS 11 3,320 0.9% 430 1.1%
IL 32 24,148 6.2% 2,424 6.2% NE 6 3,173 0.8% 509 1.3%
WI 35 21,087 5.4% 2,163 5.5% MD 4 3,002 0.8% 293 0.7%
CA 13 18,773 4.8% 1,718 4.4% IA 4 2,768 0.7% 622 1.6%
OH 47 18,667 4.8% 1,728 4.4% NM 9 2,733 0.7% 107 0.3%
FL 42 16,197 4.2% 844 2.2% SC 13 2,556 0.7% 308 0.8%
IN 32 15,552 4.0% 1,906 4.9% CO 4 2,501 0.6% 126 0.3%
MN 21 15,341 3.9% 2,500 6.4% WV 16 2,490 0.6% 109 0.3%
TN 50 15,117 3.9% 1,103 2.8% UT 3 2,432 0.6% 280 0.7%
NC 37 13,935 3.6% 1,435 3.7% CT 2 1,767 0.5% 55 0.1%
AL 53 12,151 3.1% 873 2.2% MT 7 1,563 0.4% 43 0.1%
GA 33 11,473 2.9% 1,576 4.0% NV 2 1,361 0.3% 81 0.2%
AZ 9 10,759 2.8% 909 2.3% DE 4 1,167 0.3% 133 0.3%
MA 5 10,461 2.7% 1,026 2.6% ND 2 954 0.2% 28 0.1%
PA 22 9,595 2.5% 1,836 4.7% VT 2 420 0.1% 24 0.1%
KYKK 26 9,424 2.4% 1,148 2.9% WY 1 307 0.1% 21 0.1%
NY 26 9,265 2.4% 680 1.7% OR 1 136 0.0% 9 0.0%
AR 12 8,891 2.3% 544 1.4% SD 1 81 0.0% 9 0.0%

OK 21 7,633 2.0% 977 2.5%
Total
U.S. 797 $ 381,436 98.0% 38,709 98.9%

MO 12 6,119 1.6% 1,138 2.9% BC 2 4,408 1.1% 253 0.6%
KS 11 5,590 1.4% 648 1.7% ON 3 1,984 0.5% 101 0.3%
VA 17 5,479 1.4% 204 0.5% AB 1 933 0.2% 51 0.1%
NJ 3 4,909 1.3% 366 0.9% MB 1 333 0.2% 25 0.1%

WA 15 4,311 1.1% 150 0.4%
Total
Canada 7 $ 7,658 2.0% 430 1.1%
Grand
Total 804 $ 389,094 100.0% 39,139 100.0%
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Our Leases

We typically lease our properties pursuant to long-term net leases with initial terms of 10 years or more that often have renewal
options. Substantially all of our leases are net, meaning our tenants are generally obligated to pay all expenses associated with the leased
property (such as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and capital costs). In scenarios where we lease multiple properties to a
single tenant (multi-site tenants), we seek to use master lease structures on an all-or-none basis. When we acquire properties associated with
a tenant that has an existing master lease structure with us, we seek to add the new properties to the existing master lease structure to
strengthen the existing lease with such tenant. As of December 31, 2022, master leases contributed to 67.7% of the ABR associated with
multi-site tenants (418 of our 489 properties), and 40.8% of our overall ABR (489 of our 804 properties).

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 99.4% of our portfolio, representing all but three of our properties, were subject to a lease.
Because substantially all of our properties are leased under long-term leases, we are not currently required to perform significant ongoing
leasing activities on our properties. The leases for six properties, representing approximately 1.2% of our ABR, will expire during 2023. As
of December 31, 2022, the ABR weighted average remaining term of our leases was approximately 10.9 years. Less than 4% of the
properties in our portfolio are subject to leases without at least one renewal option. Approximately 56.4% of our ABR was derived from
leases that will expire after 2030, and no more than 6.2% of our ABR was derived from leases that expire in any single year prior to 2030.
The following chart sets forth our lease expirations based upon the terms of the leases in place as of December 31, 2022.

Expiration
Year 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042+
Number of
properties 6 11 19 35 29 35 72 101 33 62 49 33 17 87 23 35 11 31 42 70

Number of
leases 9 11 22 35 31 35 73 101 33 63 49 33 17 87 23 35 11 31 42 70
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The following table presents certain information based on lease expirations by year. Amounts are in thousands, except for number of
properties.

Year # Properties ABR ($000s)
ABR as a % of Total

Portfolio Square Feet (000s)
SF as a % of Total

Portfolio
2023 6 $ 4,865 1.2% 559 1.4%
2024 11 14,224 3.7% 1,689 4.3%
2025 19 6,904 1.8% 385 1.0%
2026 35 19,317 5.0% 1,413 3.6%
2027 29 23,974 6.2% 2,079 5.3%
2028 35 23,742 6.1% 2,248 5.7%
2029 72 22,356 5.7% 2,724 7.0%
2030 101 54,280 14.0% 5,110 13.1%
2031 33 8,622 2.2% 804 2.1%
2032 62 31,420 8.1% 3,469 8.9%
2033 49 18,479 4.7% 1,575 4.0%
2034 33 6,295 1.6% 409 1.0%
2035 17 12,774 3.3% 1,927 4.9%
2036 87 26,414 6.8% 2,931 7.5%
2037 23 16,892 4.3% 1,124 2.9%
2038 35 7,962 2.0% 437 1.1%
2039 11 6,940 1.8% 803 2.1%
2040 31 5,744 1.5% 312 0.8%
2041 42 20,534 5.3% 1,737 4.4%
2042 59 43,460 11.2% 4,813 12.3%
Thereafter 11 13,896 3.5% 2,372 6.0%
Untenanted properties 3 — 0.0% 219 0.6%
Total 804 $ 389,094 100.0% 39,139 100.0%

Substantially all of our leases provide for periodic contractual rent escalations. As of December 31, 2022, leases contributing 97.3%
of our ABR provided for increases in future annual base rent, generally ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% annually, with an ABRweighted average
annual minimum increase equal to 2.0% of base rent. Generally, our rent escalators increase rent on specified dates by a fixed percentage.
Our escalations provide us with a source of organic growth and a measure of inflation protection. Additional information on lease escalation
frequency and weighted average annual escalation rates as of December 31, 2022 is displayed below.

Lease Escalation Frequency % of ABR

Weighted Average
Annual Minimum

Increase (1)

Annually 79.2% 2.2%
Every 2 years 0.1% 1.8%
Everyrr 3 years 2.6% 3.0%
Every 4 years 1.0% 2.4%
Everyrr 5 years 7.9% 1.8%
Other escalation frequencies 6.5% 1.6%
Flat 2.7% —
Total/ABR Weighted Average 100.0% 2.0%

(1) Represents the ABR weighted average annual minimum increase of the entire portfolio as if all escalations occurred annually. For leases where rent escalates
by the greater of a stated fixed percentage or the change in CPI, we have assumed an escalation equal to the stated fixed percentage in the lease. As of
December 31, 2022, leases contributing 7.5% of our ABR provide for rent increases equal to the lesser of a stated fixed percentage or the change in CPI. As
any future increase in CPI is unknowable at this time, we have not included an increase in the rent pursuant to these leases in the weighted average annual
minimum increase presented.
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The escalation provisions of our leases (by percentage of ABR) as of December 31, 2022, are displayed in the following chart:

If requested by a tenant, we may, subject to the tenant’s history, creditworthiness, and other relevant considerations, agree to reimburse
the tenant for property expansion or improvement costs that it incurs in connection with improvements at a property, 100% of which it
leases from us. In exchange for such reimbursement, we generally receive contractually specified rent that increases proportionally with our
funding. For example, we may agree to reimburse a tenant, up to a specified amount, for property expansion or improvement costs that it
incurs in improving a commercial facility on its property. Generally, as we reimburse the tenant for property expansion or improvement
costs, the rent will increase proportionally with our funding, which typically allows us to achieve a consistent cash yield on our funding
throughout improvement.

Investment Guidelines

We seek to acquire primarily freestanding, single-tenant commercial real estate properties located in the United States that are under
lease and fully occupied at the time of acquisition. We also seek to maintain our portfolio’s diversification by property type, geography,
tenant, and industry in an effort to reduce fluctuations in income caused by under-performing individual real estate assets or adverse
economic conditions affecting an entire industry or geographic region. When evaluating whether a property acquisition would contribute to
our overall portfolio’s diversification, we expect to take into account the percentage a single property, tenant, or brand would represent in
our overall portfolio, as well as geographic concentrations, both by the metropolitan statistical area and by state. While we consider these
criteria when evaluating acquisition opportunities, we may also pursue opportunistic investments that do not meet one or more of these
factors if we assess that a transaction presents compelling risk-adjusted returns. We intend to primarily acquire portfolios and assets over
time that will generally not result in any one tenant representing more than 5% of ABR. We are focused primarily on investing in the
industrial, healthcare, restaurant, and retail property types, and consider certain office properties acquired in connection with a portfolio of
other assets. Within each property type, we target specific acquisition opportunities in a highly selective manner.

Industrial. We focus on single-tenant manufacturing, warehouse and distribution facilities, food processing, refrigerated
storage, flex-space, and research and development facilities where the tenant has a strong credit profile and experienced
management team. We look for industrial assets where the real estate is mission critical to the tenant’s operations, where the
property sits on an essential or strategic location for the tenant, and where it would be difficult or more expensive for the tenant
to relocate. We look for industrial properties that are located in close proximity to major transportation thoroughfares such as
airports, ports, railways, major freeways or interstate highways.

Healthcare. We focus on single-tenant medical office buildings, large regional physician practices, and off-campus clinics
affiliated with major health systems, as well as laboratories, ambulatory surgical centers, service-type locations such as dental
and dialysis centers, and animal health service clinics. We primarily focus on healthcare properties that have substantial tenant
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investments like special regulatory permits and buildouts that would make relocation difficult or costly. We look for healthcare
properties that are mission critical to tenant operations, generally located adjacent to or near hospital campuses or other medical
facilities, and where the tenant has a strong credit profile and is not easily displaced by regulatory changes. In certain instances,
we will seek additional credit enhancements to augment the credit of the tenant. In states where a certificate of need statute
exists, we ensure that our sites carry this designation to maintain long-term viability.

Restaurant. We focus our restaurant investments primarily in single-tenant quick service restaurant and casual dining
properties, with an emphasis on restaurants that are located in strong retail markets. We underwrite restaurant properties
primarily based on the fundamental value of the underlying real estate, site level performance, corporate owned location or
experienced multi-unit franchise operators, and whether the property is subject to a master lease with multiple operating
locations.

Retail.We focus on e-commerce resistant industries where the presence of a physical location is important to the end consumer
and mission critical to the tenant. Our retail investments are primarily in single-tenant, net leased retail establishments in the
general merchandise, automotive, and home furnishings industries, with an emphasis on market presence and necessity-based
shopping. We underwrite retail properties primarily based on the fundamental value of the underlying real estate, site level
performance, corporate owned location or experienced multi-unit franchise operators, and whether the property is subject to a
master lease with multiple operating locations.

Office. Our portfolio includes single-tenant corporate headquarters, mission-critical business operations, and call centers with
creditworthy tenants where the property is strategically located or important to the tenant’s business. While not a strategic
priority of ours, key considerations for us when making office investments as part of a broader portfolio acquisition include a
strong tenant credit profile, tenant’s previous investment in the property, occupancy costs relative to the market, divisibility of
the space, cost associated with repositioning the space upon lease expiration and whether the property is subject to a master
lease with multiple operating locations in a different property type.

Competition

The commercial real estate market is highly competitive. We compete for tenants to occupy our properties in all of our markets with
other owners and operators of commercial real estate. We compete based on a number of factors that include location, rental rates, security,
suitability of the property’s design to prospective tenants’ needs, and the manner in which the property is operated and marketed. The
number of competing properties in a particular market could have a material effect on our occupancy levels, rental rates, and the operating
expenses of certain of our properties.

In addition, we compete with other entities engaged in real estate investment activities to locate suitable properties to acquire and
purchasers to buy our properties. These competitors include other REITs, private and institutional real estate investors, sovereign wealth
funds, banks, insurance companies, investment banking firms, lenders, specialty finance companies, and other entities. Some of these
competitors, including larger REITs, have substantially greater financial resources, including lower cost of capital, than we have. The
relative size of their portfolios may allow them to absorb properties with lower returns or allow them to accept more risk on a given property
than we can prudently manage, including risks with respect to the creditworthiness of tenants. In addition, these same entities may seek
financing through similar channels to us, and may have a higher target leverage profile. Competition from these REITs and other third-party
real estate investors may limit the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us. It also may result in higher prices, lower
yields, and a narrower spread of yields over our borrowing costs, making it more difficult for us to acquire new investments on attractive
terms.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2022, we employed 73 full-time employees, comprised of professional employees engaged in origination,
underwriting, closing, accounting and financial reporting, portfolio and asset management, capital markets, and other corporate activities
essential to our business.

Our commitment to our employees is central to our ability to continue to deliver strong performance and financial results for our
stockholders and other stakeholders. We are as passionate about our people as we are about real estate. We seek to create and cultivate an
inclusive and engaging work environment for our employees, which allows us to attract, retain, and develop top talent to manage our
business. We strive to provide our employees with a work environment that is free from discrimination and harassment, that respects and
honors their differences and unique life experiences, and that enables employees the opportunity to develop and excel in their role and reach
their full potential. We seek to provide a collaborative, creative workplace where people with unique talents can flourish, where their
opinions are valued, and where their contributions are rewarded.
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As part of our commitment to our employees, we are focused on the following:

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (“DE&I”) – We are committed to providing equal opportunity in all aspects of employment
and cultivating a diverse, equitable, and inclusive workplace. We believe that diverse backgrounds and experiences help drive
our performance and are important assets for our company. To that end, we value and advance the diversity, equity, and
inclusion of the people with whom we work. Our cross-functional DE&I committee spearheads our ongoing efforts to deepen
our commitment to this important initiative and drive our education, including diversity trainings on topics such as unconscious
bias, and inclusive leadership and culture. The committee also focuses on employee engagement, policy reviews, recruitment,
and monetary donations to external DE&I focused programs and organizations and sponsorship of employee groups. DE&I is
a critical business imperative that requires ongoing focus and commitment; therefore, our efforts to promote greater diversity,
equity, and inclusion within and beyond our workplace have been instituted as a regular reporting item for our employees and
our Board of Directors.

Career Development – We strive to create an engaging work experience that allows for career development and related
opportunities. We offer numerous opportunities for our employees to engage in personal and professional development,
including educational support and opportunities for tuition assistance and reimbursement, participation in industry conferences
and networking events, individual leadership and management training, access to an online learning library and professional
book club providing an extensive collection of learning and development opportunities, lunch and learn meetings with our CEO
and senior management team, group trainings (e.g., underwriting, real estate fundamentals, cyber security, computer skills,
safety, ethics, harassment prevention, and DE&I related content), peer mentorship opportunities, and reimbursement for
continuing education.

Employee Wellness – Our employees are our most valuable asset, and their individual and group contributions drive our
performance and success. As a result, we are focused on and invest in our team’s overall health, wellness, and engagement. We
employ numerous strategies and initiatives to nurture and nourish our employees’ physical, mental, and emotional well-being,
including, among other things, competitive employee benefits (with 100% employer-paid healthcare options), generous paid
time off programs, fringe benefits to make both the Broadstone and home office environments more comfortable, transparent
and open communication and dialogue between our senior executives and our employee base, events and opportunities for
social connectedness and fun family-friendly corporate events, wellness and fitness events, on-site flu vaccinations
administered by a third-party health-services provider, flexibility in work location and schedules to meet specific employee
needs, and access to an employee assistance program and other health and wellness resources.

Community Engagement – We believe in our responsibility to help the communities around us by providing support to
charitable organizations and encourage living philanthropically. We offer regular volunteer and giving opportunities throughout
the year that provide our employees with meaningful civic involvement. Since our inception, we have facilitated opportunities
for our employees to contribute time and resources to benefit local nonprofit organizations. Our community engagement efforts
are led by our employees through a dedicated committee that is responsible for engaging with community organizations,
planning and organizing various opportunities for employees to make a difference through volunteer giving and service, and
civic involvement with non-profit organizations, and corporate donations.

We believe that the initiatives described above will help us attract, hire, and retain employees.

Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 800 Clinton Square, Rochester, New York, 14604, and our telephone number is (585)
287-6500.

Insurance

Our tenants are generally required to maintain liability and property insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us pursuant
to net leases. These leases generally require our tenants to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage on the property leased by
the tenant) as additional insureds on their liability policies and loss payee (or mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their property policies.
Depending on the location of the property, certain losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by earthquakes and floods, may be
covered by insurance policies that are held by our tenant with limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments that a tenant may not be
able to meet. Certain other losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by wind/hail, hurricanes, terrorism or acts of war, may be
uninsurable or not economically insurable. In the event there is damage to our properties that is not covered by insurance and such properties
are subject to recourse indebtedness, we will continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties are irreparably damaged.

In addition to being an additional insured on our tenants’ liability policies, we separately maintain commercial general liability
coverage on the entire portfolio and, in certain instances, general or specific (e.g., flood) property-level insurance coverage on certain
properties or pursuant to the terms of certain of our leases. We also maintain full property coverage on all untenanted properties and other
property coverage as may be required by our lenders, which are not required to be carried by our tenants under our leases.
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Government Regulation

General

Our investments are subject to various laws, ordinances, and regulations, including, among other things, fire and safety requirements,
zoning regulations, land use controls, and environmental controls relating to air and water quality, noise pollution, and indirect
environmental impacts. We believe that we have all permits and approvals necessary under current law to operate our investments.

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”)

Under Title III of the ADA, and rules promulgated thereunder, in order to protect individuals with disabilities, public accommodations
must remove architectural and communication barriers that are structural in nature from existing places of public accommodation to the
extent “readily achievable.” In addition, under the ADA, alterations to a place of public accommodation or a commercial facility are to be
made so that, to the maximum extent feasible, such altered portions are readily accessible to and usable by disabled individuals. The “readily
achievable” standard takes into account, among other factors, the financial resources of the affected site and the owner, lessor or other
applicable person.

Compliance with the ADA, as well as other federal, state, and local laws, may require modifications to properties we currently own
or may purchase, or may restrict renovations of those properties. Failure to comply with these laws or regulations could result in the
imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants, as well as the incurrence of the costs of making modifications to attain
compliance, and future legislation could impose additional obligations or restrictions on our properties. Although our tenants are generally
responsible for all maintenance and repairs of the property pursuant to our lease, including compliance with the ADA and other similar laws
or regulations, we could be held liable as the owner of the property for a faff ilure of one of our tenants to comply with these laws or regulations.

Environmental Matters

Federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations regulate, and impose liability for, releases of hazardous or toxic
substances into the environment. Under many of these laws and regulations, a current or previous owner, operator or tenant of real estate
may be required to investigate and clean up or otherwise address hazardous or toxic substances, hazardous wastes or petroleum product
releases or threats of releases at the property, and may be held liable to a government entity or to third parties for property damage and for
investigation, clean-up, and monitoring costs incurred by those parties in connection with the actual or threatened contamination. These
laws may impose clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to fault and regardless of, whether the owner, operator, or tenant knew
of or caused the presence of the contamination. The liability under these laws may be joint and several for the full amount of the
investigation, clean-up, and monitoring costs incurred or to be incurred or actions to be undertaken, although a party held jointly and
severally liable may seek to obtain contributions from other identified, solvent, responsible parties of their fair share toward these costs.
These costs may be substantial, and can exceed the value of the property. In addition, some environmental laws may create a lien on the
contaminated site in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs in connection with the contamination. As the owner or operator
of real estate, we also may be liable under common law to third parties for damages and injuries resulting from environmental contamination
emanating from the real estate. The presence of contamination, or the failure to properly remediate contamination, on a property may
adversely affect the ability of the owner, operator or tenant to sell or rent that property or to borrow using the property as collateral, and
may adversely impact our investment in that property.

Some of our properties contain, have contained, or are adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or currently contain
storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances. Similarly, some of our properties currently are
or were used in the past for commercial or industrial purposes that involve or involved the use of petroleum products or other hazardous or
toxic substances, or are adjacent to or near properties that have been or are used for similar commercial or industrial purposes. These
operations create a potential for the release of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances, and we could potentially be
required to pay to clean up any contamination. In addition, environmental laws regulate a variety of activities that can occur on a property,
including the storage of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances, air emissions, water discharges, and exposure to lead-
based paint. Such laws may impose fines or penalties for violations and may require permits or other governmental approvals to be obtained
for the operation of a business involving such activities. Any of the foregoing matters could have a material adverse effect on us.

Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance, and removal of asbestos-containing materials (“ACM”). Federal
regulations require building owners and those exercising control over a building’s management to identify and warn, through signs and
labels, of potential hazards posed by workplace exposure to installed ACM in their building. The regulations also have employee training,
record keeping, and due diligence requirements pertaining to ACM. Significant fines can be assessed for violation of these regulations. As
a result of these regulations, building owners and those exercising control over a building’s management may be subject to an increased
risk of personal injury lawsuits by workers and others exposed to ACM. The regulations may affect the value of a building containing ACM
in which we have invested. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations also govern the removal, encapsulation, disturbance, handling,
and/or disposal of ACM when those materials are in poor condition or in the event of construction, remodeling, renovation, or demolition
of a building. These laws may impose liability for improper handling or a release into the environment of ACM and may provide for fines
to, and for third parties to seek recovery from, owners or operators of real properties for personal injury or improper work exposure
associated with ACM.
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When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if the moisture
problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Indoor air
quality issues can also stem from inadequate ventilation, chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor sources, and other biological
contaminants such as pollen, viruses, and bacteria. Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants above certain levels can be alleged to
cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. As a result, the presence of significant mold
or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly remediation program to contain or remove the
mold or other airborne contaminants from the affected property or increase indoor ventilation. In addition, the presence of significant mold
or other airborne contaminants could expose us to liability from our tenants, employees of our tenants, or others if property damage or
personal injury occurs.

Before completing any property acquisition, we typically obtain environmental assessments in order to identify potential
environmental concerns at the property. These assessments are carried out in accordance with the Standard Practice for Environmental Site
Assessments (ASTM Practice E 1527-13) as set by ASTM International, formerly known as the American Society for Testing andMaterials,
and generally include a physical site inspection, a review of relevant federal, state, and local environmental and health agency database
records, one or more interviews with appropriate site-related personnel, review of the property’s chain of title, and review of historical aerial
photographs and other information on past uses of the property. These assessments are limited in scope. If, however, recommended in the
initial assessments, we may undertake additional assessments such as soil and/or groundwater sampling or other limited subsurface
investigations and ACM or mold surveys to test for substances of concern. A prior owner or operator of a property or historical operations
at or near our properties may have created a material environmental condition that is not known to us or the independent consultants
preparing the site assessments. Material environmental conditions may have arisen after the review was completed or may arise in the future,
and future laws, ordinances, or regulations may impose material additional environmental liability. If environmental concerns are not
satisfactorily resolved in any initial or additional assessments, we may obtain environmental insurance policies to insure against potential
environmental risk or loss depending on the type of property, the availability and cost of the insurance, and various other factors we deem
relevant (e.g., an environmental occurrence affects one of our properties where our lessee may not have the financial capability to honor its
indemnification obligations to us). Our ultimate liability for environmental conditions may exceed the policy limits on any environmental
insurance policies we obtain, if any.

Generally, our leases require the lessee to comply with environmental law and provide that the lessee will indemnify us for any loss
or expense we incur as a result of lessee’s violation of environmental law or the presence, use or release of hazardous materials on our
property attributable to the lessee. If our lessees do not comply with environmental law, or we are unable to enforce the indemnification
obligations of our lessees, our results of operations would be adversely affected.

We cannot predict what other environmental legislation or regulations will be enacted in the future, how existing or future laws or
regulations will be administered or interpreted, or what environmental conditions may be found to exist on the properties in the future.
Compliance with existing and new laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to spend funds to remedy environmental problems.
If we or our tenants were to become subject to significant environmental liabilities, we could be materially and adversely affected.

Tax Regulation

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, (as amended, the “Code”) beginning with our taxable
year ended December 31, 2008. We believe that as of such date we have been organized and have operated in a manner to qualify for
taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We intend to continue to be organized and operate in such a manner. In order to
qualify as a REIT, we are required under the Code, among other things, to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income,
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In addition, we will be subject to income tax
at the corporate rate to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends
paid deduction and including any net capital gain. As a result of our distribution requirements, we rely, in part, on third-party sources to
fund our capital needs. Additionally, if we were to lose REIT status we would face significant tax consequences that would substantially
reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Company Information

Our filings with the SEC, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
and amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as well as our proxy statements,
are accessible free of charge at http://investors.bnl.broadstone.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. You may access materials we file with the SEC through the EDGAR database at the SEC’s website
at http://www.sec.gov.

We have adopted our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy to ensure that our business is conducted in accordance with the
highest moral, legal, and ethical standards by our officers, directors, and employees. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy is
available on our website, http://investors.bnl.broadstone.com, together with the charters of the Board of Director’s Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, as well as other corporate governance policies and
documents. Amendments to, and waivers granted to our directors and executive officers under our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
Policy, if any, will be posted in this area of our website. Copies of these materials are available in print to any stockholder who requests
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them. Stockholders should direct such requests in writing to Investor Relations Department, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., 800 Clinton Square,
Rochester, New York 14604. Stockholders may also call (585) 287-6500.

The information about our website and its content is for your convenience only. The content of our website is not deemed to be
incorporated by reference in this report or filed with the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Summary Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the matters discussed in the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page 21 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for factors you should consider before investing in our Common Stock:

Single-tenant leases involve significant risks of tenant default and tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect
us.

We have limited opportunities to increase rents under our long-term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth and
materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to achieve growth through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, which could
materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth and any failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

The departure of any of our key personnel with long-standing business relationships could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio is concentrated in certain states, and any adverse developments and economic downturns in these geographic
markets could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio is concentrated in certain property types and any adverse developments relating to one or more of these property
types could materially and adversely affect us.

We may be unable to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at all,
which, in each case, could materially and adversely affect us.

We could face potential material adverse effects from the bankruptcies or insolvencies of our tenants.

Global and U.S. financial markets and economic conditions may materially and adversely affect us and the ability of our tenants
to make rental payments to us pursuant to our leases.

Inflation may materially and adversely affect us and our tenants.

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately $2.0 billion principal balance of indebtedness outstanding, which may expose
us to the risk of default under our debt obligations.

Market conditions could adversely affect our ability to refinance existing indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all, which
could materially and adversely affect us.

Our Revolving Credit Facility and term loan agreements contain various covenants which, if not complied with, could accelerate
our repayment obligations, thereby materially and adversely affecting us.

We are a holding company with no direct operations and rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would materially and adversely affect us and the value of our Common Stock.

The market price and trading volume of shares of our Common Stock may be volatile.

We may not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all.
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Risk Factors

The folff lowing are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented in
our forward-looking statements. You should consider carefully the risks described below and the other information in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, including our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not
the only ones we face but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties notff
presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm our business.

Risks Related to Our Business and Properties

Single-tenant leases involve significant risks of tenant default and tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio consists primarily of single-tenant net leased properties and we are dependent on our tenants for substantially all of our
revenue. As a result, our success depends on the financial stability of our tenants. The ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to us,
including their obligations to pay rent, maintain certain insurance coverage, pay real estate taxes, and maintain the properties in a manner
so as not to jeopardize their operating licenses or regulatory status depends on the performance of their business and industry, as well as
general market and economic conditions, which are outside of our control. At any given time, any tenant may experience a downturn in its
business that may weaken its operating results or the overall financial condition of individual properties or its business as whole. As a result,
a tenant may fail to make rental payments when due, decline to extend a lease upon its expiration, become insolvent, or declare bankruptcy.
An actual or anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy, or speculation in the press or investment community about an actual or
anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy may also negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuatff ions in the market price or
trading volume of shares of our Common Stock. The financial failure of, or default in payment by, a single tenant under its lease is likely
to cause a significant or complete reduction in our rental revenue from that property and a reduction in the value of the property. We may
also experience difficulty or a significant delay in re-leasing or selling such property. The occurrence of one or more tenant defaults could
materially and adversely affect us.

This risk is magnified in situations where we lease multiple properties to a single tenant under a master lease. As of December 31,
2022, master leases contributed to approximately 67.7% of our ABR associated with multi-site tenants (418 of our 489 multi-site tenant
properties), and approximately 40.8% of our overall ABR (489 of our 804 properties). A tenant failure or default under a master lease could
reduce or eliminate rental revenue from multiple properties and reduce the value of such properties. Although the master lease structure
may be beneficial to us because it restricts the ability of tenants to remove individual underperforming assets, there is no guarantee that a
tenant will not default in its obligations to us or decline to renew its master lease upon expiration. The default of a tenant that leases multiple
properties from us or its decision not to renew its master lease upon expiration could materially and adversely affect us.

We have limited opportunities to increase rents under our long-term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth and materially
and adversely affect us.

We typically lease our properties pursuant to long-term net leases with initial terms of 10 years or more that often have renewal
options. As of December 31, 2022, the ABR weighted average remaining term of our leases was approximately 10.9 years, excluding
renewal options. Substantially all of our leases provide for periodic rent escalations, but these built-in increases may be less than what we
otherwise could achieve in the market. Most of our leases contain rent escalators that increase rent at a fixed amount on fixed dates, which
may be less than prevailing market rates over the lease duration. For those leases that contain rent escalators based on CPI changes, our rent
increases during periods of low inflation or deflation may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. As a result, the long-
term nature of our leases could impede our growth and materially and adversely affect us. In addition, properties leased pursuant to long-
term leases at below market rental rates or with below market rent escalations may be less attractive to potential buyers, which could affect
our ability to sell such properties at an acceptable price or at all.

We may not be able to achieve growth through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, which could materially
and adversely affect us.

Our growth strategy depends significantly on acquiring new properties. From 2015 to 2022, we have acquired an average of $500.0
million of new properties per year, with a low of $100.0 million and a high of $1.0 billion. Our ability to continue to grow requires us to
identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria and depends on general market and economic conditions.

Changes in the volume of real estate transactions, the availability of acquisition financing, capitalization rates, interest rates,
competition, or other factors may negatively impact our acquisition opportunities in 2023 and beyond. If we are unable to achieve growth
through acquisitions at a rate that is comparable to our historical results, it could materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore, our
acquisition volume within each year has not always been consistent on a quarterly basis, nor can we guarantee it will be consistent in the
future. As a result, our acquisition results that we report on a quarterly basis may not meet investors’ expectations and could negatively
impact the value of our Common Stock.

We may not achieve the total returns we expect from our future acquisitions, which could materially and adversely affect us.

As we pursue our growth strategy, we may encounter increasingly difficult market conditions that place downward pressure on the
total returns we can achieve on our investments. Accordingly, future acquisitions may have lower yield characteristics than past and present
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opportunities. To the extent that our future growth is achieved through acquisitions that yield lower returns, it could materially and adversely
affect us. In addition, if we fund future acquisitions with equity issuances, the dilutive impact could outweigh the benefits of acquisitions
that achieve lower returns, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We may be unable to sell a property at the time we desire on favorable terms or at all, which could limit our ability to access capital
through dispositions and could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on
factors beyond our control, including competition from other sellers, increases in market capitalization rates and the availability of attractive
financing for potential buyers of our properties, and we cannot predict the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that
will exist at any particular time in the future. As a result of the uncertainty of market conditions, we cannot provide any assurance that we
will be able to sell properties at a profit, or at all. In addition, and subject to certain safe harbor provisions, the Code generally imposes a
100% tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the sale or disposition of property other than a foreclosure property, if the property is held
primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, rather than for investment, which may cause us to forego or defer sales
of properties that otherwise would be attractive from a pre-tax perspective or require us to conduct such sales through our taxable REIT
subsidiary (“TRS”), which would be subject to U.S. federal and state income taxation. Accordingly, our ability to access capital through
dispositions of properties may be limited, which could limit our ability to fund future capital needs.

We may not be able to obtain acquisition financing or obtain other capital from third-party sources on favorable terms or at all, which
could materially and adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required under the Code, among other things, to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In addition, we will be
subject to income tax at the corporate rate to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gain. Because of these distribution requirements, we may not be able
to fund future capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, or repay debt obligations from operating cash flow.
Consequently, we expect to rely, in part, on third-party sources to fund our capital needs. We may not be able to obtain the financing on
favorable terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital from the equity and/or debt markets depends, in part, on:

general market conditions;

the market’s perception of our growth potential;

our current debt levels;

our current and expected future earnings;

the performance of our portfolio;

our cash flow and cash distributions;

external valuations by credit ratings agencies and analysts; and

the market price per share of our Common Stock.

If we cannot obtain capital from third-party sources, we may not be able to acquire properties when strategic opportunities exist, meet
the capital and operating needs of our existing properties, or satisfy our debt service obligations, which could materially and adversely affectff
us.

An increase in market interest rates could increase our interest costs on existing and future debt and could adversely affect our stock
price, and a decrease in mare kerr t interest rates could lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate, which could adversely
affect our results of operations.

If interest rates continue to increase, so could our interest costs for any new debt and our existing variable-rate debt obligations.
Absent a simultaneous increase in acquisition yields, this increased cost could make the financing of any acquisition more expensive and
lower our current and future period earnings. Rising interest rates could limit our ability to refinance existing debt when it matures or cause
us to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing. See “Risks Related to Debt Financing” for additional information. In addition, an increase
in interest rates could decrease the access current and prospective tenants have to credit, thereby decreasing the amount they are willing to
pay to lease our assets and consequently limiting our ability, if necessary, to reposition our portfolio promptly in response to changes in
economic or other conditions. Furthermore, the distribution yield on our Common Stock will influence the price of such Common Stock.
Thus, an increase in market interest rates may lead prospective purchasers of our Common Stock to expect a higher distribution yield, which
could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock. See “Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock” for more
information. In addition, decreases in interest rates may lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate due to a reduction
in desirable alternative income-producing investments. Increased competition for the acquisition of real estate may lead to a decrease in the
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yields on real estate we have targeted for acquisition. In such circumstances, if we are not able to offset the decrease in yields by obtaining
lower interest costs on our borrowings, our results of operations will be adversely affected.

Security breaches and other technology disruptions could compromise our information systems and expose us to liability, which could
materially and adversely affect us.

Information security risks generally have increased in recent years due to the increased technological sophistication and activities of
perpetrators of cyber-attacks. Our business involves the storage and transmission of numerous classes of sensitive and confidential
information and intellectual property, including tenants’ information, private information about our stockholders and our employees, and
financial and strategic information about us. In addition to our internal information systems, we also rely on third-party service providers
that may have access to such information in connection with providing necessary information technology and security and other business
services to us. We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions, malware, computer viruses,
attachments to e-mails, persons inside our organization or persons with access to systems inside our organization, and other significant
disruptions of our IT networks and related systems. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-attack or cyber-
intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity, and
sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. If we fail to assess and identify cybersecurity risks
associated with our operations, we may become increasingly vulnerable to such risks. Additionally, the measures we have implemented to
prevent security breaches and cyber incidents may not be effective. The theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of sensitive or
confidential information or intellectual property, or interference with or disruptions of our IT networks and related systems or the technology
systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, brand damage, violation of privacy laws,
loss of tenants, potential liability, and competitive disadvantage. The costs related to cyber-attacks or other security threats or disruptions
may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. Laws and regulations governing data privacy are constantly evolving. Many of
these laws and regulations, including the California Consumer Protection Act, contain detailed requirements regarding collecting and
processing personal information, restrict the use and storage of such information, and govern the effectiveness of consumer consent. Any
of the above risks could materially and adversely affect us.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth and any failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

We have grown rapidly and our growth strategy depends significantly on continued growth through acquisitions. Our future operating
results will depend on our ability to effectively manage this growth. To accomplish this, we will need to:

invest in enhanced operational systems that can scale as our portfolio grows in size;

attract, integrate, and retain operations personnel as our Company grows in complexity; and

identify and supervise a number of suitable third-parties to provide services to us.

We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to effectively manage our growth, which could materially and adversely affect
us.

As we continue to acquire properties pursuant to our growth strategy, our portfolio may become less diversified, which could materially
and adversely affect us.

In pursuing our growth strategy, wemay acquire properties that cause our portfolio to become less diversified. If our portfolio becomes
less diverse, our business may become subject to greater risk, including tenant bankruptcies, adverse industry trends, and economic
downturns in a particular geographic area. As a result, if any such risks of a less diversified portfolio are realized, we could be materially
and adversely affected.

We face significant competition for acquiring properties from both publicly traded REITs and private investors that have greater
resources than we do, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We face significant competition from other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including publicly traded and
privately held REITs, private and institutional real estate investors, sovereign wealth funds, banks, insurance companies, investment banking
firms, lenders, specialty finance companies, and other entities. Some of our competitors are larger and may have considerably greater
financial, technical, leasing, underwriting, marketing, and other resources than we do. Some competitors may have a lower cost of capital
and access to funding sources that may not be available to us. In addition, other competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different
risk assessments and may not be subject to the same operating constraints, including maintaining REIT status. This competition may result
in fewer acquisitions, higher prices, lower yields, less desirable property types, and acceptance of greater risk. As a result, we cannot provide
any assurance that we will be able to successfully execute our growth strategy. Any failure to grow through acquisitions as a result of the
significant competition we face could materially and adversely affect us.



25

We face significant competition for tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us, including our occupancy, rental rates,WW
results of operations, and business.

We compete with numerous developers, owners, and operators of properties, many of which own properties similar to ours in the
same markets in which our properties are located. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates or below the
rental rates we currently charge our tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants or we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates or
to offer more substantial rent abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights, or below-market renewal options to retain tenants
when our leases expire. Competition for tenants could decrease or prevent increases of the occupancy and rental rates of our properties,
which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our performance may be negatively impacted by our recently announcedmanagement transitions, and wemay not be able to successfully
manage the transition process.

In January 2023, we announced that Christopher J. Czarnecki will resign from his roles as the President and Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”) of the Company and from the Board of Directors effective February 28, 2023. Our Board of Directors has named the Company’s
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”), John Moragne, to succeed Mr. Czarnecki as CEO of the Company and
intends to appoint Mr. Moragne as a director to replace Mr. Czarnecki upon his departure. In light of the CEO transition, our Board of
Directors approved a series of management team promotions, including: (1) the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”), Ryan Albano, being named as President and COO of the Company; and (2) the Company’s Senior Vice President, Capital
Markets & Credit Risk, Kevin M. Fennell, being named to succeed Mr. Albano as the Executive Vice President and CFO of the Company,
with each promotion to be effective on February 28, 2023.

Although Mr. Czarnecki has entered into a Chief Executive Officer Transition Agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Czarnecki has
agreed to assist in the transition of his role and provide advisory services to the Company through January 31, 2024, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfully manage this transition. If we do not successfully manage this transition process, it could be
viewed negatively by our customers, employees or investors and could have a negative impact on our performance.

The departure of any of our key personnel with long-standing business relationships could materially and adversely affect us.

Our success and our ability to manage anticipated future growth depend, in large part, upon the efforts of our key personnel.

The majority of our senior management team has worked together and collectively managed our business, operations, and portfolio
since 2015 and has a strong investment track record. Many of our other key executive personnel, particularly our senior management team,
also have extensive experience and strong reputations in the real estate industry and have been instrumental in setting our strategic direction,
operating our business, identifying, recruiting, and training key personnel, and arranging necessary financing. The departure of any member
of our senior management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business, diminish
our investment opportunities, and weaken our relationships with lenders, business partners, existing and prospective tenants, and industry
personnel, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio is concentrated itt n certain states, and any adverse developments and economic downturns in tii hese geographic marketstt
could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 34.6% of our ABR came from properties in our top five states: Texas (9.7%), Michigan
(8.4%), Illinois (6.2%), Wisconsin (5.4%), and California (4.8%). These geographic concentrations could adversely affect our operating
performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the states or markets within which we have a concentration of properties. We
can provide no assurance that any of our markets will grow, will not experience adverse developments, or that underlying real estate
fundamentals will be favorable to owners and operators of industrial, healthcare, restaurant, office, and retail properties. A downturn in the
economy in the states or regions in which we have a concentration of properties, or markets within such states or regions, or a slowdown in
the demand for our tenants’ businesses caused by adverse economic, regulatory, or other conditions, could adversely affect our tenants
operating businesses in those states and impair their ability to pay rent to us, which, in turn could materially and adversely affect us.

Our portfolio is also concentrated in certain property types and any adverse developments relating to one or more of these property
types could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 51.5% of our ABR came from industrial properties, 17.1% from healthcare properties,
13.5% from restaurant properties, 11.5% from retail properties, and 6.5% from office properties. Any adverse developments in one or more
of these property types could materially and adversely affect us. For example, the market for restaurant, retail, and office properties has
been, and could continue to be, adversely affected by weakness in the national, regional, and local economies, the adverse financial condition
of some large restaurant and retail companies, the ongoing consolidation in the restaurant and retail industries, the widespread practice of
telecommuting, the adverse changes in consumer spending and consumer preferences for particular goods, services, or store-based retailing,
and the excess amount of restaurant, retail and office space in a number of markets. Accordingly, decreases in the demand for restaurant,
retail, and/or office properties may have a greater adverse effect on us than if we had fewer investments in these industries. It also may be
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difficult and expensive to re-tenant a property designed for a particular property type with a new tenant that operates in an industry requiring
a different property type. As a result, any adverse developments in one or more of our concentrated property types could materially and
adversely affect us.

If one or more of our top 10 tenants, which together represented approximately 19.0% of our ABR as of December 31, 2022, suffers a
downturn in their business, it could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2022, our top 10 tenants together represented 19.0% of our ABR. Our largest tenant is Roskam Baking Company,
which leases seven properties that in the aggregate represent approximately 4.0% of our ABR. Our top 10 tenants may experience a material
business downturn weakening their financial position resulting in their failure to make timely rent payments and/or default under their
leases. As a result, our revenue and cash flow could be materially and adversely affected.

We may be unable to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at all, which, in
each case, could materially and adversely affect us.

Our results of operations depend on our ability to continue to successfully lease our properties, including renewing expiring leases,
re-leasing properties as leases expire, leasing vacant space, optimizing our tenant mix, or leasing properties on more economically favorable
terms. As of December 31, 2022, six leases representing approximately 1.2% of our ABR will expire during 2023. Current tenants may
decline, or may not have the financial resources available, to renew current leases and we cannot assure you that leases that are renewed
will have terms that are as economically favorable to us as the expiring lease terms. If tenants do not renew the leases as they expire, we
cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to find new tenants or that our properties will be re-leased at rental rates equal to or above
the current average rental rates or that substantial rent abatements, leasing commissions, tenant improvement allowances, early termination
rights, or below-market renewal options will not be required to attract new tenants. We may experience significant costs in connection with
re-leasing a significant number of our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us. As of December 31, 2022, three of our
properties, representing approximately 0.6% of our portfolio, were unoccupied. We may experience difficulties in leasing this vacant space
on favorable terms or at all. Any failure to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant space could materially and
adversely affect us.

Property vacancies could result in significant capital expenditures and illiquidity, particularly for specialty properties that are suitable
for only one use.

The loss of a tenant, either through lease expiration or tenant bankruptcy or insolvency, may require us to spend significant amounts
of capital to renovate the property before it is suitable for a new tenant and cause us to incur significant costs. In particular, our specialty
properties are designed for a particular type of tenant or tenant use. If tenants of specialty properties do not renew or default on their leases,
we may not be able to re-lease properties without substantial capital improvements, which may require significant cost and time to complete.
Alternatively, we may not be able to re-lease or sell the property without such improvements or may be required to reduce the rent or selling
price significantly. Recently, supply chain disruptions in the construction and building industry have resulted in increased costs and
significant delays for building renovation and maintenance projects. This potential illiquidity may limit our ability to modify quickly our
portfolio in response to changes in economic or other conditions, including tenant demand. Such occurrences could materially and adversely
affect us.

Wemay experience a higher number of tenant defaults because we lease most of our properties to tenants who do not have an investment
grade credit rating.

We depend on the ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to pay rent to us due under our lease for substantially all of our
revenue. As of December 31, 2022, only approximately 15.4% of our ABR came from tenants who had an investment grade credit rating.
A substantial majority of our properties are leased to unrated tenants. Our investments in properties leased to such tenants may have a
greater risk of default than investments in properties leased exclusively to investment grade tenants. The ability of an unrated tenant to meet
its rent and other obligations under its lease with us may be subject to greater risk than our tenants that have an investment grade rating.
When we invest in properties where the tenant does not have a publicly available credit rating, we use certain credit-assessment tools as
well as our own estimates of the tenant’s credit rating which includes reviewing the tenant’s financial information (e.g., financial ratios, net
worth, revenue, cash flows, leverage and liquidity, if applicable). Our methods, however, may not adequately assess the risk of an investment
and, if our assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, we may be subject to defaults and investors may view our cash flows as less
stable. If one or more of our unrated tenants defaults, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’s credit risk may be faulty, deficient, or otherwise
fail to accurately refe lff ell ct the risk of our investmtt ent, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’s credit risk may not be sufficient to identify
tenant problems in a timely manner or at all. To evaluate tenant credit risk, we utilize a third-party model, S&P Capital IQ, to help us
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determine a tenant’s implied credit rating when a public rating is not available. However, a rating from S&P Capital IQ is not the same as
a published credit rating and lacks extensive company participation that is typically involved when a rating agency publishes a rating.
Therefore, such rating may not be as indicative of creditworthiness as a rating published by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization. Tenant credit ratings, public or implied, however, are only one component of how we assess the risk of tenant insolvency. We
also use our own internal estimate of the likelihood of an insolvency or default, based on the regularly monitored performance of our
properties, our assessment of each tenant’s financial health, including profitability, liquidity, indebtedness, and leverage profile, and our
assessment of the health and performance of the tenant’s particular industry. If our assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, we
may experience one or more tenant defaults, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Any failure of one or more tenants to provide accurate or complete financial information could prevent us from identifying tenant
problems that could materially and adversely affect us.

We rely on information from our tenants to determine a potential tenant’s credit risk as well as for on-going risk management. As of
December 31, 2022, approximately 85.8% of our ABR is received from tenants that are required to provide us with specified financial
information on a periodic basis. An additional 8.5% of our ABR is received from tenants who are not required to provide us with specified
financial information under the terms of our lease, but whose financial statements are available publicly, either through SEC filings or
otherwise. Ratings or conclusions derived from both S&P Capital IQ and our internal teams rely on such information provided to us by our
tenants and prospective tenants without independent verification on our part, and we must assume the appropriateness of estimates and
judgments that were made by the party preparing the financial information. A tenant’s failure to provide appropriate information may
interfere with our ability to accurately evaluate a potential tenant’s credit risk or determine an existing tenant’s default risk, the occurrence
of either could materially and adversely affect us.

We could face potential material adverse effects from the bankruptcies or insolvencies of our tenants.

If a tenant, or the guarantor of a lease of a tenant, commences, or has commenced against it, any legal or equitable proceeding under
any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or other debtor’s relief statute or law (collectively, a “bankruptcy proceeding”), we may be unable
to collect all sums due to us under that tenant’s lease or be forced to “take back” a property as a result of a default or a rejection of a lease
by a tenant in a bankruptcy proceeding. In addition, an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy or speculation in the press or investment
community about an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy may also negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the market
price or trading volume of shares of our Common Stock. If a tenant becomes bankrupt or insolvent, federal law may prohibit us from
evicting such tenant based solely upon such bankruptcy or insolvency. In addition, a bankrupt or insolvent tenant may be authorized to
reject and terminate its lease or leases with us. Any claims against such bankrupt tenant for unpaid future rent would be subject to statutory
limitations that would likely result in our receipt of rental revenues that are substantially less than the contractually specified rent we are
owed under the lease or leases. Any or all of the lease obligations of our tenants, or any guarantor of our tenants, could be subject to a
bankruptcy proceeding which may bar our efforts to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from these entities or their properties, unless we are able
to obtain an enabling order from the bankruptcy court. If our lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we may only have a general
unsecured claim against the tenant and may not be entitled to any further payments under the lease. We may also be unable to re-lease a
terminated or rejected space or to re-lease it on comparable or more favorable terms. A bankruptcy proceeding could hinder or delay our
efforts to collect past due balances and ultimately preclude collection of these sums, resulting in a decrease or cessation of rental payments,
which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our properties may be subject to impairment charges.

We routinely evaluate our real estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of impairment
indicators is based on factors such as market conditions and tenant performance. For example, the early termination of, or default under, a
lease by a tenant may lead to an impairment charge. Since our investment focus is on properties net leased to a single tenant, the financial
failure of, or other default by, a single tenant under its lease(s) may result in a significant impairment loss. If we determine that an impairment
has occurred, we would be required to make a downward adjustment to the net carrying value of the property, which could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment charge is recorded. Management has recorded impairment
charges related to certain properties in each of the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, and may record future impairments
based on actual results and changes in circumstances. Negative developments in the real estate market may cause management to reevaluate
the business and macro-economic assumptions used in its impairment analysis. Changes in management’s assumptions based on actual
results may have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. See “Critical Accounting Polices – Long-Lived Assetff
Impairment” in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for a discussion of real
estate impairment charges.

Changes in accounting standards may materially and adversely affect us.

From time to time the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), and the SEC, which create and interpret appropriate
accounting standards, may change the financial accounting and reporting standards or their interpretation and application of these standards
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that will govern the preparation of our financial statements. These changes could materially and adversely affect our reported financial
condition and results of operations. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, resulting in
restating prior period financial statements. In addition, any changes may undermine our ability to prepare timely and accurate financial
statements, which could result in a lack of investor confidence and could materially and adversely affect us. Similarly, these changes could
materially and adversely affect our tenants’ reported financial condition or results of operations and affect their preferences regarding leasing
real estate as well as their ability to provide accurate or complete financial information to us.

We may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution transactions, which could result in stockhcc older
dilution and limit our ability to sell such assets.

In the future we may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution transactions in exchange for OP
Units, which may result in stockholder dilution. This acquisition structure may have the effect of, among other things, reducing the amount
of tax depreciation we could deduct over the tax life of the acquired properties, and may require that we agree to protect the contributors’
ability to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the acquired properties and/or the allocation of
debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. As of December 31, 2022, we were party to tax protection agreements covering three
properties. Based on values as of December 31, 2022, taxable sales of the applicable properties would trigger liability under the agreements
of approximately $10.4 million. In addition, in connection with the Internalization, we entered into a tax protection agreement with Amy L.
Tait, the Company’s founder, and certain members of her family (the “Founding Owners’ Tax Protection Agreement”), which has a potential
liability of up to $10 million based on values as of December 31, 2022. These restrictions could limit our ability to sell certain assets or the
OP (or our interest in the OP) at a time, or on terms, that would be favorable absent such restrictions.

Certain provisions of our leases or loan agreements may be unenforceable, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our rights and obligations with respect to the leases at our properties, mortgage loans, or other loans are governed by written
agreements. A court could determine that one or more provisions of such agreements are unenforceable, such as a particular remedy, a
master lease covenant, a loan prepayment provision, or a provision governing our security interest in the underlying collateral of a borrower
or lessee. We could be adversely impacted if this were to happen with respect to an asset or group of assets.

We may become subject to litigation, which could materially and adversely affect us.

In the future we may become subject to litigation, including, but not limited to, claims relating to our operations, past and future
securities offerings, corporate transactions, and otherwise in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims may result in significant
defense costs and potentially significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. We generally intend to
vigorously defend ourselves. However, we cannot be certain of the ultimate outcomes of any claims that may arise in the future. Resolution
of these types of matters against us may result in our having to pay significant fines, judgments, or settlements, which, if uninsured, or if
the fines, judgments, and settlements exceed insured levels, could adversely impact our earnings and cash flows, thereby materially and
adversely affecting us. Certain litigation or the resolution of certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance
coverage, which could materially and adversely impact us, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured, and materially and
adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers.

A failure to maintain effective internal controls could materially and adversely affect us.

Effective internal contff rols over financial reporting, disclosures, and operations are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports
and public disclosures, effectively prevent fraud, and operate successfully. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports and public
disclosures or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed. Our internal controls over financial reporting and our
operating internal controls may not prevent or detect financial misstatements or loss of assets because of inherent limitations, including the
possibility of human error, management override of controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement accuracy, public disclosures, and safeguarding of assets. Any failure of these internal controls, including
any failure to implement required new or improved controls as a result of changes to our business or otherwise, or if we experience
difficulties in their implementation, could result in decreased investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports
and public disclosures, civil litigation, or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, and we could fail to meet our reporting
obligations, which could materially and adversely affect us.

A limited number of our leases may require us to pay property-related expenses that are not the obligations of our tenants, which couldtt
materially and adversely affect us.

Under the terms of substantially all of our leases, our tenants are responsible for the payment or reimbursement of property expenses
such as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and capital costs in addition to satisfying their rent obligations. Under the
provisions of a limited number of our existing leases and leases that we may enter into in the future, however, we may be required to pay
some or all of the expenses of the property, such as the costs of environmental liabilities, roof and structural repairs, real estate taxes,
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insurance, certain non-structural repairs, and maintenance. If our properties incur significant expenses that must be paid by us under the
terms of our leases, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected and the amount of cash available
to meet expenses and to make distributions to our stockholders and unitholders may be reduced.

As a property owner, we may be subject to environmental liabilities, which could be substantial.

There may be known or unknown environmental liabilities associated with properties we previously owned, currently own, or may
acquire in the future. Under various federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the environment, as a current or former owner
or operator of real property, we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from environmental matters, including the presence or
discharge of hazardous or toxic substances, waste, or petroleum products at, on, in, under or migrating from such property, including costs
to investigate or clean up such contamination and liability for personal injury, property damage, or harm to natural resources. Such laws
often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such contamination.
These costs and damages could be substantial. Certain uses of some properties may have a heightened risk of environmental liability because
of the hazardous materials used in performing services on those properties, such as industrial properties or auto parts and auto service
businesses using petroleum products, paint, machine solvents, and other hazardous materials. We typically undertake customary
environmental diligence prior to our acquisition of any property, including obtaining Phase I environmental site assessments. The Phase I
environmental site assessments are limited in scope and therefore may not reveal all environmental conditions affecting a property.
Therefore, there could be undiscovered environmental liabilities on the properties we own.

The known or potential presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to sell, lease, or improve the
property, or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, environmental laws may create liens on contaminated properties in favor
of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such contamination.Moreover, if contamination is discovered on our properties,
environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which they may be used or which businesses may be operated, and these
restrictions may require substantial expenditures.

Although we may obtain insurance for environmental liability for certain properties that are deemed to warrant coverage, our
insurance may be insufficient to address any particular environmental situation and we may be unable to continue to obtain insurance for
environmental matters, at a reasonable cost or at all, in the future. If our environmental liability insurance is inadequate, we may become
subject to material losses for environmental liabilities. Our ability to receive the benefits of any environmental liability insurance policy
will depend on the financial stability of our insurance company and the position it takes with respect to our insurance policies.

Although our leases generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local environmental
laws, ordinances, and regulations, and to indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from the tenants’ activities on the
property, we could nevertheless be subject to liability, as a current or previous owner of real estate, including strict liability, by virtue of
our ownership interest and may be required to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under, or in a property. Further, there
can be no assurance that our tenants, or the guarantor of a lease, could or would satisfy their indemnification obligations under their leases.

Some of our properties may contain, or may have contained, asbestos-containing building materials (“ACM”). Strict environmental,
health, and safety laws govern the presence, maintenance, and removal of ACM. These laws may impose fines and penalties on employers,
building owners, or operators for failure to comply with these laws. In addition, third parties may seek recovery from employers, owners,
or operators for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos. If we become subject to any of these penalties or other liabilities as a
result of ACM at one or more of our properties, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our ability to effectively monitor and respond to the rapid and ongoing developments and expectations regarding our environmental,
social, and governance (“ESG”) practices, may impose unexpected costs or result in reputational or other harm that could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

There are rapid and ongoing developments and changing expectations relating to ESG matters as governmental entities, investors,
employees, and other stakeholders have begun to focus increasingly on ESG practices, including those that relate to corporate governance,
environmental compliance, employee health and safety practices, human capital management, and workforce inclusion and diversity. For
example, many investment funds focus on positive ESG business practices and sustainability scores when making investments and may
consider a company’s ESG or sustainability scores as a factor in making an investment decision. In addition, investors, particularly
institutional investors, use these scores to benchmark companies against their peers and if a company is perceived as lagging, these investors
may engage with such company to improve ESG disclosure or performance and may also make voting decisions on this basis. With this
increased focus and demand, public reporting regarding ESG practices is becoming more broadly expected. If we are unable to adequately
recognize and effectively respond to such developments and governmental, societal, investor, and consumer expectations relating to our
ESG practices, we may miss corporate opportunities, become subject to additional scrutiny, incur unexpected and significant costs, or
experience damage to our reputation. If any of these events were to occur, there may be a material adverse effect on our business.
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Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our operating results are affected by economic and regulatory changes that impact the commercial real estate market in general.

Our core business is the ownership of commercial real estate that is net leased on a long-term basis to businesses in the industrial,
healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office sectors. Accordingly, our performance is subject to risks generally attributable to the ownership of
commercial real property, including:

changes in supply and demand for single-tenant space in the industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office sectors;

increased competition for real property investments targeted by our investment strategy;

changes in consumer trends and preferences that affect the demand for products and services offered by our tenants;

inability to lease or sell properties upon expiration or termination of existing leases and renewal of leases at lower rental rates;

the subjectivity of real estate valuations and changes in such valuations over time;

the potential risk of functional obsolescence of properties over time; and

competition from other properties.

The factors described above are out of our control, and we are unable to predict future changes in such factors. Any negative changes
in these factors may cause the value of our real estate to decline, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Global and U.S. financial markets and economic conditions may materially and adversely affect us and the ability of our tenants to
make rental payments to us pursuant to our leases.

A significant portion of our portfolio is leased to tenants operating businesses that directly or indirectly rely on discretionary consumer
spending. The success of most of these businesses depends on the willingness of consumers to use discretionary income to purchase their
products or services. Our results of operations are sensitive to changes in the overall economic conditions that impact our tenants’ financial
condition and leasing practices and a downturn in the economy could cause consumers to reduce their discretionary spending, which could
result in tenant bankruptcies or otherwise have an adverse impact on our tenants’ ability to successfully manage their businesses and pay usr
amounts due under our lease agreements, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. Accordingly, adverse economic conditions such as
high unemployment levels, an increase in interest rates, a decrease in available financing, high inflation, labor and workforce shortages,
supply chain issues, tax rates, and fuel and energy costs may have an impact on the results of operations and financial conditions of our
tenants. During periods of economic slowdown or recession, rising interest rates and declining demand for real estate may result in a general
decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults under existing leases. A lack of demand for rental space could adversely affect our
ability to maintain our current tenants and gain new tenants, which may affect our growth and results of operations. Accordingly, a decline
in economic conditions could materially and adversely affect us.

Inflation may materially and adversely affect us and our tenants.

Increased inflation could lead to interest rate increases that could have a negative impact on variable rate debt we currently have or
that we may incur in the future, including increases to interest rates on our borrowings set to reprice in the future. During times when
inflation is greater than the increases in rent provided by many of our leases, rent increases will not keep up with the rate of inflation.
Increased costs may have an adverse impact on our tenants if increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in revenue, which may
adversely affect the tenants’ ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely affect us. Inflation may also have
an adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ revenues and their ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn
could materially and adversely affect us.

Our real estate investments are illiquid.

Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to adjust our portfolio promptly in response to economic, financial,
investment, or other conditions may be limited. Return of capital and realization of gains, if any, from an investment generally will occur
upon disposition or refinancing of the underlying property. We may be unable to realize our investment objective by sale, other disposition,
or refinancing at attractive prices within any given period of time, or we may otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy. In particular,
these risks could arise from weakness in or even the lack of an established market for a property, changes in the financial condition or
prospects of prospective purchasers, changes in national or international economic conditions, and changes in laws, regulations, or fiscal
policies of the jurisdiction in which the property is located. Further, certain significant expenditures generally do not change in response to
economic or other conditions, such as (i) debt service, (ii) real estate taxes, and (iii) operating and maintenance costs. The inability to dispose
of a property at an acceptable price or at all, as well as the combination of variable revenue and relatively fixed expenditures may result,
under certain market conditions, in reduced earnings and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.
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We facWW e risii ks associatett d with climate change, which could materiallii y and adversely impact us.ll

As a result of climate change, our properties in certain markets could experience increases in storm intensity, flooding, drought,
wildfires, rising sea levels, and extreme temperatures. The potential physical impacts of climate change on our properties are uncertain and
would be particular to the geographic circumstances in areas in which we own property. Over time, these conditions could result in volatile
or decreased demand for certain of our properties or, in extreme cases, the inability of our tenants to operate the properties at all. Climate
change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of insurance (or making insurance unavailable), increasing the
cost of energy at our properties, or requiring us to spend funds to repair and protect our properties against such risks. In addition, we also
face business trend-related climate risks as investors, employees and other stakeholders are increasingly taking into account ESG factors,
including climate risks. Our reputation and investor relationships could be damaged as a result of our involvement with certain industries
or assets associated with activities perceived to be causing or exacerbating climate change, as well as any decisions we make to continue to
conduct or change our activities in response to considerations relating to climate change. Moreover, compliance with new federal and state-
level laws or regulations related to climate change, including climate change disclosures, compliance with “green” building codes or other
laws or regulations relating to reduction of carbon footprints and/or greenhouse gas emissions, may require us to make significant cash
expenditures both at the property and corporate level. Furthermore, our tenants’ increased costs associated with compliance with such laws
or regulations could negatively impact our tenants’ operating results and ability to pay rent. Any of these occurrences could materially and
adversely impact us.

Natural disasters, pandemics or epidemics, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events could materially
and adversely impact us.

Natural disasters, pandemics or epidemics, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events (e.g., hurricanes,
floods, earthquakes, or other types of natural disasters or wars or other acts of violence) could cause damage to our properties, materially
interrupt our business operations (or those of our tenants), cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease, or result in increased
volatility in the U.S. and worldwide financial markets and economy. Such occurrences also could result in or prolong an economic recession
in the United States. We own properties in regions that have historically been impacted by natural disasters and it is probable such regions
will continue to be impacted by such events. If a disaster occurs, we could suffer a complete loss of capital invested in, and any profits
expected from, the affected properties. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely affect us.

Insurance on our properties may not adequately cover all losses and uninsured losses could materially and adversely affeee ct us.

Our tenants are generally required to maintain comprehensive insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us pursuant to
our net leases. Pursuant to such leases, our tenants are required to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage on the property
leased by the tenant) as additional insureds on their liability policies and loss payee (or mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their
property policies. Additionally, most tenants are required to maintain casualty coverage and most carry limits at 100% of replacement cost.
Depending on the location of the property, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by earthquakes and floods, may be coveredaa
by insurance policies that are held by our tenant with limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments that a tenant may not be able to
meet. In addition, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by wind/hail, hurricanes, terrorism, or acts of war, may be uninsurable
or not economically insurable. In the event there is damage to our properties that is not covered by insurance and such properties are subject
to recourse indebtedness, we will continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties are irreparably damaged. In addition, if
uninsured damages to a property occur or a loss exceeds policy limits and we do not have adequate cash to fund repairs, we may be forced
to sell the property at a loss or to borrow capital to fund the repairs.

Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other factors, including terrorism or acts of
war, may make any insurance proceeds we receive insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. In that situation,
the insurance proceeds received may not be adequate to restore our economic position with respect to the affected real property. Furthermore,
in the event we experience a substantial or comprehensive loss of one of our properties, we may not be able to rebuild such property to its
existing specifications without significant capital expenditures which may exceed any amounts received pursuant to insurance policies, as
reconstruction or improvement of such a property would likely require significant upgrades to meet zoning and building code requirements.
The loss of our capital investment in or anticipated future returns from our properties due to material uninsured losses could materially and
adversely affect us.

Our costs of compliance with laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to make unanticipated expenditures that could reduce
the investment return of our stockholders.

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations.
We cannot predict what laws or regulations will be enacted in the future, how future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted,
or how future laws or regulations will affect us or our properties. For example, we may be required to make substantial capital expenditures
to comply with applicable fire and safety regulations, building codes, environmental regulations, and other land use regulations, and may
be required to obtain approvals from various authorities with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when
undertaking improvements of any of our existing properties. Additionally, pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), all
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public accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Compliance with ADA requirements
could require property-level expenditures and non-compliance could result in imposition of fines by the U.S. government or an award of
damages to private litigants, or both.

In most instances, our tenants are obligated to comply with these types of laws and regulations pursuant to our leases and cover costs
associated with compliance. However, if required changes involve greater expenditures than anticipated or if the changes must be made on
a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of our tenants to cover such costs could be adversely affected and we may be required
to expend our own funds. Further, there can be no assurance that existing laws and regulations will not adversely affect us or the timing or
cost of any future acquisitions or improvements, or that additional regulations will not be adopted that increase such delays or result in
additional costs. Accordingly, compliance with new laws or regulations, or stricter interpretation of existing laws, may require us or our
tenants to incur significant expenditures, impose significant liability, restrict or prohibit business activities, and could cause a material
adverse effect on us.

Risks Related to Debt Financing

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately $2.0 billion principal balance of indebtedness outstanding, which may expose us to the
risk of default under our debt obligations.

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately $2.0 billion principal balance of indebtedness outstanding. We have incurred, and
plan to incur in the future, financing through borrowings under term loans, senior notes, our Revolving Credit Facility, and mortgage loans
secured by some or all of our properties. In some cases, the mortgage loans we incur are guaranteed by us, the OP, or both. We may also
borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the requirement that we distribute to stockholders as dividends at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable
income (computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to
assure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Payments of principal and interest on borrowings
may leave us with insufficient cash resources to meet our cash needs or make the distributions to our common stockholders currently
contemplated or necessary to qualify as a REIT. Our level of debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements could have
significant adverse consequences, including the following:

our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments;

cash interest expense and financial covenants relating to our indebtedness, including a covenant in our Revolving Credit Facility
that restricts us from paying distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our REIT
status, may limit or eliminate our ability to make distributions to our common stockholders;

we may be forced to dispose of properties, possibly on unfavorable terms or in violation of certain covenants to which we may
be subject;

we may default on our obligations and the lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our properties or our interests in the entities
that own the properties that secure their loans and receive an assignment of rents and leases;

we may be restricted from accessing some of our excess cash flow after debt service if certain of our tenants fail to meet certain
financial performance metric thresholds; and

our default under any loan with cross default provisions could result in a default on other indebtedness.

The occurrence of any of these events could materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore, foreclosures could create taxable income
without accompanying cash proceeds, which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements imposed by the Code.

Disruptions in the financial markets and deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to obtain debt financing
on commercially reasonable terms and adversely impact our ability to implement our investment strategy and achieve our investment
objectives.

The United States and global financial markets have experienced periods of significant volatility and disruption in the past, and are
expected to continue to do so in the future. Recent disruptions in the capital markets have resulted in constrained equity and debt capital
available for investment in the real estate market and increases in capitalization rates. Future events or sustained negative conditions may
also reduce the availability of financing, make financing terms less attractive, as well as negatively impact the value of our investments in
properties. If sufficient sources of external financing are not available to us on cost effective terms, we could be forced to limit our planned
business activities or take other actions to fund our business activities and repayment of debt such as selling assets or reducing our cash
distributions. Uncertainty in the credit markets could also negatively impact our ability to make acquisitions, make it more difficult or
impossible for us to sell properties, or adversely affect the price we receive for properties that we do sell, as prospective buyers may
experience increased costs of debt financing or difficulties in obtaining debt financing.
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Market conditions could adversely affect our ability to refinance existing indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all, which couldMM
materially and adversely affect us.

We use external financing to refinance indebtedness as it matures and to partially fund our acquisitions. Credit markets may experience
significant price volatility, displacement, and liquidity disruptions, including the bankruptcy, insolvency, or restructurir ng of certain financial
institutions. As a result, we may be unable to fully refinance maturing indebtedness with new indebtedness, which could materially and
adversely affect us. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon
refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that refinanced indebtedness would increase. Higher interest rates on newly incurred debt
may negatively impact us as well. If interest rates increase, our interest costs and overall costs of capital will increase, which could materially
and adversely affect us and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially and adversely affect us.

To reduce our exposure to variable-rate debt, we enter into interest rate swap agreements to fix the rate of interest as a hedge against
interest rate fluctuations on floating-rate debt. These arrangements involve risks and may not be effective in reducing our exposure to
interest rate changes. In addition, the counterparties to any hedging arrangements we enter into may not honor their obligations. Failure to
hedge effectively against changes in interest rates relating to the interest expense of our future floating-rate borrowings may materially and
adversely affect us.

Our Revolving Credit Facility and term loan agreements contain various covenants which, if not complied with, could accelerate our
repayment obligations, thereby materially and adversely affecting us.

We are subject to various financial and operational covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to the agreements we
have entered into governing our Revolving Credit Facility, term loans, and senior notes. These covenants require us to, among other things,
maintain certain financial ratios, including leverage, fixed charge coverage, and debt service coverage, among others. As of December 31,
2022, we believe we were in compthrliance with all of our loan covenants. Our continued compliance with these covenants depends on
many factors and could be impacted by current or future economic conditions, and thus there are no assurances that we will continue to
comply with these covenants. Failure to comply with these covenants would result in a default which, if we were unable to cure or obtain a
waiver from the lenders, could accelerate our repayment obligations and thereby have a material and adverse impact on us.

Further, these covenants, as well as any additional covenants to which we may be subject in the future because of additional
borrowings, could cause us to forego investment opportunities, reduce or eliminate distributions to our common stockholders, or obtain
financing that is more expensive than financing we could obtain if we were not subject to the covenants. Additionally, these restrictions
may adversely affect our operating and financial flexibility and may limit our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive
environment, all of which may materially and adversely affect us.

Failure to maintain our current credit ratings could materially and adversely affect our cost of capital, liquidity, and access to capital
markets.

The spread we pay over applicable reference rates for our unsecured credit facilities is determined based on our current credit ratings
of ‘Baa2’ and ‘BBB’ from Moody’s and S&P, respectively. The ratings are based on a number of factors, including an assessment of our
financial strength, portfolio size and diversification, credit and operating metrics, and sustainability of cash flow and earnings. If we are
unable to maintain our current credit ratings it could adversely affect our cost of capital, liquidity, and access to capital markets. Factors
that could negatively impact our credit ratings include, but are not limited to: a significant increase in our leverage on a sustained basis, a
significant increase in the proportion of secured debt levels, a significant decline in our unencumbered asset base, and a significant decline
in our portfolio diversification.

We may be adversely affected by changes in LIBOR or CDOR reporting practices, the methods by which LIBOR or CDOR are
determined, or the use of alternative reference rates.

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately $400 million of debt outstanding for which the interest rate was tied to London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Further, pursuant to alternative currency clauses in our unsecured revolving credit agreement, we had
approximately C$100 million of debt outstanding for which the interest rate was tied to the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“CDOR”) as of
December 31, 2022. Additionally, as of December 31, 2022, we had entered into interest rate swaps totaling $640 million and C$60 million
that fix the LIBOR and CDOR components of our debt, respectively, through various tenors.

On July 27, 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop compelling
banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after June 30, 2023. The Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”) has
identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as its preferred alternative rate for USD LIBOR in derivatives and other financial
contracts. Our variable-interest debt instruments, including our unsecured revolving credit and term loan agreements, provide for alternate
interest rate calculations using SOFR if LIBOR is no longer widely available or should the alternative interest rate prove more favorable.
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In December 2021, the Canadian Alternative Reference Rate Working Group (“CARR”) which was established by the Bank of
Canada’s Canadian Fixed-Income Forum to coordinate Canadian interest rate reform, recommended that Refinitiv Benchmark Services
(UK) Limited (“Refinitiv”) cease its calculation and publication of CDOR after June 30, 2024. CARR also recommended that by June 30,
2023, all new securities use the Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average (“CORRA”), subject to certain limited exceptions. On May 16,
2022, Refinitiv announced the cessation of the calculation and publication of CDOR after June 28, 2024. On January 11, 2023, CARR
announced development of a new Term CORRA benchmark that is expected to be available for use by the third quarter of 2023.

We are monitoring and evaluating the related risks which arise in connection with transitioning our Canadian dollar-denominated
debt to a new alternative rate, including any resulting value transfer that may occur. There can be no assurances as to what alternative
interest rates may be and whether such interest rates will be more or less favorable than LIBOR or CDOR and any other unforeseen impacts
of the potential discontinuation of LIBOR or CDOR. Any changes in LIBOR or CDOR reporting practices, the methods by which LIBOR
or CDOR are determined, or the use of alternative reference rates may adversely affect us.

We may incur mortgage debt on a particular property, which may subject us to certain risks, and the occurrence of any such risk could
materially and adversely affect us.

We may incur mortgage debt on a particular property, especially if we believe the property’s projected cash flow is sufficient to
service the mortgage debt. In addition, incurring mortgage debt may increase the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a
property may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan that is in default. For U.S.
federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to
the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax
basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure but would not receive any of the proceeds. We may give full or
partial guarantees to lenders to the OP or its affiliates. If we give a guaranty on behalf of the OP, we will be responsible to the lender for
satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by the OP. If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, there is a risk
that more than one of our real properties may be affected by a default. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, we could
be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Our Charter contains provisions, including ownership and transfer restrictions, that may delay, discourage, or prevent a takeover or
change of control transaction that could otherwise result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Our Charter contains various provisions that are intended to facilitate our qualification as a REIT. For example, our Charter restricts
the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% of the value of our then outstanding shares of capital stock
and no more than 9.8% of the value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our then outstanding Common Stock unless
exempted by our board of directors. This restriction may discourage a change of control of us and may deter individuals or entities from
making tender offers for shares of our Common Stock on terms that might be financially attractive to stockholders or which may cause a
change in our management. In addition to deterring potential change of control transactions that may be favorable to our stockholders, these
provisions may also decrease our stockholders’ ability to sell their shares of our Common Stock. As a result, these charter provisions may
negatively impact the market price of our Common Stock.

We may issue preferred stock or separate classes or series of Common Stock, which could adversely affect the holders of our Common
Stock.

Our Charter authorizes us to issue up to 520,000,000 shares of stock, and our board of directors, without any action by our
stockholders, may amend our Charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of
any class or series of stock that we have authority to issue. Holders of shares of our Common Stock do not have preemptive rights to acquire
any shares issued by us in the future.

In addition, our board of directors may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our Common Stock or preferred stock and establish
the preferences, rights, and powers of any such stock. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of preferred stock or
separate classes or series of Common Stock with terms and conditions that could have priority, with respect to distributions and amounts
payable upon our liquidation, over the rights of our Common Stock. The issuance of shares of such preferred or separate classes or series
of Common Stock could dilute the value of an investment in shares of our Common Stock. The issuance of shares of preferred stock or a
separate class or series of Common Stock could provide the holders thereof with specified dividend payments and payments upon liquidation
prior or senior to those of the Common Stock, and could also have the effect of delaying, discouraging, or preventing a change in control
of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide
a premium price for holders of our Common Stock.
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Termination of the Employment Agreements with certain members of our senior management team could be costly.TT

The Employment Agreements with certain members of our senior management team provide that if their employment with us
terminates under certain circumstances (including in connection with a change in control of our Company), we may be required to pay them
significant amounts of severance compensation, thereby making it costly to terminate their employment.

Our board of directors may change our investment and financing policies without stockholder approval, which could materially and
adversely alter the nature of an investment in us.

The methods of implementing our investment policies and strategy may vary as new real estate development trends emerge, new
investment techniques are developed, and market conditions evolve. Our investment and financing policies are exclusively determined by
our board of directors and senior management team. Accordingly, our stockholders do not control these policies. Further, our organizational
documents do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness, funded or otherwise, that we may incur. Although we are not required to
maintain a particular leverage ratio, we generally intend to maintain on a sustained basis a level of Net Debt that is generally less than 6.0x
our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre. However, from time to time, our ratio of Net Debt to our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may exceed
6.0x. Our board of directors may alter or eliminate our current policy on borrowing at any time without stockholder approval. If this policy
changed, we could become more highly leveraged, which could result in an increase in our debt service costs and obligations. Higher
leverage also increases the risk of default on our obligations. In addition, a change in our investment policies, including the manner in which
we allocate our resources across our portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to invest, may increase our exposure to interest rate
risk, real estate market fluctuations, and liquidity risk. Changes to our policies with regard to the foregoing could materially and adversely
affect us.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited.

Maryland law provides that a director of a Maryland corporation will not have any liability in that capacity if he or she performs his
or her duties in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct. Our Charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and
our stockholders for money damages to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. Therefore, our directors and officers are subject
to monetary liability resulting only from:

actual rt eceipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property, or services; or

active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was established by a final judgment as being material to the cause
of action adjudicated.

As a result, we and our stockholders have rights against our directors and officers that are more limited than might otherwise exist.
Accordingly, in the event that actions taken by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our Company, your and our ability
to recover damages from such director or officer will be limited. Our Charter and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws also require us to
indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and our officers for losses they may incur by reason of their service in those capacities
subject to any limitations under Maryland law or in our Charter. Moreover, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with
each of our directors and executive officers. As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against these persons than
might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery against such persons. In addition, we
may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by these persons in some cases, which would reduce the cash available for distributions.

We are a holding company with no direct operations and rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities.

We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through the OP. We do not have, apart from an interest in
the OP, any independent operations. As a result, we rely on distributions from the OP to pay any distributions we might declare on shares
of our Common Stock. We will also rely on distributions from the OP to meet any of our obligations, including any tax liability on taxable
income allocated to us from the OP. In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims as stockholders are structurally
subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations (whether or not for borrowed money) of the OP and its subsidiaries.
Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, or reorganization, our assets and those of the OP and its subsidiaries will be able to
satisfy the claims of our stockholders only after all of our and the OP and its subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have been paid in full.

Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest between the interests of our stockholders and members in the OP,
which may materially and adversely impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders.

Conflicts of interest could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and the OP
or any future member thereof, on the other. Our directors and officers have duties to our Company under applicable Maryland law in
connection with the management of our Company. At the same time, we, as the managing member of the OP, will have fiduciary duties and
obligations to the OP and its members under New York law and the OP Agreement in connection with the management of the OP. Our
fiduciary duties and obligations, as the managing member of the OP, and its members may come into conflict with the duties of our directors
and officers to our Company.
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While we intend to avoid situations involving conflicts of interest, there may be situations in which the interests of the OP may
conflict with our interests. Our activities specifically authorized by or described in the OP Agreement may be performed by us and will not,
in any case or in the aggregate, be deemed a breach of the OP Agreement or any duty owed by us to the OP or any member. In exercising
our authority under the OP Agreement, we may, but are under no obligation to, take into account the tax consequences of any action we
take. Other than liabilities associated with tax protection agreements that we have entered into, we and the OP have no liability to a non-
managing member under any circumstances as a result of an income tax liability incurred by such non-managing member as a result of an
action (or inaction) by us pursuant to our authority under the OP Agreement.

The OP Agreement provides that the managing member will not be liable to the OP, its members, or any other person bound by the
OP Agreement for monetary damages for losses sustained, liabilities incurred, or benefits not derived by the OP or any member, except for
liability for the member’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Moreover, the OP Agreement provides that the OP is required to
indemnify the managing member, its affiliates, and certain related persons, and any manager, officer, stockholder, director, member,
employee, representative, or agent of the managing member or its affiliates from and against any and all claims that relate to the operations
of the OP, except if (i) the act was committed in bad faith, (ii) the act was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to
the cause of action involved, or (iii) it personally gained in fact a financial income or other advantage to which it was not entitled under
law.

The value of an investment in our Common Stock may be reduced if we, the OP, or any of our subsidiaries are required to register as
an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investmtt ent Companm y Actn ”) and, if we are subject
to registration under the Investment Company Act, we will not be able to continue our business.

Neither we, the OP, nor any of our subsidiaries intend to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. If
we were obligated to register as an investment company, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the
Investment Company Act that would impose significant and onerous limitations on our operations, as well as require us to comply with
various reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure, and other rules and regulations that would significantly alter our operations and
significantly increase our operating expenses.

We believe that we, the OP, and the subsidiaries of the OP do not and will not fall within the definition of “investment company”
under Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act as we intend to invest primarily in real property through our wholly or majority-
owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, we believe that we and the OP are and will be primarily engaged in the non-investment company business
of such subsidiaries and therefore will not fall within the aforementioned definition of “investment company.”

To ensure that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries, including the OP, are required to register as an investment company, each entity
may be unable to sell assets that it would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell assets that it would otherwise wish to retain. In addition,
we, the OP, or our subsidiaries may be required to acquire additional income- or loss-generating assets that we might not otherwise acquire
or forego opportunities to acquire interests in companies that we would otherwise want to acquire. Although we, the OP, and our subsidiaries
intend to monitor our portfolio periodically and prior to each acquisition and disposition, any of these entities may not be able to remain
outside the definition of investment company or maintain an exclusion from the definition of investment company. If we, the OP, or our
subsidiaries are required to register as an investment company but fail to do so, the unregistered entity would be prohibited from engaging
in our business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought against such entity. In addition, the contracts of such entity would be
unenforceable unless a court required enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of the entity and liquidate its business.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to qualify as a REIT would materially and adversely affect us and the value of our Common Stock.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and the applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, which
contain the requirements for qualifying as a REIT, which we refer to in this Form 10-K as the “REIT Requirements,” beginning with our
taxable year ended December 31, 2008. We believe that we have been organized and operated in a manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT
for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with such year, and we intend to continue operating in such a manner. However, we
cannot assure you that we have qualified as a REIT, or that we will remain qualified as such in the future. If we lose our REIT status, we
will face significant tax consequences that would substantially reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders for each of the
years involved because:

we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income and would be subject
to U.S. federal income tax at the corporate rate;

we could be subject to increased state and local income taxes;

unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions of the Code, we could not elect to be taxed as a REIT for
four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost; and
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for the five years following re-election of REIT status, upon a taxable disposition of an asset owned as of such re-election, we
would be subject to corporate level tax with respect to any built-in gain inherent in such asset at the time of re-election.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce our cash available for, among other things, our operations and
distributions to stockholders. In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be required to make distributions to our stockholders.
If this occurs, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some of our properties in order to pay any applicable taxes. As a result of all these
factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to execute our growth strategy and raise capital, and could materially
and adversely affect the trading price of our Common Stock.

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of technical and complex Code provisions for which there are only limited judicial
and administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect
our ability to qualify as a REIT. In order to qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy a number of requirements, including requirements regarding
the ownership of our stock, requirements regarding the composition of our assets and a requirement that at least 95% of our gross income
in any year must be derived from qualifying sources, such as “rents from real property.” Also, we must make distributions to stockholders
aggregating annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital
gain. In addition, legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations, or court decisions may materially and adversely affect our
investors, our ability to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or the desirability of an investment in a REIT relative to
other investments.

Even if we remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our
cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Even if we remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may still be subject to some U.S. federal, state, and
local income, property, and excise taxes on our income or property. For example:

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders
(computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), and to the extent that we satisfy the
distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends
paid deduction and including our net capital gain), we will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on the undistributed
income, as well as applicable state and local income taxes.

If we should fail to distribute, or fail to be treated as having distributed, with respect to each calendar year at least the sum of
(i) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (ii) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year, and (iii) any
undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the excess of such
required distribution over the sum of (a) the amounts actually distributed and (b) the amounts we retained and upon which we
paid U.S. federal income tax at the corporate level.

If we have (i) net income from the sale or other disposition of “foreclosure property” that is held primarily for sale to customers
in the ordinary course of business or (ii) other non-qualifying net income from foreclosure property, we will be subject to tax
at the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate on such income. To the extent that income from “foreclosure property” is otherwise
qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, this tax is not applicable.

If we have net income from prohibited transactions (which are, in general, certain sales or other dispositions of property held
primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than sales of foreclosure property and sales that qualify
for certain statutory safe harbors), such income will be subject tr o a 100% tax.

We may be subject to tax on gain recognized in a taxable disposition of assets acquired from a non-REIT C corporation by way
of a carryover basis transaction, when such gain is recognized on a disposition of an asset during a 5-year period beginning on
the date on which we acquired the asset. To the extent of any “built-in gain,” such gain will be subject to U.S. federal income
tax at the federal corporate income tax rate. Built-in gain means the excess of (i) the fair market value of the asset as of the
beginning of the applicable recognition period over (ii) our adjusted basis in such asset as of the beginning of such recognition
period.

If we should fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, but have nonetheless maintained our
qualififf cation as a REIT because certain other requirements have been met, we will be subject to a 100% tax on the greater of
the gross income amount by which we fail the 75% or the 95% test multiplied in either case by a fraction generally intended to
reflect our profitability without regard to our long-term capital gain.

Similarly, if we should fail to satisfy the asset tests or other requirements applicable to REITs, yet nonetheless qualify as a
REIT because there is reasonable cause for the failure and other applicable requirements are met, we may be subject to a penalty.
The amount of the penalty will be at least $50,000 per failure, and, in the case of certain asset test failures, will be equal to the
amount of net income generated by the assets in question multiplied by the highest corporate tax rate if that amount exceeds
$50,000 per failure.
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We may perform additional, non-customary services for tenants of our buildings through a TRS, including real estate or non-
real estate related services; however, any earnings related to such services are subject to federal and state income taxes.

We will be subject to a 100% tax on transactions with our TRSs if such transactions are not at arm’s length.

If the OP fails to qualify as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would cease to qualify as a REIT and suffer other
adverse consequences.

We believe that the OP will be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a partnership, the OP would generally
not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income. Instead, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, if the OP is treated as a partnership,
each of its partners, including us, would be allocated, and may be required to pay tax with respect to, such partner’s share of its income.
The OP may be required to determine and pay an imputed underpayment of tax (plus interest and penalties) resulting from an adjustment
of the OP’s items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit at the partnership level. We cannot assure you that the IRS will not challenge
the status of the OP or any ott her subsidiary in which we own an interest as a disregarded entity or partnership for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. If the IRS were successful in treating the OP or any such other subsidiary as
an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset
tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly, we would likely cease to qualify as a REIT. Also, the failure of the OP or any subsidiary to
qualify as a disregarded entity or partnership could cause it to become subject to U.S. federal and state corporate income tax, which would
significantly reduce the amount of cash available for debt service and for distribution to its partners, including us.

To satisfy the REIT distribution requirements, we may be forced to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient cash flow
which could materially and adversely affect us and the trading price of our Common Stock.

To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year, computed
without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain, and we will be subject to corporate income tax on our undistributed
taxable income to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year, computed without regard to the
dividends paid deduction and including our net capital gain. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount,
if any, by which distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain
net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. In order to satisfy these distribution requirements to maintain our REIT
status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may need to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient cash
flow, such as borrowing funds, raising additional equity capital, selling a portion of our assets or finding another alternative to make
distributions to our stockholders. We may be forced to take those actions even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable for
those actions. This situation could arise from, among other things, differences in timing between the actual receipt of cash and recognition
of income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures or other non-deductible expenses, the
creation of reserves, or required debt or amortization payments. Such actions could increase our costs and reduce the value of our Common
Stock. These sources, however, may not be available on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends on a
number of factors, including the market’s perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, the market price of our Common
Stock, and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will have access to such capital on favorable terms atff
the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail our investment activities and/or to dispose of assets at inopportune times, and
could materially and adversely affect us and the trading price of our Common Stock.

Further, to qualify as a REIT, we must also satisfy tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other things, the sources of our
income, nature of our assets, and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders
at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution.
Compliance with the REIT Requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

The IRS may treat sale-leaseback transactions as loans, which could jeopardize our REIT status or require us to make an unexpected
distribution.

We may purchase properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties. The IRS may take the position that certain of these
sale-leaseback transactions that we treat as leases are not “true leases” but are, instead, financing arrangements or loans for U.S. federal
income tax purposes.

If a sale-leaseback transaction were so re-characterized, we might fail to satisfy the REIT asset tests, the income tests, or distribution
requirements and consequently lose our REIT status effective with the year of re-characterization unless we elect to make an additional
distribution to maintain our REIT status. The primary risk relates to the disallowance of deductions for depreciation and cost recovery
relating to such property, which could affect the calculation of our REIT taxable income and could cause us to fail the REIT distribution
requirement that requires a REIT to distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends paid
deduction and any net capital gain. In this circumstance, we may elect to distribute an additional dividend of the increased taxable income
so as not to fail the REIT distribution test. This distribution would be paid to all stockholders at the time of declaration rather than the
stockholders that held our shares in the taxable year affected by the re-characterization.
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Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

The maximum U.S. federal income tax rate applicable to income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that are
individuals, trusts, and estates is 20%. Ordinary dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the 20% rate applicable
to “qualified dividends” except to the extent the REIT dividends are attributable to “qualified dividends” received by the REIT itself or
generally attributable to income upon which we (or a predecessor) have paid U.S. federal corporate income tax. However, for non-corporate
U.S. stockholders, ordinary dividends payable by REITs that are not designated as capital gain dividends or treated as “qualified dividends”
generally are eligible for a deduction of 20% of the amount of such ordinary REIT dividends, for taxable years beginning before January 1,
2026. More favorable rates will nevertheless continue to apply for regular corporate “qualified dividends.” Although these rules do not
adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, to the extent that the 20% rate continues to apply to regular corporate
qualified dividends, investors who are individuals, trusts and estates may regard investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than
investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations.

The tax imposed on REITs engaging in “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would be treated
as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% penalty tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or
other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business.
Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our
business, unless a sale or disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe harbors, such characterization is a factual determination and no
guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with our characterization of our properties or that we will always be able to make use of
the available safe harbors.

Complying with the REIT Requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our assets and liabilities. Any income from a hedging
transaction that we enter into to manage the risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry
real estate assets, or from certain terminations of such hedging positions, does not constitute “gross income” for purposes of the 75% or
95% gross income tests that apply to REITs, provided that certain identification requirements are met. To the extent that we enter into other
types of hedging transactions or fail to properly identify such transaction as a hedge, the income is likely to be treated as non-qualifying
income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may be required to limit our use of advantageous
hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because any TRS in
which we own an interest may be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would
otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in any TRS in which we own an interest will generally not provide any tax benefit, except that
such losses in some cases may be carried back against past taxable income in the TRS and may be carried forward against future taxable
income in the TRS (subject to certain limitations).

Complying with the REIT Requirements may force us to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the nature and diversification of our assets,
the sources of our income, and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. In connection with the Internalization, we were treated as
having acquired substantial amounts of goodwill that may not qualify for the 75% asset test. Compliance with these limitations, particularly
given the goodwill that we acquired in the Internalization, may hinder our ability to make, and, in certain cases, maintain ownership of
certain attractive investments that might not qualify for the 75% asset test. If we fail to comply with the REIT asset test requirements at the
end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory
relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate
or forgo otherwise attractive investments in order to satisfy the asset and income tests or to qualify under certain statutory relief provisions.
These actions could have the effect of reducing our income, increasing our income tax liability, and reducing amounts available for
distribution to our stockholders. In addition, we may be required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when
we do not have funds readily available for distribution, and may be unable to pursue investments (or, in some cases, forego the sale of such
investments) that would be otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the REIT Requirements. Accordingly, satisfying the REIT
Requirements could materially and adversely affect us. Moreover, if we are compelled to liquidate our investments to meet any of these
asset, income, or distribution tests, or to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with one or more of the requirements
applicable to REITs or may be subject to a 100% tax on any resulting gain if such sales constitute prohibited transactions.

In certain circumstances, we may be liable for certain tax obligations of certain of the members of the OP.

In certain circumstances, we may be liable for tax obligations of certain of the members of the OP. In connection with certain UPREIT
transactions, we have entered or will enter into tax protection agreements under which we have agreed to indemnify members of the OP
against adverse tax consequences if we were to sell, convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of our assets in taxable transactions, with specific
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exceptions and limitations. Pursuant to the tax protection agreements, we have also agreed to ensure that such members of the OP are
allocated minimum amounts of the OP’s indebtedness. If we fail to meet our obligations under the tax protection agreements, we may be
required to reimburse those members of the OP for the amount of the tax liabilities they incur, subject to certain limitations. We may enter
into additional tax protection agreements in the future in connection with other UPREIT transactions. Although it may be in our
stockholders’ best interest that we sell a property, it may be economically disadvantageous for us to do so because of these obligations. In
order to limit our exposure to a tax obligation, our use of proceeds from any sales or dispositions of certain properties will be limited. With
respect to the existing tax protection agreements with property contributors (excluding the Internalization), as of December 31, 2022, our
potential indemnification obligation for the taxable sale of those properties is approximately $10.4 million.

In connection with the Internalization, we entered into the Founding Owners’ Tax Protection Agreement, pursuant to which we have
agreed to indemnify the Founding Owners (as defined in the Founding Owners’ Tax Protection Agreement) against the applicable income
tax liabilities resulting from: (1) the sale, exchange, transfer, conveyance, or other disposition of the assets of BRE that we acquired in the
Internalization (the “Contributed Property”) in a taxable transaction prior to February 7, 2030; and (2) our failure to offer the Founding
Owners the opportunity to guarantee or otherwise bear the economic risk of loss with respect to specific types of the OP’s indebtedness in
order to enable them to continue to defer the applicable income tax liabilities associated with the allocation of that indebtedness. Our
maximum liability under the Founding Owners’ Tax Protection Agreement is capped at $10 million.

The Blocker Corp Mergers may have adverse tax consequences.

As a general matter, notwithstanding that we qualify to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, if we acquire
appreciated assets from a non-REIT C corporation in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in its hands is determined
by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the C corporation, we will be subject to entity-level tax on any gain
recognized in connection with a disposition (such as a taxable sale) of any such assets during the 5-year period following such acquisition.
In addition, in order to qualify as a REIT, we must not have, at the end of any taxable year, any earnings and profits accumulated in a non-
REIT year.

Because each of Trident BRE Holdings I, Inc. and Trident BRE Holdings II, Inc. (the “Blocker Corps”) were taxable as a non-REIT
C corporation and we acquired their appreciated assets in connection with the Internalization in transactions (the “Blocker Corp Mergers”)
in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands was determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of
each of the Blocker Corps prior to the Blocker Corp Mergers, we will be subject to corporate income tax on the “built-in gain” with respect
to the Blocker Corps’ assets at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers if we dispose of those assets in a taxable transaction within five years
following the Blocker Corp Mergers. This built-in gain is measured by the difference between the value of the Blocker Corps’ assets at the
time of the Blocker Corp Mergers and the adjusted basis in those assets. We estimate this built-in gain to be approximately $56.4 million.
The assets of the Blocker Corps we acquired in the Blocker Corp Mergers are the Blocker Corps’ interests in BRE. When BRE merged into
the OP in a tax-deferred transaction and the Blocker Corps received OP Units, the built-in gain associated with the Blocker Corps’ assets
became represented as part of an intangible asset on our balance sheet. The disposition of that intangible asset in a taxable transaction within
five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers could trigger a corporate income tax on that built-in gain. The most likely transaction in
which that intangible asset is disposed of would be a sale of the OP (or our interest in the OP) in a taxable transaction. Thus, if the OP (or
our interest in the OP) is sold in a taxable transaction within five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers, we could incur a corporate
income tax on approximately $56.4 million of built-in gain.

Because the Blocker Corps were each taxable as a regular C corporation, we assumed any earnings and profits accumulated by the
Blocker Corps for taxable periods prior to and including the Blocker Corp Mergers, referred to as “C corporation earnings and profits.” To
qualify as a REIT, we cannot have any C corporation earnings and profits at the end of any taxable year. We estimated the C corporation
earnings and profits of the Blocker Corps to be approximately $2.3 million in total at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers and we used a
nationally recognized accounting firm to prepare a study to assist management in confirming that calculation. During 2020, we made
sufficient distributions in excess of our earnings and profits (including the C corporation earnings and profits from the Blocker Corps) so
we would not have to pay a special dividend to eliminate such C corporation earnings and profits. In effect, the inclusion of the C corporation
earnings and profits from the Blocker Corps increased the portion of our distributions during 2020 that were taxable as dividends. However,
if we were determined to succeed to more C corporation earnings and profits as a result of the Blocker Corp Mergers, we may have to pay
a special dividend and/or employ applicable deficiency dividend procedures to eliminate such earnings and profits. If we need to make a
special dividend or pay a deficiency dividend and do not otherwise have cash on hand to do so, we may need to (i) sell assets at unfavorable
prices, (ii) borrow on unfavorable terms, (iii) distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures,
or repayment of debt, or (iv) make a taxable distribution of Common Stock as part of a distribution in which stockholders may elect to
receive Common Stock or cash (subject to a limit measured as a percentage of the total distribution), in order to comply with REIT
Requirements. These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity. In addition, if we were to rely upon the remedial deficiency
dividend procedures, we would be required to pay interest based on the amount of any such deficiency dividends.

In addition to the foregoing, as a result of the Blocker Corp Mergers, we inherited any liability with respect to unpaid taxes of each
of the Blocker Corps for any periods prior to the Blocker Corp Mergers.
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Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on us.CC

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by
the IRS and the U.S. Department of the Treasury, which may result in revisions to regulations and interpretations and changes to the
application of existing tax rules by U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign goverff nments, in addition to statutory changes. No assurance can
be given as to whether, or in what form, any proposals affecting REITs or their stockholders will be enacted.

There may also be future changes in U.S. federal tax laws, regulations, rules, and judicial and administrative interpretations applicable
to us and our business, the effect of which cannot be predicted. Our stockholders and prospective investors are urged to consult with their
own tax advisors with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory, or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect
on an investment in shares of our Common Stock.



42

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The market price and trading volume of shares of our Common Stock may be volatile.

The market price of shares of our Common Stock may fluctuate. In addition, the trading volume in shares of our Common Stock, may
fluctuatt e and cause significant price variations to occur. Historically, these changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the
operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our Common Stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little
or nothing to do with us in particular. If the market price of shares of our Common Stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell
your shares of our Common Stock at or above the public offering price. We cannot assure you that the market price of shares of our Common
Stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly, including a decline below the public offering price, in the future.

Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume of shares
of our Common Stock include:

actual or anticipated declines in our quarterly operating results or distributions;

actual or anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies, or speculation in the press or investment community about
actual or anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies;

changes in government regulations;

changes in laws affecting REITs and related tax matters;

the announcement of new contracts by us or our competitors;

reductions in our FFO, AFFO, or earnings estimates;

publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry;

increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of shares of our Common Stock to demand a higher yield;

future equity issuances, or the perception that they may occur, including issuances of Common Stock upon exercise or vesting
of equity awards or redemption of OP Units;

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;

additions or departures of key management personnel;

actions by institutional stockholders;

differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;

changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections;

speculation in the press or investment community; and

the realization of any of the other risk factors presented herein.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the price of
their common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which
could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, our ability to execute our business strategy, and our ability to make distributions to
our stockholder.

We may not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all.

We intend to make cash distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that all or substantially all of our taxable income in each
year, subject to adjustments, is distributed. However, we may not be able to continue to generate sufficient cash flow from our properties
to permit us to make the distributions we expect. Our ability to continue to make distributions in the future may be adversely affected by
the risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to make or maintain
distributions and certain agreements relating to our indebtedness may, under certain circumstances, limit or eliminate our ability to make
distributions to our common stockholders. For instance, our Revolving Credit Facility contains provisions that restrict us from paying
distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our REIT status. We can give no assurance that rents
from our properties will increase, or that future acquisitions of real properties or other investments will increase our cash available for
distributions to stockholders. In addition, any distributions will be authorized at the sole discretion of our board of directors, and the form,
timing, and amount, if any, will depend upon a number of factors, including our actual and projected results of operations, FFO, AFFO,
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liquidity, cash flows and financial condition, the revenue we actually receive from our properties, our operating expenses, our debt service
requirements, our capital expenditures, prohibitions and other limitations under our financing arrangements, our REIT taxable income, the
annual REIT distribution requirements, applicable law, and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.

Distributions are expected to be based upon our FFO, AFFO, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity, debt service requirements,
and capital expenditure requirements for our properties. If we do not have sufficient cash available for distributions, we may need to fund
the shortage out of working capital or borrow to provide funds for such distributions, which would reduce the amount of proceeds available
for real estate investments and increase our future interest costs. Our inability to make distributions, or to make distributions at expected
levels, could result in a decrease in trading price of our Common Stock.

We may change the dividend policy for our Common Stock in the future.

The decision to declare and pay dividends on our Common Stock, as well as the form, timing, and amount of any such future dividends,
will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings, cash flows, liquidity, financial condition, capital
requirements, contractual prohibitions or other limitations under our indebtedness, the annual distribution requirements under the REIT
provisions of the Code, state law, and such other factors as our board of directors considers relevant. Any change in our dividend policy
could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of shares of our Common Stock.

One of the factors that will influence the price of shares of our Common Stock will be the distribution yield on shares of our Common
Stock (as a percentage of the price of shares of our Common Stock) relative to market interest rates. An increase in market interest rates,
which are currently at low levels relative to historical rates, may lead prospective purchasers of shares of our Common Stock to expect a
higher distribution yield and higher interest rates would likely increase our borrowing costs and potentially decrease funds available for
distribution. Thus, higher market interest rates could cause the per share trading price of our Common Stock to decrease.

There may be future dilution to earnings related to shares of our Common Stock.

The market price of shares of our Common Stock could decline as a result of issuances or sales of a large number of shares of our
Common Stock in the market, or the perception that such issuances or sales could occur. Additionally, future issuances or sales of substantial
amounts of shares of our Common Stock may be at prices below the initial public offering price of the shares of our Class A Common Stock
and may result in further dilution in our earnings and FFO per share and/or materially and adversely impact the per share trading price of
our Common Stock.

Future offerings of debt, which would be senior to shares of our Common Stock upon liquidation, and/or preferred equity securities
that may be senior to shares of our Common Stock for purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, may materially and adversely affect
the market price of shares of our Common Stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred equity securities
(or causing the OP to issue debt securities). Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and preferred stock and lenders with respect to
other borrowings will receive distributions of our available assets prior to our stockholders. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable
securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences, and privileges more favorable than those of our Common Stock and may
result in dilution to owners of our Common Stock. Our stockholders are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against dilution.
Our preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on distribution payments that could limit
our right to make distributions to our stockholders. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market
conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, or nature of our future offerings. Our
stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the per share trading price of our Common Stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our capital stock in the public markets may dilute your voting power and your ownership interest in us.

Our Charter provides that we may issue up to 500,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.00025 par value, and 20,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. Moreover, under Maryland law and as provided in our Charter, a majority of our entire board
of directors has the power to amend our Charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of
stock of any class or series that we are authorized to issue without stockholder approval. Future issuances of shares of our Common Stock,
securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock, or shares of our preferred stock may dilute the ownership interest of our common
stockholders. Because our decision to issue additional equity or convertible or exchangeable securities in any future offering will depend
on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future issuances.
In addition, we are not required to offer any such securities to existing stockholders on a preemptive basis. Therefore, it may not be possible
for existing stockholders to participate in such future issuances, which may dilute the existing stockholders’ interests in us.



44

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

There are no unresolved staff comments.

Item 2. Properties.

Please refer to Item 1. “Business” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information concerning our properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we are subject to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our
business. We are not currently a party to legal proceedings that we believe would reasonably be expected to have material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We are not aware of any material legal proceedings to which we or any of our
subsidiaries are a party or to which any of our property is subject, nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by
government agencies.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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Part II.

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “BNL.”

Stockholders

As of February 17, 2023, there were approximately 527 holders of record of our Common Stock. However, because many of our
shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we believe there are considerably more
beneficial holders of our Common Stock than record holders.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

NNot applicable.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information concerning our Equity Compensation Plan will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2023The information concerning our Equity Compensation Plan will be included in the Proxy Statement to be f
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Performance Graph

The following graph is a comparison of the cumulative total return of shares of our common stock, the Russell 2000, and the MCSI
US REIT Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2016, in each of shares of our common stock, the Russell
2000 and the MCSI US REIT Index, and that all dividends were reinvested. There can be no assurance that the performance of our shares
will continue in line with the same or similar trends depicted in the graph below. The MCSI US REIT Index is a free float-adjusted market
capitalization index that is comprised of equity REITs. The index is based on MSCI USA Investable Market Index (IMI), its parent index,
which captures large, mid, and small capitalization securities. While funds used in this benchmark typically target institutional investors
and have characteristics that differ from us (including differing fees), we feel that the MCSI US REIT Index is an appropriate and accepted
index for the purpose of evaluating returns on investments in direct real estate funds.
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December 31,
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Broadstone Net Lease 100.00 113.10 119.00 114.40 151.70 105.10
Russell 2000 100.00 89.00 111.70 134.00 153.90 122.40
MSCI US REIT Index 100.00 95.40 120.10 111.00 158.80 119.90

Prior to our IPO in September 2020 and the listing of our common stock on the NYSE, we sold shares of common stock in a private
offering at a share price established by the committee of our board of directors comprised of our independent directors (“Independent
Directors Committee”) based on the net asset value of our portfolio, input from management and third-party consultants, and such other
factors the Independent Directors Committee deemed necessary. Subsequent to our IPO and listing of our common stock on the NYSE, our
share price is determined by market participants.

The information in this “Performance Graph” section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC, and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference
in such filing.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to
help the reader understand our results of operations and financial condition. This MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read
in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing
in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We own and manage primarily single-tenant commercial real estate properties that are net leased on a long-term basis to a
diversified group of tenants. Since our inception in 2007, we have selectively invested in net leased assets in the industrial, healthcare,
restaurant, retail, and office property types. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio has grown to 804 properties, with 797 properties located
in 44 U.S. states and seven properties located in four Canadian provinces.

We focus on investing in real estate that is operated by creditworthy single tenants in industries characterized by positive business
drivers and trends. We target properties that are an integral part of the tenants’ businesses and are therefore opportunities to secure long-
term net leases. Through long-term net leases, our tenants are able to retain operational control of their strategically important locations,
while allocating their debt and equity capital to fund core business operations rather than real estate ownership.

Diversified Portfolio. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio comprised approximately 39.1 million rentable square feet of
operational space, and was highly diversified based on property type, geography, tenant, and industry, and is cross-diversified
within each (e.g., property-type diversification within a geographic concentration):

Property Type: We are focused primarily on industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office property types based on
our extensive experience in and conviction around these sectors. Within these sectors, we have meaningful concentrations
in manufacturing, distribution and warehouse, food processing, casual dining, clinical, quick service restaurants, general
merchandise, and flex/research and development.

Geographic Diversification: Our properties are located in 44 U.S. states and four Canadian provinces, with no single
geographic concentration exceeding 9.7% of our ABR.

Tenant and Industry Diversification: Our properties are occupied by 221 different commercial tenants who operate 211
different brands that are diversified across 55 different industries, with no single tenant accounting for more than 4.0%
of our ABR.

Strong In-Place Leases with Significant Remaining Lease Term. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio was approximately
99.4% leased with an ABR weighted average remaining lease term of approximately 10.9 years, excluding renewal options.

Standard Contractual Base Rent Escalation. Approximately 97.3% of our leases have contractual rent escalations, with an
ABR weighted average minimum increase of 2.0%.

Extensive Tenant Financial Reporting. Approximately 94.3% of our tenants, based on ABR, provide financial reporting, of
which 85.8% are required to provide us with specified financial information on a periodic basis and an additional 8.5% of our
tenants report financial statements publicly, either through SEC filings or otherwise.

Factors That Impact Our Result of Operations

Our results of operations and financial condition are affected by numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. Key
factors that typically impact our results of operations and financial condition, include rental rates, property dispositions, lease renewals and
occupancy, investment activity, net lease terms, interest expense, general and administrative expenses, tenant bankruptcies, and
impairments.

Rental Rates

Our ability to grow rental revenue from our existing portfolio will depend on our ability to realize the rental escalations built into
our leases. As of December 31, 2022, leases contributing approximately 97.3% of our ABR provided for increases in future annual base
rent, generally ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% annually, with an ABR weighted average minimum increase of 2.0%. Generally, our rent
escalators increase rent on specified dates by a fixed percentage. Approximately 11.6% of our rent escalators are based on an increase in
the CPI over a specified period and 2.7% of our leases are flat leases, meaning they do not provide for rent increases during their terms.
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Property Dispositions

From time to time, we strategically dispose of properties, primarily when we believe the risk profile has changed and become
misaligned with our then current risk-adjusted return objectives. The resulting gains or losses on dispositions may materially impact our
operating results, and the recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction based on fluctuations
in asset prices and demand in the real estate market at the time a property is listed for sale.

Lease Renewals and Occupancy

As of December 31, 2022, the ABR weighted average remaining term of our portfolio was approximately 10.9 years, excluding
renewal options, and leases for six properties will expire during 2023. Less than 4% of the properties in our portfolio are subject to leases
without at least one renewal option. Approximately 56.4% of our ABR was derived from leases that will expire after 2030, and no more
than 6.2% of our ABR was derived from leases that expire in any single year prior to 2030. The stability of the rental revenue generated by
our properties depends principally on our tenants’ ability to pay rent and our ability to collect rents, renew expiring leases or re-lease space
upon the expiration or other termination of leases, lease currently vacant properties, and maintain or increase rental rates at our leased
properties. To the extent our properties become vacant and are not subject to a lease, we would forego rental income while remaining
responsible for the payment of property taxes and maintaining the property until it is re-leased, which could negatively impact our operating
results. Our portfolio was 99.4% occupied as of December 31, 2022.

Investment Activity

Our historical growth in revenues and earnings has been achieved through rent escalations associated with existing in-place leases,
coupled with rental income generated from accretive property investments. Our ability to grow revenue will depend, to a significant degree,
on our ability to identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria. Changes in capitalization rates, interest rates, or other
factors may impact our acquisition opportunities in the future. Market conditions may also impact the total returns we can achieve on our
investments. Our investment volume also depends on our ability to access third-party debt and equity financing.

Net Lease Terms

Substantially all of our leases are net, pursuant to which our tenant generally is obligated to pay most recurring expenses associated
with the leased property including real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, and repairs. The remaining leases generally require that we pay
some property expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance, or certain repairs and maintenance. Additionally, we seek to use master lease
structures when possible, pursuant to which we lease multiple properties to a single tenant on an all or none basis. Master leases strengthen
our ability to preserve rental revenue and prevent costs associated with vacancies for underperforming properties. As of December 31, 2022,
master leases contributed 67.7% of the ABR associated with multi-site tenants (418 of our 489 properties), and 40.8% of our overall ABR
(489 of our 804 properties).

Interest Expense

We anticipate that we will continue to incur debt to fund future investment activity, which will increase the amount of interest
expense we incur. In addition, although we attempt to limit our total floating-rate debt exposure, changes in the interest rate environment
could either increase or decrease our weighted average interest rate in the future. Any changes to our debt structure or debt financing
associated with property investments, could materially influence our operating results depending on the terms of any such debt. Our current
investment grade credit ratings are ‘BBB’ from S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”) and ‘Baa2’ from Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”),
which allow us to take advantage of the lower cost of debt. However, a downgrade in our credit rating, or interest rate change due to
governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions, or other factors beyond our control,
could also increase the amount of interest we pay under our debt agreements.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses primarily consist of employee compensation and related costs, third party legal,
accounting, and consulting expenses, travel and entertainment, and general office expenses.
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Impact of InflationII

Our leases with tenants of our properties are long-term in nature, with a current weighted average remaining lease term of 10.9
years as of December 31, 2022. To mitigate the impact of inflation on our fixed revenue streams, we have implemented limited escalation
clauses in our leases. As of December 31, 2022, substantially all of our leases had contractual lease escalations, with an annual weighted
average of 2.0%. A majority of our leases have fixed annual rent increases or periodic escalations over the term of the lease (e.g., a 10%
increase every five years), and the remaining portion has annual lease escalations based on increases in the CPI. These lease escalations
mitigate the risk of fixed revenue streams in the case of an inflationary economic environment, and provide increased return in otherwise
stable market conditions. As a majority of our portfolio has fixed lease escalations, we are limited in our same store rental revenue inflation
protection.

Our focus on single-tenant, net leases also shelters us from fluctuations in the cost of services and maintenance as a result of
inflation. For a portion of our portfolio, we have leases that are not fully triple-net, and, therefore, we bear certain responsibilities for the
maintenance and structural component replacements (e.g., roof, structure, or parking lot) that may be required in the future, although the
tenants are still required to pay all operating expenses associated with the property (e.g., real estate taxes, insurance, and maintenance).
Inflation and increased costs may have an adverse impact to our tenants and their creditworthiness if the increase in costs are greater than
their increase in revenue. Where we cannot implement a triple-net lease, we attempt to limit our exposure to inflation through the use of
warranties and other remedies that reduce the likelihood of a significant capital outlay.

Tenant Bankruptcies

Adverse economic conditions, particularly those that affect the markets in which our properties are located, or downturns in our
tenants’ industries could impair our tenants’ ability to meet their lease obligations to us and our ability to renew expiring leases or re-lease
space. In particular, the bankruptcy of one or more of our tenants could adversely affect our ability to collect rents from such tenants and
maintain our portfolio’s occupancy. We have historically experienced only a limited number of tenant bankruptcies, which have not been
material to our financial results.

Impairments

We review long-lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to
the extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from
the use of the long-lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating income, as
adjusted for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. Significant judgment is made as to if and
when impairment should be taken. If our strategy, or one or more of the assumptions described above, changes in the future, we may have
to recognize an impairment. Indications of a tenant’s inability to continue as a going concern, changes in our view or strategy relative to a
tenant’s business or industry, or changes in our long-term hold strategies, could each be indicative of an impairment triggering event. For
the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized $5.5 million of impairm ment due to a change in our long-term hold strategy for three
properties.

Results of Operations

Discussion of our Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was
previously filed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under the heading “Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2021“
Compared to Year Ended year ended December 31, 2020.”

Overview

As of December 31, 2022, our real estate investment portfolio included 804 commercial real estate properties, with 797 properties
located in 44 U.S. states and seven properties located in four Canadian provinces, and leased to tenants in various industries. All but three
of our properties were subject to a lease as of December 31, 2022.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Lease revenues, net
Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)

(in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Revenues:
Contractual rental amounts billed for operating leases $ 359,317 $ 308,624 $ 50,693 16.4 %
Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease
billings on a straight-line basis 22,353 19,847 2,506 12.6 %

Write-off of accrued rental income (1,326) (442) (884) >100.0 %
Variable rental amount earned 1,507 768 739 96.2 %
Earned income from direct financing leases 2,856 2,909 (53) (1.8) %
Interest income from sales-type leases 58 58 - - %
Operating expenses billed to tenants 19,779 17,462 2,317 13.3 %
Other income from real estate transactions 3,069 33,549 (30,480) (90.8) %
Adjustment to revenue recognized for uncollectible
rental amounts billed, net (100) 101 (201) <(100.0) %

Total Lease revenues, net $ 407,513 $ 382,876 $ 24,637 6.4 %

The increase in Lease revenues, net was primarily due to growth in our real estate portfolio through accretive property acquisitions
during 2021 and 2022 partially offset by the reductions of revenues associated with property dispositions. During the year ended December
31, 2022, we invested $907.2 million, in 87 properties at a weighted average initial cash capitalization rate of 6.4%. The increase in lease
revenues was partially offset by a decrease in lease termination fee income, which we classified as other income from real estate transactions
in the table above. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized $2.5 million of lease termination income, compared to $35.0
million in lease termination fee income during the year ended December 31, 2021. In September 2021, we executed the early termination
of a long-term, master lease with an investment-grade office tenant in exchange for a termination fee of $35.0 million. Simultaneously, weff
sold the underlying vacant properties to an unrelated third party. Through these simultaneous transactions, we recorded $33.8 million of
revenue, $4.1 million of amortization, and $25.7 million of impairment, for a net $4.0 million increase to net income. This resulted in a
$33.8 million increase to generated FFO, but no impact to generated AFFO or net debt to annualized adjusted EBITDAre. Refer to our non-
GAAP reconciliations in the Non-GAAP Measures section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)
(in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization $154,807 $ 132,096 $ 22,711 17.2%
Property and operating expense 21,773 18,459 3,314 18.0%
General and administrative 37,375 36,366 1,009 2.8%
Provision for impairment of investment in
rental properties 5,535 28,208 (22,673) (80.4)%

Asset management fees — — — —
y gProperty management fees — — — —

gTotal operating expenses $219,490 $ 215,129 $ 4,361 2.0%

Depreciation and amortization

The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to growth in our real estate portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2022,
partially offset by a decrease in certain accelerated amortization associated with certain lease terminations during the year ended December
31, 2021, as discussed in Lease revenues, net above.

Property and operating expense

The increase in property and operating expense was primarily attributable to the number of properties we own for which we are
responsible for engaging a third-party manager to manage ongoing property maintenance, along with insurance and real estate taxes
associated with those properties. We pay a majority of these expenses and are reimbursed by the tenants under the terms of the respective
leases. There was a corresponding increase in operating expenses billed to tenants, which is included within Lease revenues, net.
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Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized $5.5 million of impairment on our investments in rental properties,
primarily due to a change in our long-term hold strategy for three properties, compared to $28.2 million of impairment during the year
ended December 31, 2021. The following table presents the impairment charges for their respective periods:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except number of properties) 2022 2021
Number of properties 3 7
Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 12,721 $ 48,604
Fair value 7,186 20,396

gImpairment charge $ 5,535 $ 28,208

The timing and amount of impairment fluctuates from period to period depending on the specific facts and circumstances.

Other income (expenses)

Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)
(in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Other income (expenses)
Interest income $ 44 $ 17 $ 27 >100.0%
Interest expense (78,652) (64,146) 14,506 22.6%
Cost of debt extinguishment (308) (368) (60) (16.3)%
Gain on sale of real estate 15,953 13,523 2,430 18.0%
Income taxes (1,275) (1,644) (369) (22.4)%
Change in fair value of earnout liability — (5,539) 5,539 (100.0)%
Other income (expenses) 5,690 (62) (5,752) >(100.0)%

Interest expense

The increase in interest expense reflects an increase in our weighted average cost of borrowings combined with increased average
outstanding borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. Since December 31,
2021, we increased total outstanding borrowings by $334.9 million to partially fund our acquisitions. Of our total outstanding indebtedness,
approximately 93.5% is fixed or hedged via interest rates swaps and therefore not subject to the impact of fluctuations in interest rates.

Gain on sale of real estate

Our recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction based on fluctuations in asset prices
and demand in the real estate market. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized gains of $16.0 million on the sale of eight
properties, compared to gains of $13.5 million on the sale of 31 properties during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Change in fair value of earnout liability

The fair value of the earnout liability was remeasured each reporting period, with changes recorded as Change in fair value of earnout
liability in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The change in the fair value of the earnout liability during
the year ended December 31, 2022, reflects our achievement of all four milestones applicable to the earnout during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Other income (expenses)

The change in other income during the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarily $5.6 million of unrealized foreign exchange
gain recognized on the remeasurement of our $100 million CAD revolver borrowings, compared to a $0.2 million unrealized foreign
exchange loss recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net Income and Net earnings per diluted share

Year Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease)
(in thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 $ %
Net income $ 129,475 $ 109,528 $ 19,947 18.2%
N get earnings per diluted share 0.72 0.67 0.05 7.5%

The increase in net income is primarily due to revenue growth of $24.6 million, together with a $22.7 million decrease in the
provision for impairment. These factors were partially offset by a $22.7 million increase in depreciation and amortization and a $14.5
million increase in interest expense.
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GAAP net income includes items such as gain or loss on sale of real estate and provisions for impairment, among others, which
can vary from quarter to quarter and impact period-over-period comparisons.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We invest in real estate using a combination of debt and equity capital and with cash from operations that is not otherwise
distributed to our stockholders. Our focus is on maximizing the risk-adjusted return to our stockholders through an appropriate balance of
debt and equity in our capital structure. We are committed to maintaining an investment grade balance sheet through active management of
our leverage profile and overall liquidity position. We believe our leverage strategy has allowed us to take advantage of the lower cost of
debt while simultaneously strengthening our balance sheet, as evidenced by our current investment grade credit ratings of ‘BBB’ from S&P
and ‘Baa2’ from Moody’s. We manage our leverage profile using a ratio of Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, a non-GAAP
financial measure, which we believe is a useful measure of our ability to repay debt and a relative measure of leverage, and is used in
communications with lenders and with rating agencies regarding our credit rating. We seek to maintain on a sustained basis a Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio that is generally less than 6.0x. As of December 31, 2022, we had total debt outstanding and Net
Debt of $2.0 billion each, and a Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio of 5.2x.

Net Debt and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre are non-GAAP financial measures, and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre is
calculated based upon EBITDA, EBITDAre, and Adjusted EBITDAre, each of which is also a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to Non-
GAAP Measures below for further details concerning our calculation of non-GAAP measures and reconciliations to the comparable GAAP
measure.

Liquidity/REIT Requirements

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including our ongoing commitments to repay debt, fund our
operations, acquire properties, make distributions to our stockholders, and other general business needs. As a REIT, we are required to
distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and
excluding net capital gain, on an annual basis. As a result, it is unlikely that we will be able to retain substantial cash balances to meet our
long-term liquidity needs, including repayment of debt and the acquisition of additional properties, from our annual taxable income. Instead,
we expect to meet our long-term liquidity needs primarily by relying upon external sources of capital.

Short-term Liquidity Requirements

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for our operating expenses, including our general
and administrative expenses as well as interest payments on our outstanding debt, to pay distributions, and to fund our acquisitions that are
under control or expected to close within a short time period. We do not currently anticipate making significant capital expenditures or
incurring other significant property costs, including as a result of inflationary pressures in the current economic environment, because of
the strong occupancy levels across our portfolio and the net lease nature of our leases. We expect to meet our short-term liquidity
requirements primarily from cash and cash equivalents balances, net cash provided by operating activities, borrowings under our Revolving
Credit Facility and capital recycled through selective property dispositions. We intend to match fund our acquisitions with an appropriate
mix of debt and equity capital. We use cash on hand and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility to initially fund acquisitions,
which are subsequently repaid or replaced with proceeds from our equity and debt capital markets activities and cash flows in excess of
distributions.

As detailed in the contractual obligations table below, we have approximately $87.5 million of expected obligations due throughout
2023, primarily consisting of $7.6 million of mortgage maturities, and $79.2 million of interest expense due, including the impact of our
interest rate swaps. We expect our cash provided by operating activities, as discussed below, will be sufficient to pay for our current
obligations including interest expense on our borrowings. We expect to either repay the maturing mortgages with available cash on hand
generated from our results of operations or borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, or refinance with property-level borrowings.

Long-term Liquidity Requirements

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to repay debt and invest in additional revenue generating
properties. We expect to source debt capital from unsecured term loans from commercial banks, revolving credit facilities, private placement
senior unsecured notes, and public bond offerings.

The source and mix of our debt capital in the future will be impacted by market conditions as well as our continued focus on
lengthening our debt maturity profile to better align with our portfolio’s long-term leases, staggering debt maturities to reduce the risk that
a significant amount of debt will mature in any single year in the future, and managing our exposure to interest rate risk. As of December
31, 2022, we have $802.7 million of available capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility.

We expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements primarily from borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, future debt
and equity financings, and proceeds from selective sales of our properties. Our ability to access these capital sources may be impacted by
unfavorable market conditions, particularly in the debt and equity capital markets, that are outside of our control. In addition, our success
will depend on our operating performance, our borrowing restrictions, our degree of leverage, and other factors. Our acquisition growth
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strategy significantly depends on our ability to obtain acquisition financing on favorable terms. We seek to reduce the risk that long-term
debt capital may be unavailable to us by strengthening our balance sheet by investing in real estate with creditworthy tenants and lease
guarantors, and by maintaining an appropriate mix of debt and equity capitalization. We also, from time to time, obtain or assume non-
recourse mortgage financing from banks and insurance companies secured by mortgages on the corresponding specific property. Mortgages,
however, are not currently a strategic focus of the active management of our capital structure.

Equity Capital Resources

Our equity capital is primarily provided through our at-the-market common equity offering program (“ATM Program”), as well as
follow-on equity offerings. Under the terms of our ATM Program we may, from time to time, publicly offer and sell shares of our common
stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $400 million. The ATM Program provides for forward sale agreements, enabling us to
set the price of shares upon pricing the offering while delaying the issuance of shares and the receipt of the net proceeds. As of December
31, 2022, we have $145.4 million of available capacity under our ATM Program.

The following table presents information about our ATM Program activity:
For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2022 2021

Number of common shares issued 10,471 1,072
Weighted average sale price per share $ 21.66 $ 26.26
Net proceeds $ 222,895 $ 27,300
Gross proceeds 226,483 28,100

In August 2022, we completed a public offering to sell an aggregate of 13,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $21.35 per
share, subject to certain adjustments, in connection with a forward sale agreement. On December 28, 2022, we settled all 13,000,000
outstanding shares for net proceeds of $272.6 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $3.4 million and $0.6
million in other expenses.

Our public offerings have been used to repay debt, fund acquisitions, and for other general corporate purposes.

As we continue to invest in accretive real estate properties, we expect to balance our debt and equity capitalization, while maintaining
a Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio below 6.0x on a sustained basis, through the anticipated use of follow-on equity
offerings and the ATM Program.

Unsecured Indebtedness and Capital Markets Activities as of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The following table sets forth our outstanding Revolving Credit Facility, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes at
December 31, 2022.

(in thousands, except interest rates)
Outstanding
Balance

Interest
Rate

Maturity
Date

g yUnsecured revolving credit facility $ 197,322 Applicable reference rate + 0.85% Mar. 2026
Unsecured term loans:

400,000 one-month LIBOR + 1.00% Feb. 2026
2027 Unsecured Term Loan 200,000 one-month adjusted SOFR + 0.95% Aug. 2027
2029 Unsecured Term Loan 300,000 jone-month adjusted SOFR + 1.25% gAug. 2029
Total unsecured term loans 900,000

Senior unsecured notes:
2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A 150,000 4.84% Apr. 2027
2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B 225,000 5.09% Jul. 2028
2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C 100,000 5.19% Jul. 2030
2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes 375,000 2.60% Sep. 2031
Total senior unsecured notes 850,000

Total unsecured debt $ 1,947,322

Revolving Credit Facility

On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated the Revolving Credit Facility, upsizing the capacity to $1 billion and extending its
maturity date to March 2026. In addition to United States Dollars (“USD”), borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility can be made in
Pound Sterling, Euros or Canadian Dollars (“CAD”) up to an aggregate amount of $500.0 million. Borrowings under the amended credit
facility are subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to the applicable reference rate plus a margin of 0.85% based on our
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current credit ratings of ‘BBB’ and ‘Baa2’ from S&P and Moody’s, respectively. In addition, the amended credit facility is subject to a
facility fee on the amount of the revolving commitments, based on our credit rating. The applicable facility fee is 0.20% per annum.

2026 Unsecured Term Loan

Borrowings under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan are subject to interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a margin based on
our credit rating ranging between 0.85% and 1.65% based on our credit rating. At December 31, 2022, the applicable margin was 1.00%.
Upon the cessation of the publication of LIBOR, borrowings under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan will automatically become subject to
SOFR.

2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured Term Loan

On August 1, 2022, we entered into two new unsecured bank term loans, including a $200.0 million, five-year term loan that matures
in 2027 (the “2027 Unsecured Term Loan”), and a $300.0 million, seven-year term loan that matures in 2029 (the “2029 Unsecured Term
Loan”). Borrowings on the new term loans bear interest at variable rates based on adjusted SOFR plus a margin based on our credit rating
ranging between 0.80% and 1.60% per annum for the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan, and 1.15% and 2.20% per annum for the 2029 Unsecured
Term Loan. At December 31, 2022, the applicable margin was 0.95% and 1.25% for the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured
Term Loan, respectively.

2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A

The 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A are payable interest only semiannually during their term, bear interest at a fixed rate of
4.84% per annum, and mature in April 2027.

2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C

The 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C are payable interest only semiannuallyThe 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C are payable interest only semiannually
g y yduring their term, and bear interest at fixed rates of 5.09% per annum and 5.19% per annum, respectively. Series B Notes mature in July

y2028, and the Series C Notes mature in July 2030.

2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes

Borrowings under the 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes are subject to interest only, semi-annual payments at a fixed rate of 2.60%
per annum and mature in September 2031.

DDebt Covenants

We are subject to various covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to our debt facilities, which are summarized below.
As of December 31, 2022, we believe we were in compliance with all of our covenants on all outstanding borrowings. In the event of
default, either through default on payments or breach of covenants, we may be restricted from paying dividends to our stockholders in
excess of dividends required to maintain our REIT qualification. For each of the previous three years, we paid dividends out of our cash
flows from operations in excess of the distribution amounts required to maintain our REIT qualification.

Covenants Requirement
Leverage Ratio � 0.60 to 1.00
Secured Indebtedness Ratio � 0.40 to 1.00
Unencumbered Coverage Ratio � 1.75 to 1.00
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio � 1.50 to 1.00
Total Unsecured Indebtedness to Total Unencumbered Eligible Property Value � 0.60 to 1.00
Dividends and Other Restricted Payments Only applicable in case of default
Aggregate Debt Ratio � 0.60 to 1.00
Consolidated Income Available for Debt to Annual Debt Service Charge � 1.50 to 1.00
Total Unencumbered Assets to Total Unsecured Debt � 1.50 to 1.00
Secured Debt Ratio � 0.40 to 1.00
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Contractual Obligations

The following table provides information with respect to our contractual commitments and obligations as of December 31, 2022 (in
thousands). Refer to the discussion in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section above for further discussion over our short and long-term
obligations.

Year of
yMaturity Term Loans

Revolving
Credit

yFacility(1)
Senior
Notes g gMortgages

Interest
pExpense(2)

Tenant
Improvement
Allowances(3)

Operating
Leases Total

2023 $ — $ — $ — $ 7,582 $ 79,171 $ 57 $ 705 $ 87,515
2024 — — — 2,260 78,906 —— 320 81,486
2025 — — — 20,195 80,686 —— 326 101,207
2026 400,000 197,322 — 16,843 57,180 —— 332 671,677
2027 200,000 — 150,000 1,596 42,401 —— 277 394,274
Thereafter 300,000 — 700,000 38,278 64,255 —— 3,462 1,105,995
Total $ 900,000 $ 197,322 $ 850,000 $ 86,754 $ 402,599 $ 57 $ 5,422 $ 2,442,154

(1) On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated the Revolving Credit Facility, extending its maturity date to March 2026. The amended agreement contains
two six-month extension options subject to certain conditions, including the payment of an extension fee equal to 0.0625% of the revolving commitments.

(2) Interest expense is projected based on the outstanding borrowings and interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2022. This amount includes the impact of
interest rate swap agreements.

(3) We expect to pay tenant improvement allowances out of cash flows from operations or from additional borrowings.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, investment in rental property of $143.3 million and $161.6 million, respectively, was pledged as
collateral against our mortgages.

Additionally, we are a party to two separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of two distinct UPREIT
transactions and a tax protection agreement in connection with the Internalization. The tax protection agreements require us to indemnify
the beneficiaries in the event of a sale, exchange, transfer, or other disposal of the contributed property, and in the case of the tax protection
agreement entered into in connection with the Internalization, the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would cause such
beneficiaries to recognize a gain that is protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. Based on values as of December 31,
2022, taxable sales of the applicable properties would trigger liability under the three agreements of approximately $20.4 million. Based on
information available, we do not believe that the events resulting in damages as detailed above have occurred or are likely to occur in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, we have excluded these commitments from the contractual commitments table above.

In the normal course of business, we enter into various types of commitments to purchase real estate properties. These commitments
are generally subject to our customary due diligence process and, accordingly, a number of specific conditions must be met before we are
obligated to purchase the properties.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We are exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in interest rates on the floating-rate borrowings under our unsecured credit
facilities and a certain mortgage. Borrowings pursuant to our unsecured credit facilities bear interest at floating rates based on the applicable
reference rate plus an applicable margin. Accordingly, fluctuations in market interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense,
which will in turn, increase or decrease our net income and cash flow.

We attempt to manage our interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2022, we had 32 interest rate
swaps outstanding in an aggregate notional amount of $973.8 million. Under these agreements, we receive monthly payments from the
counterparties equal to the related variable interest rates multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. In turn, we pay the counterparties
each month an amount equal to a fixed interest rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net impact of these
transactions is that we pay a fixed interest rate on our variable-rate borrowings. The interest rate swaps have been designated by us as cash
flow hedges for accounting purposes and are reported at fair value. We assess, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness
of our qualifying cash flow hedges. We have not entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for
speculative purposes.

In addition, we own investments in Canada, and as a result are subject to risk from the effects of exchange rate movements in the
Canadian dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows. We funded a significant portion of our Canadian investments through
Canadian dollar borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, which is intended to act as a natural hedge against our Canadian dollar
investments. The Canadian dollar revolving borrowings are remeasured each reporting period, with the unrealized foreign currency gains
and losses flowing through earnings. These unrealized foreign currency gains and losses do not impact our cash flows from operations until
settled, and are expected to directly offset the changes in the value of our net investments as a result of changes in the Canadian dollar. Our
Canadian investments are recorded at their historical exchange rates, and therefore are not impacted by changes in the value of the Canadian
dollar.
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Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $60.0 million, $27.8 million, and $110.7 million at December 31, 2022, 2021,
and 2020, respectively. The table below shows information concerning cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 255,914 $ 244,937 $ 179,028
Net cash used in investing activities (859,643) (582,304) (60,236)
N y get cash provided by (used in) financing activities 636,000 254,408 (28,375)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 32,271 $ (82,959) $ 90,417

The increase in net cash provided by operating activities during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was mainly due to
growth in our real estate portfolio.

The increase in net cash used in investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was mainly due to increased
acquisition volume. The increase in 2021 as compared to 2020 was also driven by a decrease in cash paid in connection with the
Internalization.

The increase in net cash provided by (used in) financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2021, mainly reflects an increase in net proceeds from equity and debt offerings in 2022 to fund growth in our real
estate portfolio. The change in net cash (used in) financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2020, mainly reflects an increase in net proceeds from equity and debt offerings in 2021 to fund growth in our real
estate portfolio.

Non-GAAP Measures

FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO
We compute FFO in accordance with the standards established by the Board of Governors of Nareit, the worldwide representative

voice for REITs and publicly traded real estate companies with an interest in the U.S. real estate and capital markets. Nareit defines FFO as
GAAP net income or loss adjusted to exclude net gains (losses) from sales of certain depreciated real estate assets, depreciation and
amortization expense from real estate assets, gains and losses from change in control, and impairment charges related to certain previously
depreciated real estate assets. FFO is used by management, investors, and analysts to facilitate meaningful comparisons of operating
performance between periods and among our peers, primarily because it excludes the effect of real estate depreciation and amortization and
net gains (losses) on sales, which are based on historical costs and implicitly assume that the value of real estate diminishes predictably over
time, rather than fluctuating based on existing market conditions.

We compute Core FFO by adjusting FFO, as defined by Nareit, to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that we believe
are infrequently recurring, unusual in nature, or not related to its core real estate operations, including write-offs or recoveries of accrued
rental income, lease termination fees, non-cash gains on insurance recoveries, the change in fair value of our earnout liability, cost of debt
extinguishments, unrealized and realized gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, severance, and other extraordinary items.
Exclusion of these items from similar FFO-type metrics is common within the equity REIT industry, and management believes that
presentation of Core FFO provides investors with a metric to assist in their evaluation of our operating performance across multiple periods
and in comparison to the operating performance of our peers, because it removes the effect of unusual items that are not expected to impact
our operating performance on an ongoing basis.

We compute AFFO, by adjusting Core FFO for certain non-cash revenues and expenses, including straight-line rents, amortization
of lease intangibles, amortization of debt issuance costs, amortization of net mortgage premiums, loss (gain) on interest rate swaps and other
non-cash interest expense, realized gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, stock-based compensation, severance, extraordinary
items, and other specified non-cash items. We believe that excluding such items assists management and investors in distinguishing whether
changes in our operations are due to growth or decline of operations at our properties or from other factors. We use AFFO as a measure of
our performance when we formulate corporate goals, and is a factor in determining management compensation. We believe that AFFO is a
useful supplemental measure for investors to consider because it will help them to better assess our operating performance without the
distortions created by non-cash revenues or expenses.

Specific to our adjustment for straight-line rents, our leases include cash rents that increase over the term of the lease to compensate
us for anticipated increases in market rental rates over time. Our leases do not include significant front-loading or back-loading of payments,
or significant rent-free periods. Therefore, we find it useful to evaluate rent on a contractual basis as it allows for comparison of existing
rental rates to market rental rates. In situations where we granted short-term rent deferrals as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and such
deferrals were probable of collection and expected to be repaid within a short term, we continued to recognize the same amount of GAAP
lease revenues each period. Consistent with GAAP lease revenues, the short-term deferrals associated with COVID-19, and the
corresponding payments, did not impact our AFFO.



57

FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO may not be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other REITs, and comparisons of our
FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO with the same or similar measures disclosed by other REITs may not be meaningful.

Neither the SEC nor any other regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments to FFO that we use to
calculate Core FFO and AFFO. In the future, the SEC, Nareit or another regulatory body may decide to standardize the allowable
adjustments across the REIT industry and in response to such standardization we may have to adjust our calculation and characterization of
Core FFO and AFFO accordingly.

The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to FFO, Core FFO and AFFO:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020
Net income $ 129,475 $ 109,528 $ 56,276
Real property depreciation and amortization 154,673 131,999 132,613
Gain on sale of real estate (15,953) (13,523) (14,985)
Provision for impairment on investment in rental properties 5,535 28,208 19,077
FFO $ 273,730 $ 256,212 $ 192,981
Write-off of accrued rental income 1,326 1,938 4,235
Lease termination fee (2,469) (35,000) —
Gain on insurance recoveries (341) — —
Cost of debt extinguishment 308 368 417
Severance 401 1,304 94
Change in fair value of earnout liability — 5,539 (1,800)
Other (income) expenses (5,690) (a) 62 7
Core FFO $ 267,265 $ 230,423 $ 195,934
Straight-line rent adjustment (21,900) (20,304) (24,066)
Adjustment to provision for credit losses (5) (38) (148)
Amortization of debt issuance costs 3,692 3,854 3,445
Amortization of net mortgage premiums (104) (132) (142)
Loss (gain) on interest rate swaps and other non-cash interest expense 2,514 698 (166)
Amortization of lease intangibles (4,809) (3,208) (1,118)
Stock-based compensation 5,316 4,669 1,989
Deferred taxes 204 — —
Internalization expenses — — 3,705
Capital improvements/reserves — — 1,662
AFFO $ 252,173 $ 215,962 $ 181,095

(a) Amount includes $5.6 million of unrealized foreign exchange loss, primarily associated with our CAD denominated revolving borrowings.

EBITDA, EBITDAre, Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre

We compute EBITDA as earnings before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure commonly
used in our industry. We believe that this ratio provides investors and analysts with a measure of our performance that includes our operating
results unaffected by the differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and useful life of related assets compared to other
companies in our industry. We compute EBITDAre in accordance with the definition adopted by Nareit, as EBITDA excluding gains
(losses) from the sales of depreciable property and provisions for impairment on investment in real estate. We believe EBITDA and
EBITDAre are useful to investors and analysts because they provide important supplemental information about our operating performance
exclusive of certain non-cash and other costs. EBITDA and EBITDAre are not measures of financial performance under GAAP, and our
EBITDA and EBITDAre may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our EBITDA
and EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP.

We are focused on a disciplined and targeted acquisition strategy, together with active asset management that includes selective sales
of properties. We manage our leverage profile using a ratio of Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, each discussed further below,
which we believe is a useful measure of our ability to repay debt and a relative measure of leverage, and is used in communications with
our lenders and rating agencies regarding our credit rating. As we fund new acquisitions using our unsecured Revolving Credit Facility, our
leverage profile and Net Debt will be immediately impacted by current quarter acquisitions. However, the full benefit of EBITDAre from
newly acquired properties will not be received in the same quarter in which the properties are acquired. Additionally, EBITDAre for the
quarter includes amounts generated by properties that have been sold during the quarter. Accordingly, the variability in EBITDAre caused
by the timing of our acquisitions and dispositions can temporarily distort our leverage ratios. We adjust EBITDAre (“Adjusted EBITDAre”)
for the most recently completed quarter (i) to recalculate as if all acquisitions and dispositions had occurred at the beginning of the quarter,
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(ii) to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that are either non-cash, such as cost of debt extinguishments, realized or
unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, or the change in fair value of our earnout liability, or that we believe are one
time, or unusual in nature because they relate to unique circumstances or transactions that had not previously occurred and which we do not
anticipate occurring in the future, and (iii) to eliminate the impact of lease termination fees and other items that are not a result of normal
operations. We then annualize quarterly Adjusted EBITDAre by multiplying it by four (“Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre”). You should
not unduly rely on this measure as it is based on assumptions and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. Our actual reported EBITDAre
for future periods may be significantly different from our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre. Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted
EBITDAre are not measurements of performance under GAAP, and our Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized
Adjusted EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP.

The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to EBITDA, EBITDAre, and Adjusted
EBITDAre. Information is also presented with respect to Annualized EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre:

For the Three Months Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Net income $ 36,773 $ 32,226 $ 17,619
Depreciation and amortization 45,606 33,476 30,182
Interest expense 23,773 16,997 17,123
Income taxes 105 457 (141)
EBITDA $ 106,257 $ 83,156 $ 64,783
Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties — 207 1,678
Gain on sale of real estate (10,625) (3,732) (5,260)
EBITDAre $ 95,632 $ 79,631 $ 61,201
Adjustment for current quarter acquisition activity (1) 1,283 2,002 1,703
Adjustment for current quarter disposition activity (2) (440) (180) (318)
Adjustment to exclude non-recurring expenses (income) (3) — — 182
Adjustment to exclude change in fair value of earnout liability — — 6,706
Adjustment to exclude write-off of accrued rental income — — 242
Adjustment to exclude gain on insurance recoveries (341) — —
Adjustment to exclude realized/unrealized foreign exchange loss 796 — —
Adjustment to exclude cost of debt extinguishments 77 — —

jAdjustment to exclude lease termination fees (1,678) — —
Adjjd usted EBITDAre $ 95,329 $ 81,453 $ 69,716
Annualized EBITDAre $ 382,528 $ 318,526 $ 244,805

jAnnualized Adjusted EBITDAre $ 381,316 $ 325,812 $ 278,867
(1) Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all acquisitions during the quarter as if they had been acquired as of the beginning of the quarter.
(2) Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all dispositions during the quarter as if they had been sold as of the beginning of the quarter.
(3) Amounts represent expense directly associated with the Internalization.

Net Debt, Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre

We define Net Debt as gross debt (total reported debt plus debt issuance costs) less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. We
believe that the presentation of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre is useful to investors
and analysts because these ratios provide information about gross debt less cash and cash equivalents, which could be used to repay debt,
compared to our performance as measured using EBITDAre, and is used in communications with lenders and rating agencies regarding our
credit rating. The following table reconciles total debt (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to Net Debt, and presents the ratio
of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, respectively:
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As of December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Debt
Unsecured revolving credit facility $ 197,322 $ 102,000
Unsecured term loans, net 894,692 646,671
Senior unsecured notes, net 844,555 843,801
Mortgages, net 86,602 96,846
Debt issuance costs 10,905 9,842
Gross Debt 2,034,076 1,699,160
Cash and cash equivalents (21,789) (21,669)
Restricted cash (38,251) (6,100)
Net Debt $ 1,974,036 $ 1,671,391
Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre 5.2x 5.3x

jNet Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 5.2x 5.1x

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses as well as other disclosures in the financial
statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and assumptions; however, actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions, which in
turn could have a material impact on our financial statements. A summary of our significant accounting policies and procedures are included
in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, contained in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more
significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Investment in Rental Property

Rental property accounted for under operating leases is recorded at cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases
and sales-type are recorded at its net investment, which generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease.

We account for acquisitions of real estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805,
Business Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets.

We allocate the purchase price of investments in rental property accounted for as asset acquisitions based on the relative fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These generally include tangible assets, consisting of land and land improvements, buildings
and other improvements, and equipment, and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, including the value of in-place leases and acquired
above-market and below-market leases.

We use multiple sources to estimate fair value, including information obtained about each property as a result of our pre-acquisition
due diligence and our marketing and leasing activities. Factors that impact our fair value determination include real estate market conditions,
industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and/or real estate appraisals. Changes in any of these
factors could impact the future purchase prices of our investments and the corresponding capitalization rates recognized.

The estimated fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant. The
as-if-vacant value is then allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on comparable sales and other relevant
information with respect to the property, as estimated by management. Specifically, the “if vacant” value of buildings and equipment is
calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to value the buildings include: capitalization and discount
rates, lease-up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and land improvement value.

The estimated fair value of acquired in-place leases are the costs we would have had to incur to lease the properties to the occupancy
level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value of leasing commissions and other operating costs that
would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to their acquired occupancy level. Acquired in-place leases as of
the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non-cancellable lease terms of the respective leases to amortization expense.

Acquired above-market and below-market lease values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the
risks associated with the lease acquired) of the differences between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and
management’s estimate of fair market value lease rates at the time of acquisition for the corresponding in-place leases. The capitalizedaa
above-market and below-market lease values are amortized as adjustments to rental income over the remaining term of the respective leases.

Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgages based upon indications of then-current market pricing for similar types
of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption date, and the
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difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding principal balance is amortized to interest expense over the remaining
term of the debt.

Long-lived Asset Impairment

We review long-lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the
extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the
use of the long-lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating income, as adjusted
for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by
which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds the fair value. Significant judgment is made to determine if and
when impairment should be taken. Management’s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2022 was based on the most current
information available to management. Certain of our properties may have fair values less than their carrying amounts. However, based on
management’s plans with respect to each of those properties, we believe that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no
impairment charges were recognized other than those described below. If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if our
expected holding period for assets changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future.

Inputs used in establishing fair value for real estate assets generally fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are
characterized as requiring significant judgment as little or no current market activity may be available for validation. The main indicator
used to establish the classification of the inputs is current market conditions, as derived through the use of published commercial real estate
market information. We determine the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash
flow analysis, income capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales transactions, actual sales negotiations, and bona fide purchase
offers received from third parties. We may consider a single valuation technique or multiple valuation techniques, as appropriate, when
estimating the fair value of our real estate.

The following table summarizes our impairment charges resulting primarily from changes in our long-term hold strategy with respect
to the individual properties:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except number of properties) 2022 2021 2020
Number of properties 3 7 7
Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 12,721 $ 48,604 $ 55,674
Fair value 7,186 20,396 36,597

gImpairment charge $ 5,535 $ 28,208 $ 19,077

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination and it assigned to one or more reporting units. We evaluate goodwill for impairment when an
event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least annually. Our annual testing date
is November 30.

The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative or quantitative approach. Under a qualitative approach,
the impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-not that the reporting unit’s fair value is less
than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a qualitative approach indicates it is more likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value of
a reporting unit (including goodwill) exceeds its fair value, or if we choose to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the quantitative
approach described below.

When we perform a quantitative test of goodwill for impairment, we compare the carrying value of a reporting unit with its fair value.
If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, we do not consider goodwill to be impaired and no further analysis would
be required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount of goodwill impairment equals the amount by which
the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill.

Management determined that we have one reporting unit, consistent with our segment reporting analysis, which includes the
acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i.e., the consolidated entity). When necessary to perform the quantitative test
for goodwill impairment, our estimate of fair value is determined using a market approach, leveraging assumptions such as the fair value of
our equity, and consideration of a control premium, if necessary, which includes an analysis of similar market transactions. While we believe
the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of our reporting unit are reasonable, changes in these assumptions may have a material
impact on our financial results. Based on the results of our annual goodwill impairment test on November 30, 2022, our annual goodwill
impairment test date, we concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

Revenue Recognition

We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases. We commence revenue recognition on our leases based on a number of
factors, including the initial determination that the contract is or contains a lease. Generally, all of our property related contracts are or
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contain leases, and therefore revenue is recognized when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased assets. In
most instances this occurs on the lease commencement date. At the time of lease assumption or at the inception of a new lease, including
new leases that arise from amendments, we assess the terms and conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification.

A lease is classified as an operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of
the lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part of the
economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that
is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and (v) the leased
property is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease term. If
one or more of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales-type lease, unless the lease contains a residual value
guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be classified as a direct financing lease under certain circumstances.

We account for the right to use land as a separate lease component, unless the accounting effect of doing so would be insignificant.
Determination of significance requires management judgment. In determining whether the accounting effect of separately reporting the land
component from other components for its real estate leases is significant, we assess: (i) whether separating the land component impacts the
classification of any lease component, (ii) the value of the land component in the context of the overall contract, and (iii) whether the right
to use the land is coterminous with the rights to use the other assets.

Lease Termination Fee Income

The Company recognizes lease termination fee income as other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues,
net, when all conditions of the termination agreement have been met, and collection of the lease termination fee is probable. If the tenant
immediately vacates the property upon satisfying the conditions of the termination agreement, the Company recognizes the lease termination
fee income net of accrued rental income associated with the lease immediately, as other income from real estate transactions, a component
of Lease revenues, net, in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Forward Sale Agreements

The Company occasionally sells shares of common stock through forward sale agreements to enable the Company to set the price of
such shares upon pricing the offering (subject to certain adjustments) while delaying the issuance of such shares and the receipt of the net
proceeds by the Company. To account for the forward sale agreements, the Company considers the accounting guidance governing financial
instruments and derivatives. To date, the Company has concluded that its forward sale agreements are not liabilities as they do not embody
obligations to repurchase its shares nor do they embody obligations to issue a variable number of shares for which the monetary value is
predominantly fixed, varying with something other than the fair value of the shares, or varying inversely in relation to its shares. The
Company then evaluates whether the agreements meet the derivatives and hedging guidance scope exception to be accounted for as equity
instruments. The Company has concluded that the agreements are classifiable as equity contracts based on the following assessments: (i)
none of the agreements’ exercise contingencies are based on observable markets or indices besides those related to the market for the
Company’s own stock price and operations; and (ii) none of the settlement provisions preclude the agreements from being indexed to its
own stock. The Company also considers the potential dilution resulting from the forward sale agreements on the earnings per share
calculations. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilution resulting from the forward sale agreements during the
period of time prior to settlement.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Management uses interest rate swap agreements to manage risks related to interest rate movements. Management documents its risk
management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during the term of, each hedge. Our interest rate risk management
strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swap agreements to convert certain variable-rate debt
to a fixed rate.

The interest rate swap agreements, designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, are reported at fair value. Interest rate swaps are
measured at fair value using inputs that are directly observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy,
using an income approach. Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the
expected future cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield curves and implied volatilities
to determine the market’s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable components of the interest
rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the overnight indexed swap (“OIS”) curve and are
aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the peff riod. The Company also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect
both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. Although the
Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy,
the credit valuation adjustments associated with its interest rate swaps utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to
evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has assessed the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the
credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company has determined that its interest rate swap
valuations in their entirety are appropriately classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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When an existing cash flow hedge is terminated, we determine the accounting treatment for the accumulated gain or loss recognized
in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), based on the probability of the hedged forecasted transaction occurring within the
period the cash flow hedge was anticipated to affect earnings. If management determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is probable
of occurring during the original period, the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings over the remaining life of the cash flow
hedge using a straight-line method. If management determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring during
the original period, the entire amount of accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings at such time.

Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information on the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our business, see the captions Recently Adopted Accounting
Standards and Other Recently Issued Accounting Standards in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks, one of the most predominant of which is a change in interest rates. Increases in interest rates
can result in increased interest expense under our Revolving Credit Facility and other variable-rate debt. Increases in interest rates can also
result in increased interest expense when our fixed rate debt matures and needs to be refinanced. We attempt to manage interest rate risk by
entering into long-term fixed rate debt or by entering into interest rate swaps to convert certain variable-rate debt to a fixed rate. The interest
rate swaps have been designated by us as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and are reported at fair value. We have not entered, and
do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Further information concerning our interest rate
swaps can be found in Note 11 in our Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our fixed-rate debt includes our senior unsecured notes, mortgages, and variable-rate debt converted to a fixed rate with the use of
interest rate swaps. Our fixed-rate debt and outstanding interest rate swaps had carrying values and fair values of approximately $1.9 billion
and $1.7 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. Changes in market interest rates impact the fair value of our fixed-rate debt and
interest rate swaps, but they have no impact on interest incurred or on cash flows. For instance, if interest rates were to increase 1%, and
the fixed-rate debt balance were to remain constant, we would expect the fair value of our debt to decrease, similar to how the price of a
bond decreases as interest rates rise. A 1% increase in market interest rates would have resulted in a decrease in the fair value of our fixed-
rate debt and interest rate swaps of approximately $75.8 million as of December 31, 2022.

Borrowings pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility and other variable-rate debt bear interest at rates based on applicable reference
rate plus an applicable margin, and totaled $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2022, of which $973.8 million was swapped to a fixed rate by
our use of interest rate swaps. Taking into account the effect of our interest rate swaps, a 1% increase in interest rates would have a
corresponding $1.2 million increase in interest expense annually, while a 1% decrease in interest rates would have a corresponding $1.2
million decrease in interest expense annually.

With the exception of our interest rate swap transactions, we have not engaged in transactions in derivative financial instruments orff
derivative commodity instruments.

As of December 31, 2022, our financial instruments were not exposed to significant market risk due to foreign currency exchange
risk.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as ofWe have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity andDecember 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and

y ymezzanine equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and the schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly,

yin all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its
y y g g ycash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America.

y g gWe have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in dInternal Control — Integrated
FFramework (2013) y g g y yissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23,

y g2023, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

y y g yThese financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
y g gCompany’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be

y gindependent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
robtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our

gaudits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts

g g gand disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
y g gmade by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical
audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Investment in rental property — Refer to Notes 2 and 5 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company acquired $878.4 million of real estate, excluding capitalized acquisition costs. The
Company accounts for acquisitions of real estate as asset acquisitions. For acquired properties accounted for using the operating method,
the Company allocates the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair
value. Acquisition costs are capitalized and included with the allocated purchase price. The Company uses multiple sources to estimate fair
value. Factors that impact estimates of fair value include real estate market conditions, industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and
characteristics of the real estate and/or real estate appraisals.

We identified the allocation of purchase price as a critical audit matter because of management’s significant estimates utilized to estimate
the relative fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. This required a high degree of auditor judgment
and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our fair value specialists.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the AuditHH

Our audit procedures related to the allocation of purchase price for investments in rental property accounted for using the operating method
included the following, among others:

We obtained an understanding and tested the design and operating effectiveness over the Company’s controls to allocate the
purchase price of investments in real estate, including controls over management’s evaluation of inputs and assumptions used
in the valuation estimates.

For each acquisition, we obtained and evaluated the third-party purchase price allocation report, along with relevant supporting
documentation, such as the executed purchase and sale agreement.

For each real estate acquisition, we compared the purchase price allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets and
liabilities to the Company’s historical allocation percentages for similar types of properties, identifying outliers for further
investigation.

With the assistance of our fair value specialists, on a sample basis, we evaluated the reasonableness of the valuation
methodology and significant assumptions used in the third-party purchase price allocation report, including comparing the key
inputs used in the purchase price allocation to external market sources.

Evaluation of long-lived asset impairment —Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s evaluation of long-lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment involves an initial assessment to determine
whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or
changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the long-lived asset and its eventual disposition. An impairment
loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds its estimated fair value.

We identified the evaluation of long-lived asset impairment as a critical audit matter because of the significant estimates and assumptions
management utilizes to identify whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred indicating that the carrying value of the long-
lived asset may not be recoverable, and, when applicable, the significant estimates and assumptions utilized to evaluate the long-lived asset
for recoverability, including probabilities of outcomes, estimates of the hold or sell strategy, projected rental rates, and estimated disposition
proceeds. Auditing these estimates and assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the significant estimates and assumptions utilized by management to identify whether events or changes in
circumstances have occurred indicating that the carrying value of the long-lived asset may not be recoverable and, when applicable, the
significant estimates and assumptions utilized to evaluate the long-lived asset for recoverability included the following, among others:

We obtained an understanding and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s controls to monitor long-
lived assets for events or changes in circumstances that indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable, and, when
applicable, the Company’s controls over the undiscounted cash flow recoverability estimates, including the estimated hold or
sell strategy, projected rental rates, and estimated disposition proceeds.

We evaluated the completeness and reasonableness of the Company’s criteria to identify long-lived assets with indicators of
impairment, including assessing the methodologies applied and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data
utilized.

We compared the Company’s undiscounted cash flow recoverability estimates and assumptions, including estimated hold or
sell strategy, projected rental rates and estimated disposition proceeds to historical results and external market sources to
evaluate the reasonableness. In addition, we performed procedures to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the data utilized
in management’s recoverability estimates.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Rochester, New York
February 23, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
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Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,
2022 2021

Assets
Accounted for using the operating method:
Land $ 768,667 $ 655,374
Land improvements 340,385 295,329
Buildings and improvements 3,888,756 3,242,618
q pEquipment 10,422 11,870

Total accounted for using the operating method 5,008,230 4,205,191
Less accumulated depreciation (533,965) (430,141)
Accounted for using the operating method, net 4,474,265 3,775,050
Accounted for using the direct financing method 27,045 28,782
Accounted for using the sales-type method 571 571
Investment in rental property, net 4,501,881 3,804,403

Cash and cash equivalents 21,789 21,669
Accrued rental income 135,666 116,874
Tenant and other receivables, net 1,349 1,310
Prepaid expenses and other assets 49,661 17,275
Interest rate swap, assets 63,390 —
Goodwill 339,769 339,769
Intangible lease assets, net 329,585 303,642
Debt issuance costs – unsecured revolving credit facility, net 6,013 4,065
Leasing fees, net 8,506 9,641

Total assets $ 5,457,609 $ 4,618,648

Liabilities and equity
Unsecured revolving credit facility $ 197,322 $ 102,000
Mortgages, net 86,602 96,846
Unsecured term loans, net 894,692 646,671
Senior unsecured notes, net 844,555 843,801
Interest rate swap, liabilities — 27,171
Accounts payable and other liabilities 47,547 38,038
Dividends payable 54,460 45,914
Accrued interest payable 7,071 6,473
Intangible lease liabilities, net 62,855 70,596

Total liabilities 2,195,104 1,877,510

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 19)

Equity
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 20,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
or outstanding — —

Common stock, $0.00025 par value; 500,000 shares authorized, 186,114 and 162,383 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 47 41

Additional paid-in capital 3,419,395 2,924,168
Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings (386,049) (318,476)

p ( )Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 59,525 (28,441)
Total Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. stockholders’ equity 3,092,918 2,577,292
Non-controlling interests 169,587 163,846
Total equity 3,262,505 2,741,138

qTotal liabilities and equity $ 5,457,609 $ 4,618,648

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



68

Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Revenues
Lease revenues, net $ 407,513 $ 382,876 $ 321,637

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization 154,807 132,096 132,685
Property and operating expense 21,773 18,459 17,478
General and administrative 37,375 36,366 27,988
Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 5,535 28,208 19,077
Asset management fees — — 2,461
Property management fees — — 1,275
Total operating expenses 219,490 215,129 200,964

Other income (expenses)
Interest income 44 17 24
Interest expense (78,652) (64,146) (76,138)
Cost of debt extinguishment (308) (368) (417)
Gain on sale of real estate 15,953 13,523 14,985
Income taxes (1,275) (1,644) (939)
Internalization expenses — — (3,705)
Change in fair value of earnout liabilitytt — (5,539) 1,800
Other income (expenses) 5,690 (62) (7)
Net income 129,475 109,528 56,276
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests (7,360) (7,102) (5,095)

Net income attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 122,115 $ 102,426 $ 51,181

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 169,840 153,057 117,150
Diluted 180,201 163,970 128,799
Net earnings per share attributable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted $ 0.72 $ 0.67 $ 0.44

Comprehensive income
Net income $ 129,475 $ 109,528 $ 56,276
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 90,560 39,353 (50,544)
Realized loss (gain) on interest rate swaps 2,514 698 (166)
Comprehensive income 222,549 149,579 5,566
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (12,700) (9,831) (554)
Comprehensive income attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 209,849 $ 139,748 $ 5,012

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating activities
Net income $ 129,475 $ 109,528 $ 56,276
Adjustments to reconcile net income including non-controlling interest to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization including intangibles associated with
investment in rental property 149,998 128,888 131,568

Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 5,535 28,208 19,077
Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issuance discounts charged to interest expense 3,588 3,721 3,303
Stock-based compensation expense 5,316 4,669 1,989
Straight-line rent, direct financing and sales-type lease adjustments (20,494) (18,362) (19,817)
Cost of debt extinguishment 308 368 417
Gain on sale of real estate (15,953) (13,523) (14,985)
Change in fair value of earnout liability — 5,539 (1,800)
Cash paid for earnout liability — (6,440) —
Settlement of interest rate swaps — (5,580) —
Other non-cash items (2,166) 1,454 457
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:

Tenant and other receivables 659 776 (670)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 199 350 (3,868)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (1,149) 2,891 6,652
Accrued interest payable 598 2,450 429

Net cash provided by operating activities 255,914 244,937 179,028
Investing activities
Acquisition of rental property accounted for using the operating method (884,770) (665,030) (94,808)
Acquisition of rental property accounted for using the sales-type method — — (574)
Cash paid for Internalization — — (30,861)
Capital expenditures and improvements (31,374) (1,598) (10,806)
Proceeds from disposition of rental property, net 56,438 83,812 77,513
Change in deposits on investments in rental property 63 512 (700)
Net cash used in investing activities (859,643) (582,304) (60,236)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and Class A common stock, net of $7,492, $12,270
and $40,674 of offering costs, discounts, and commissions in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively 495,566 280,356 588,457
Repurchase of fractional shares of common stock and OP Units — — (126)
Borrowings on mortgages, senior unsecured notes and unsecured term loans 500,000 381,810 60,000
Principal payments on mortgages and unsecured term loans (260,303) (332,874) (394,666)
Borrowings on unsecured revolving credit facility 900,283 356,600 192,000
Repayments on unsecured revolving credit facility (800,000) (254,600) (389,300)
Cash distributions paid to stockholders (181,224) (154,459) (71,532)
Cash distributions paid to non-controlling interests (11,312) (11,302) (7,079)
Cash paid for earnout liability — (6,608) —
Debt issuance and extinguishment costs paid (7,010) (4,515) (6,129)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 636,000 254,408 (28,375)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 32,271 (82,959) 90,417
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 27,769 110,728 20,311
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 60,040 $ 27,769 $ 110,728
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $ 21,669 $ 100,486 $ 12,455
Restricted cash at beginning of period 6,100 10,242 7,856
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period $ 27,769 $ 110,728 $ 20,311

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 21,789 $ 21,669 $ 100,486
Restricted cash at end of period 38,251 6,100 10,242

q pCash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 60,040 $ 27,769 $ 110,728

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020

1. Business Description

Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a Maryland corporation formed on October 18, 2007, that elected to be taxed as a real
estate investment trust (“REIT”) commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2008. The Corporation focuses on investing in
income-producing, net leased commercial properties, primarily in the United States. The Corporation leases industrial, healthcare,
restaurant, retail, and office commercial properties under long-term lease agreements. At December 31, 2022, the Corporation owned a
diversified portfolio of 804 individual commercial properties with 797 properties located in 44 U.S. states and seven properties located
in four Canadian provinces.

Broadstone Net Lease, LLC (the Corporation’s operating company, or the “OP”), is the entity through which the Corporation conducts
its business and owns (either directly or through subsidiaries) all of the Corporation’s properties. The Corporation is the sole managing
member of the OP. The remaining membership units in the OP (“OP Units”), which are referred to as non-controlling interests, are held
by members who were issued OP Units pursuant to the Internalization (defined below) or in exchange for their interests in properties
acquired by the OP. As the Corporation conducts substantially all of its operations through the OP, it is structured as what is referred to
as an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust (“UPREIT”). The Corporation, the OP, and its consolidated subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “Company.”

Prior to February 7, 2020, the Corporation was externally managed by Broadstone Real Estate, LLC (“BRE”) and Broadstone Asset
Management, LLC (the “Asset Manager”) subject to the direction, oversight, and approval of the Company’s board of directors (the
“Board of Directors”). The Asset Manager was a wholly owned subsidiary of BRE and all of the Corporation’s officers were employees
of BRE. Accordingly, both BRE and the Asset Manager were related parties of the Company. Refer to Note 3 for further discussion
concerning related parties and related party transactions.

On February 7, 2020, the Corporation, the OP, BRE, and certain of their respective subsidiaries and affiliates completed through a series
of mergers (the “Mergers”) the internalization of the external management functions previously performed for the Corporation and the
OP by BRE and the Asset Manager (such transactions, collectively, the “Internalization”). Upon consummation of the Internalization,
the Company’s management team and corporate staff, who were previously employed by BRE, became employees of an indirect
subsidiary of the OP and the Company became internally managed. Upon Internalization, the prior Property Management Agreement
and Asset Management Agreement (defined in Note 3) were terminated. The Internalization was not considered a “Termination Event”
under the terms of either agreement and therefore no fees were paid under them as a result of the Internalization.

On September 18, 2020, the Corporation effected a four-for-one stock split on its then outstanding 26,943,587 shares of common stock
(“Common Stock”) that previously had a $0.001 par value. Concurrent with the stock split, the OP effected a four-for-one stock split of
its outstanding OP Units. No fractional shares or OP Units were issued as a result of the stock split. All historic share and per share
amounts in these Consolidated Financial Statements have been adjusted to give retroactive effect to the stock split.

On September 21, 2020, the Corporation completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) and issued an aggregate of 37,000,000 shares of
a new class of common stock, $0.00025 par value per share (“Class A Common Stock”) at $17.00 per share, which includes shares
issued pursuant to the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option on October 20, 2020, pursuant to a registration
statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-240381), as amended, under the Securities Act of 1933. Shares of Class A Common Stock were
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “BNL.” OnMarch 20, 2021, each share of Class A Common Stock
automatically converted into one share of Common Stock, and effective March 22, 2021, all shares of Common Stock were listed and
freely tradeable on the NYSE under the symbol “BNL.” See Note 14.

The following table summarizes the outstanding equity and economic ownership interest of the Corporation and the OP:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

(in thousands)

Shares of
Common
Stock

OP
Units

Total
Diluted
Shares

Shares of
Common
Stock

OP
Units

Total
Diluted
Shares

Shares of
Common
Stock

OP
Units

Total
Diluted
Shares

Ownership interest 186,114 10,205 196,319 162,383 10,323 172,706 145,609 11,399 157,008
Percent Ownership
of OP 94.8% 5.2% 100.0% 94.0% 6.0% 100.0% 92.7% 7.3% 100.0%

Refer to Note 16 for further discussion regarding the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts and operations of the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

To the extent the Corporation has a variable interest in entities that are not evaluated under the variable interest entity (“VIE”) model,
the Corporation evaluates its interests using the voting interest entity model. The Corporation has complete responsibility for the day-
to-day management of, authority to make decisions for, and control of the OP. Based on consolidation guidance, the Corporation has
concluded that the OP is a VIE as the members in the OP do not possess kick-out rights or substantive participating rights. Accordingly,
the Corporation consolidates its interest in the OP. However, because the Corporation holds the majority voting interest in the OP and
certain other conditions are met, it qualifies for the exemption from providing certain disclosure requirements associated with
investments in VIEs.

The portion of the OP not owned by the Corporation is presented as non-controlling interests as of and during the periods presented.

Basis of Accounting

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates include, but
are not limited to, the allocation of purchase price between tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the value of
long-lived assets and goodwill, the provision for impairment, the depreciable lives of rental property, the amortizable lives of intangible
assets and liabilities, the probability of collecting outstanding and future lease payments, the fair value of the earnout liability, the fair
value of assumed debt, the fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap agreements, and the determination of any uncertain tax
positions. Accordingly, actual results may differ from those estimates.

Investment in Rental Property

Rental property accounted for under operating leases is recorded at cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases and
sales-type leases are recorded at its net investment, which generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease.

The Company accounts for its acquisitions of real estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The Company allocates the purchase price of investments in rental property accounted for as asset acquisitions based on the relative fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These generally include tangible assets, consisting of land and land improvements,
buildings and other improvements, and equipment, and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, including the value of in-place leases
and acquired above-market and below-market leases. Acquisition costs incurred in connection with investments in real estate accounted
for as asset acquisitions are capitalized and included with the allocated purchase price. The results of operations of acquired properties
are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income from the respective date of acquisition.

Estimated fair value determinations are based on management’s judgment, which considers various factors including real estate market
conditions, industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and/or real estate appraisals.

The estimated fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant. The as-
if-vacant value is then allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on comparable sales and other relevant
information with respect to the property as estimated by management. Specifically, the “if vacant” value of buildings and equipment is
calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to value the buildings include: capitalization and
discount rates, lease-up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and land improvement value.

The estimated fair value of acquired in-place leases are the costs that the Company would have had to incur to lease the properties to
the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value of leasing commissions and other
operating costs that would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to their acquired occupancy level. Acquired
in-place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non-cancellable lease terms of the respective leases to
amortization expense.
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Acquired above-market and below-market lease values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the
risks associated with the lease acquired) of the differences between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases
and management’s estimate of fair market value lease rates at the time of acquisition for the corresponding in-place leases. The
capitalized above-market and below-market lease values are amortized as adjustments to lease revenue over the remaining term of the
respective leases.

Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value is charged to amortization expense and the
unamortized portion of above-market or below-market lease value is charged to lease revenue.

Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgages payable based upon indications of then-current market pricing for similar
types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption date,
and the difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding principal balance is amortized to interest expense over
the remaining term of the debt.

Expenditures for significant betterments and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when
incurred.

Long-lived Asset Impairment

The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment
exists to the extent the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use of the long-lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating
income, as adjusted for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment loss is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. Significant judgment
is made to determine if and when impairment should be taken. The Company’s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2022,
2021, and 2020, was based on the most current information available to the Company. Certain of the Company’s properties may have
fair values less than their carrying amounts. However, based on the Company’s plans with respect to each of those properties, the
Company believes that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no impairment charges were recognized other than those
described below. If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if the Company’s expected holding period for assets
changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future.

Inputs used in establishing fair value for real estate assets generally fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are characterized
as requiring significant judgment as little or no current market activity may be available for validation. The main indicator used to
establish the classification of the inputs is current market conditions, as derived through the use of published commercial real estate
market information. The Company determines the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted valuation techniques including
discounted cash flow analysis, income capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales transactions, actual sales negotiations, and
bona fide purchase offers received from third parties. Management may consider a single valuation technique or multiple valuation
techniques, as appropriate, when estimating the fair value of its real estate.

The following table summarizes the Company’s impairment charges, resulting primarily from changes in the Company's long-term hold
strategy with respect to the individual properties:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

(in thousands, except number of pff roperties) 2022 2021 2020
Number of properties 3 7 7

gImpairment charge $ 5,535 $ 28,208 $ 19,077

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company executed an early lease termination with an office tenant on two properties in
exchange for a fee of $35.0 million, and simultaneously sold the underlying properties to an unrelated third party for aggregate gross
proceeds of $16.0 million. As the sale of the underlying properties was to an unrelated third party, the Company accounted for the lease
termination income and sale of properties as separate transactions in accordance with GAAP. As a result, the $35.0 million cash receipt
was not able to be factored into the properties’ future undiscounted cash flows, resulting in a $25.7 million impairment charge in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The Company recognized termination fee income of $33.5 million as
other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. The net impact of the lease termination and the sale of the underlying properties was a $4.0 million increase to
net income after considering certain other adjustments. Remaining impairments recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021
were immaterial.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, impairment indicators primarily included changes in the Company’s long-term hold strategy
with respect to the individual properties, which was due in part to unfavorable market trends resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic in
geographic areas where the Company had vacant properties marketed for re-lease or sale.

Impairments recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022 were immaterial.
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Investments in Rental Property Held for Sale

The Company classifies investments in rental property as held for sale when all of the following criteria are met: (i) management
commits to a plan to sell the property, (ii) the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of investment properties, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and conduct other actions required
to complete the sale has been initiated, (iv) the sale of the property is probable in occurrence and is expected to qualify as a completed
sale, (v) the property is actively marketed for sale at a sale price that is reasonable in relation to its fair value, and (vi) actions required
to complete the sale indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will be made or that the plan to sell will be withdrawn.

For properties classified as held for sale, the Company suspends depreciation and amortization of the related assets, including the
acquired in-place lease and above- or below-market lease intangibles, as well as straight-line revenue recognition of the associated lease,
and records the investment in rental property at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The assets and liabilities associated with the
properties classified as held for sale are presented separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the most recent reporting period.
At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not have any properties that met the held for sale criteria.

Sales of Real Estate

Under ASC 610-20, Other Income – Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets, the Company’s sales of real
estate are generally considered to be sales to non-customers, requiring the Company to identify each distinct non-financial asset promised
to the buyer. The Company determines whether the buyer obtains control of the non-financial assets, achieved through the transfer of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the non-financial assets. If control is transferred to the buyer, the Company derecognizes the asset.

If the Company determines that it did not transfer control of the non-financial assets to the buyer, the Company analyzes the contract
for separate performance obligations and allocates a portion of the sales price to each performance obligation. As performance
obligations are satisfied, the Company recognizes the respective income in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income.

The Company presents discontinued operations if disposals of properties represent a strategic shift in operations. Those strategic shifts
would need to have a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results in order to meet the definition. For the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company did not have property dispositions that qualified as discontinued operations.

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are as follows:

Land improvements 15 years
Buildings and improvements 15 to 39 years
Equipment y7 years

Leasing Fees

Leasing fees represent costs incurred to lease properties to tenants and are capitalized as they are incremental costs of a lease that would
not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained. Leasing fees are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the
lease to which they relate, which range from 4 to 25 years.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original maturity at date of acquisition of three months or less, including
money market funds. The Company estimates that the fair value of cash equivalents approximates the carrying value due to the relatively
short maturity of these instruments.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes escrow funds the Company maintains pursuant to the terms of certain mortgages, lease agreements, and
undistributed proceeds from the sale of properties under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
and is reported within Prepaid expenses and other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Restricted cash consisted of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Escrow funds and other $ 4,812 $ 6,100
Undistributed 1031 proceeds 33,439 —

$ 38,251 $ 6,100

Revenue Recognition

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”). The Company commences revenue recognition
on its leases based on a number of factors, including the initial determination that the contract is or contains a lease. Generally, all of
the Company’s property related contracts are or contain leases, and therefore revenue is recognized when the lessee takes possession of
or controls the physical use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on the lease commencement date. At the time of lease
assumption or at the inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and
conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification.

Certain of the Company’s leases require tenants to pay rent based upon a percentage of the property’s net sales (“percentage rent”) or
contain rent escalators indexed to future changes in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). Lease income associated with such provisions,
absent the existence of a floor, are considered variable lease income and are not included in the initial measurement of the lease
receivable, or in the calculation of straight-line rent revenue. Such amounts are recognized as income when the amounts are
determinable.

A lease is classified as an operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the
lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part of the
economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee
that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and (v) the
leased property is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease
term. If one or more of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales-type lease, unless the lease contains a
residual value guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be classified as a direct financing lease under
certain circumstances. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842, a lease that was not an operating lease would be accounted for as a direct
financing lease.

The Company accounts for the right to use land as a separate lease component, unless the accounting effect of doing so would be
insignificant. Determination of significance requires management judgment. In determining whether the accounting effect of separately
reporting the land component from other components for its real estate leases is significant, the Company assesses: (i) whether separating
the land component impacts the classification of any lease component, (ii) the value of the land component in the context of the overall
contract, and (iii) whether the right to use the land is coterminous with the rights to use the other assets.

Revenue recognition methods for operating leases, direct financing leases, and sales-type leases are described below:

Rental property accounted for under operating leases – Revenue is recognized as rents are earned on a straight-line basis over the
non-cancelable terms of the related leases. For leases that have fixed and measurable rent escalations and collectability of the lease
payments is probable, the difference between such rental income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is
recorded as Accrued rental income on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. If the Company determines that collectability of the lease
payments is not probable, the Company records an adjustment to Lease revenues, net to reduce cumulative income recognized
since lease commencement to the amount of cash collected from the lessee. Future revenue recognition is limited to amounts paid
by the lessee.

Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases – The Company utilizes the direct finance method of accounting to
record direct financing lease income. The net investment in the direct financing lease represents receivables for the sum of future
lease payments to be received and the estimated residual value of the leased property, less unamortized unearned income (which
represents the difference between undiscounted cash flows and discounted cash flows). Unearned income is deferred and
amortized into income over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the Company’s net investment
in the leases.

Rental property accounted for under sales-type leases – For leases accounted for as sales-type leases, the Company records selling
profit arising from the lease at inception, along with the net investment in the lease. The Company leases assets through the
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assumption of existing leases or through sale-leaseback transactions, and records such assets at their fair value at the time of
acquisition, which in most cases coincides with lease inception. As a result, the Company does not generally recognize selling
profit on sales-type leases. The net investment in the sales-type lease represents receivables for the sum of future lease payments
and the estimated unguaranteed residual value of the leased property, each measured at net present value. Interest income is
recorded over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the Company’s net investment in the leases.

Certain of the Company’s lease contracts contain nonlease components (e.g., charges for management fees, common area maintenance,
and reimbursement of third-party maintenance expenses) in addition to lease components (i.e., monthly rental charges). Services related
to nonlease components are provided over the same period of time as, and billed in the same manner as, monthly rental charges. The
Company elected to apply the practical expedient available under ASC 842, for all classes of assets, not to separate the lease components
from the nonlease components when accounting for operating leases. Since the lease component is the predominant component under
each of these leases, combined revenues from both the lease and nonlease components are reported as Lease revenues, net in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

In accordance with ASC 842, provisions for uncollectible rent are recorded as an offset to Lease revenues, net on the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

In April 2020, the FASB staff issued a question and answer document (the “Lease Modification Q&A”) that focused on the application
of lease accounting guidance to lease concessions provided as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lease Modification Q&A
allowed the Company to make an accounting policy election to account for COVID-19 related lease concessions as either a lease
modification or a negative variable adjustment to rental revenue. Such election was required to be applied consistently to leases with
similar characteristics and similar circumstances. In accordance with elections made pursuant to the Lease Modification Q&A, straight-
line revenue recognized in the financial statements was not impacted for partial rent deferrals that were expected to be repaid within a
short period of time, and where there was not a substantial change to the total consideration in the original lease agreement. Deferred
rents due under these agreements was recorded as Tenant and other receivables, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Lease Termination Fee Income

The Company recognizes lease termination fee income as other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues,
net, when all conditions of the termination agreement have been met, and collection of the lease termination fee is probable. If the tenant
immediately vacates the property upon satisfying the conditions of the termination agreement, the Company recognizes the lease
termination fee income net of accrued rental income associated with the lease immediately. If the tenant continues to occupy the property,
the Company treats the termination as a lease modification, and recognizes the lease termination fee income on a straight-line basis over
the new lease term. Lease termination fee income is recorded as other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease
revenues, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination and it assigned to one or more reporting units. The Company evaluates goodwill for
impairment when an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least annually.
The Company’s annual testing date is November 30.

The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative or quantitative approach. Under a qualitative approach, the
impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-not that the reporting unit’s fair value is less
than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a qualitative approach indicates it is more likely-than-not that the estimated carrying value
of a reporting unit (including goodwill) exceeds its fair value, or if we choose to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the
quantitative approach described below.

When the Company performs a quantitative test of goodwill for impairment, it compares the carrying value of its reporting unit with its
fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the Company does not consider goodwill to be impaired
and no further analysis would be required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount of goodwill
impairment equals the amount by which the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of
goodwill.

The Company determined that it has one reporting unit, consistent with its segment reporting analysis, which includes the acquisition,
leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i.e., the consolidated entity). When necessary to perform the quantitative test for
goodwill impairment, the Company’s estimate of fair value is determined using a market approach, leveraging assumptions such as the
fair value of our equity, and consideration of a control premium, if necessary, which includes an analysis of similar market transactions.
While the Company believes the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of its reporting unit are reasonable, changes in these
assumptions may have a material impact on the Company’s financial results. Based on the results of its annual goodwill impairment test
on November 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company concluded that goodwill was not impaired.
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Rent Received in Advance

Rent received in advance represents tenant payments received prior to the contractual due date, and is included in Accounts payable and
other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rent received in advance consisted of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Rent received in advance $ 18,783 $ 15,162

Debt Issuance Costs

In accordance with ASC 835, Interest, debt issuance costs related to mortgages, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes are
reported as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related liability, consistent with debt discounts, in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Debt issuance costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility are reported as an asset on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility, mortgages, unsecured term loans
and senior unsecured notes have been deferred and are being amortized over the term of the respective loan commitment using the
straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method.

Offering Costs

In connection with equity offerings, the Company incurs and capitalizes certain direct, incremental legal, professional, accounting and
other third-party costs. Such costs are offset against the gross proceeds of each equity offering, and recorded as a component of
Additional paid-in capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets upon the consummation of the offering. See Note 14 for further discussion
of net proceeds associated with equity offerings.

Forward Sale Agreements

The Company occasionally sells shares of common stock through forward sale agreements to enable the Company to set the price of
such shares upon pricing the offering (subject to certain adjustments) while delaying the issuance of such shares and the receipt of the
net proceeds by the Company. To account for the forward sale agreements, the Company considers the accounting guidance governing
financial instruments and derivatives. To date, the Company has concluded that its forward sale agreements are not liabilities as they do
not embody obligations to repurchase its shares nor do they embody obligations to issue a variable number of shares for which the
monetary value is predominantly fixed, varying with something other than the fair value of the shares, or varying inversely in relation
to its shares. The Company then evaluates whether the agreements meet the derivatives and hedging guidance scope exception to be
accounted for as equity instruments. The Company has concluded that the agreements are classifiable as equity contracts based on the
following assessments: (i) none of the agreements’ exercise contingencies are based on observable markets or indices besides those
related to the market for the Company’s own stock price and operations; and (ii) none of the settlement provisions preclude the
agreements from being indexed to its own stock. The Company also considers the potential dilution resulting from the forward sale
agreements on the earnings per share calculations. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilution resulting from
the forward sale agreements during the period of time prior to settlement.

Earnout Liability

The Company’s earnout liability was payable in four tranches, in a combination of cash, common shares, and OP Units, in the same
proportion as the initial consideration paid in the Internalization (see Note 4). The common shares and OP Units payable under the
arrangement were originally subject to a redemption rights agreement, whereby holders of the common shares and OP Units had the
right to require the Company to repurchase any or all of the common shares or OP Units if an IPO had not occurred on or before
December 31, 2020 (see discussion of the redemption rights agreement in Note 4). The common shares and OP Units were deemed to
be freestanding financial instruments that, at inception, embodied an obligation to repurchase the Company’s common shares and OP
Units, and therefore were initially classified as liabilities together with the cash portion of the earnout, and recorded in Earnout liability
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as part of the purchase price allocation. The fair value of the earnout liability was remeasured each
reporting period, with changes recorded as Change in fair value of earnout liability in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

Upon completion of the IPO in September 2020, the redemption rights with respect to the common shares and OP Units terminated, and
the $18.4 million fair value of the 725,988 shares of common stock and 1,239,506 OP Units associated with the third and fourth earnout
tranches as of the date of the IPO, was reclassified to equity as a component of Additional paid-in capital and Non-controlling interests
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2020, the $12.4 million fair value of 362,989 shares of common stock and 619,751
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OP Units associated with the first and second earnout tranches was reclassified to equity as a component of Additional paid-in capital
and Non-controlling interests on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, as the achievement of 2020 adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”)
targets were not met and were no longer applicable. The Company achieved all four milestones applicable to the earnout thereby
triggering the payout of all earnout tranches during the year ended December 31, 2021, and therefore no remaining earnout liability
existing on, or after, December 31, 2021.

Mezzanine Equity

The Company issued common shares and OP Units as base consideration for the Internalization, each of which were subject to a
redemption rights agreement, where the common shares (“mezzanine equity common stock”) and OP Units (“mezzanine equity non-
controlling interests”) were economically equivalent to the permanent equity classified common shares and OP Units. The Company
presented the mezzanine equity common stock and mezzanine equity non-controlling interests as mezzanine equity in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as they were redeemable outside the Company’s control.

The Company subsequently recorded mezzanine equity common stock at redemption value each reporting period, with changes in
carrying value recorded as a component of Additional paid-in capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company subsequently recorded mezzanine equity non-controlling interests at the greater of (i) carrying amount, increased or
decreased for the non-controlling interests’ share of net income or loss, dividends and comprehensive income or loss or (ii) redemption
value. Changes in carrying value of mezzanine equity non-controlling interests were recorded as a component of Additional paid-in
capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The rights under the redemption rights agreement terminated effective with the IPO and the applicable common shares and OP Units
were reclassified to permanent equity in 2020 (see discussion of the redemption rights agreement in Note 4).

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represents the membership interests held in the OP of 5.2%, 6.0%, and 7.3% at December 31, 2022, 2021, and
2020, respectively, by third parties which are accounted for as a separate component of equity.

The Company adjusts the carrying value of non-controlling interests to reflect their share of the book value of the OP. Such adjustments
are recorded to Additional paid-in capital as a reallocation of Non-controlling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity and Mezzanine Equity.

Derivative Instruments

The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage risks related to interest rate movements. The interest rate swap agreements,
designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, are reported at fair value. ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, requires a company to
present the earnings effect of the hedging instrument in the same income statement line item in which the earnings effect of the hedged
item is reported. In accordance with ASC 815, the gain or loss on the qualifying hedges is initially included as a component of other
comprehensive income or loss and is subsequently reclassified into earnings when interest payments (the forecasted transactions) on the
related debt are incurred and as the swap net settlements occur.

When an existing cash flow hedge is terminated, the Company determines the accounting treatment for the accumulated gain or loss
recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) based on the probability of the hedged forecasted transaction occurring
within the period the cash flow hedge was anticipated to affect earnings. If the Company determines that the hedged forecasted
transaction is probable of occurring during the original period, the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings over the
remaining life of the cash flow hedge using a straight-line method. If the Company determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is
not probable of occurring during the original period, the entire amount of accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings at such
time.

The Company documents its risk management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during the term of, each hedge.
The Company’s interest rate risk management strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swap
agreements to convert certain variable-rate debt to a fixed rate.

Property Loss and Insurance Recoveries

Property losses, whether full or partial, are accounted for using a combination of impairment, insurance, and revenue recognition
guidance prescribed by GAAP. Upon incurring a loss event, the Company evaluates for asset impairment under ASC 350, Intangibles
– Goodwill and Other, and ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment.Under the terms of the Company’s lease agreements with tenants,
a majority of which are net leases (whereby the tenants are responsible for insurance, taxes, and maintenance, among other property
costs), the tenants are responsible for rff epairs and maintenance to the properties. The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants
to continue making their monthly rental payments despite the property loss. To the extent that the assets are recoverable, determined
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utilizing undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or asset group and its eventual disposition, the Company
accounts for a full or partial property loss as an acceleration of depreciation and evaluates whether all or a portion of the property loss
can be offset by the recognition of insurance recoveries.

Under the terms of the lease agreements with tenants, in the case of full or partial loss to a property, the tenant has an obligation to
restore/rebuild the premises as nearly as possible to its value, condition and character immediately prior to such event. To mitigate the
risk of loss, the Company requires tenants to maintain general liability insurance policies on the replacement value of the properties.
Based on these considerations, the Company follows the guidance in ASC 610-30, Other Income – Gains and Losses on Involuntary
Conversions, for the conversion of nonmonetary assets (i.e., the properties) to monetary assets (i.e., insurance recoveries or tenant
recoveries). Under ASC 610-30, once probable of receipt, the Company recognizes an insurance/tenant recovery receivable in Tenant
and other receivables, net, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding offset to the accelerated depreciation recognized
in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. If the insurance/tenant recovery is less than the amount of
accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company will recognize a net loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. If the insurance/tenant recovery is greater than the amount of accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company
will only recognize a recovery up to the amount of the accelerated depreciation, and will account for the excess as a gain contingency
in accordance with ASC 450-30,Gain Contingencies.Gain contingencies are recognized when earned and realized, which typically will
occur at the time of final settlement or when non-refundable cash advances are received.

Segment Reporting

The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment, which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased
properties. The Company’s chief operating decision maker assesses, measures, and reviews the operating and financial results at the
consolidated level for the entire portfolio, and therefore, each property or property type is not considered an individual operating
segment. The Company does not evaluate the results of operations based on geography, size, or property type.

Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an
exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair
value.

The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 – Quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The types of financial instruments
included in Level 1 are marketable, available-for-sale equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market.

Level 2 – Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Instruments included in this category are derivative contracts whose value is
determined using a pricing model with inputs (such as yield curves and credit spreads) that are observable in the market or can be
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities. Level 3 includes assets and liabilities whose values are determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant
management judgment or estimation.

The Company has estimated that the carrying amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for Cash and cash equivalents,
Prepaid expenses and other assets, Tenant and other receivables, net, Accrued interest payable, Accounts payable and other liabilities,
and Dividends payable approximates their fair values due to their short-term nature.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Interest Rate Swap Assets and Liabilities – The Company measures and records its interest rate swap instruments (see Note 11) and
earnout liability at fair value, and discloses the fair value of its long-term debt, on a recurring basis.

Interest rate swaps are derivative instruments that have no quoted readily available Level 1 inputs, and therefore are measured at fair
value using inputs that are directly observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, using an
income approach. Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the
expected future cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield curves and implied
volatilities to determine the market’s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable components
of the interest rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the overnight indexed swap (“OIS”)
curve and are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to
appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value
measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate swaps fall within
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its interest rate swaps utilize Level 3 inputs, such as
estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. At December 31, 2022 and 2021,
the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative
positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company
has determined that its interest rate swap valuations in their entirety are appropriately classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Earnout Liability – In connection with the Internalization, the Company recognized an earnout liability that was due and payable to the
former owners of BRE if certain milestones were achieved during specified periods of time following the closing of the Internalization
(the “Earnout Periods”). Under the terms of the agreement, the milestones related to either (a) the 40-day dollar volume-weighted
average price of a share of the Company’s common stock (“VWAP per REIT Share”), following the completion of an IPO of the
Company’s common stock, or (b) the Company’s AFFO per share, prior to the completion of an IPO.

The Company utilized third-party valuation experts to assist in estimating the fair value of the earnout liability, and developed estimates
by considering weighted-average probabilities of likely outcomes, and using a Monte Carlo simulation and discounted cash flow
analysis. These estimates required the Company to make various assumptions about share price volatility and, prior to the IPO, about
the timing of an IPO and net asset prices, each of which are unobservable and considered Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. A
change in these inputs to a different amount could have resulted in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement at the reporting
date. Specifically, advancements in the estimated IPO date assumption increased the earnout liability’s fair value given the earnout’s
fixed time horizon. Peer share price volatilities were used to estimate the Company’s expected share price volatility, and the Company’s
corresponding ability to achieve the earnout targets. Increases in the volatility assumption would increase the earnout liability’s fair
value. Increases in net asset values would also increase the earnout liability’s fair value.

The Company achieved all four volume-weighted average price (“VWAP”) milestones applicable to the earnout thereby triggering the
payout of all earnout tranches during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The table below provides a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used to estimate the fair value of the earnout liability as of
December 30, 2020:

Significant Unobservable Inputs
Weighted Average
Assumption Used Range

yPeer stock price volatility 40.0% 25.92% - 55.90%

The table below provides a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used to estimate the fair value of the earnout liability as
February 7, 2020, which was the date of the Internalization:

Significant Unobservable Inputs
Weighted Average
Assumption Used Range

Expected IPO date April 15, 2020 March 2020 through May 2020
Peer stock price volatility 20.0% 16.22% to 23.09%

yCompany’s net asset value per diluted share $ 21.30 (a)

(a) The Company’s net asset value per diluted share was primarily based on the fair value of its real estate investment portfolio, together
with the fair value of its other assets and liabilities. The fair value of the Company’s real estate investment portfolio as of the
measurement date was determined using market capitalization rates that ranged between 6.05% and 7.09%.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the change in the earnout liability:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2021 2020
Beginning balance $ 7,509 $ —
Allocation of Internalization purchase price at February 7, 2020 — 40,119
Change in fair value subsequent to Internalization 5,539 (1,800)
Reclassification as a component of additional paid-in capital and
non-controlling interests — (30,810)

Payout of tranches earned (13,048) —
gEnding balance $ — $ 7,509

The balances of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (see Note 11):

December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Interest rate swap, assets $ 63,390 $ — $ 63,390 $ —

December 31, 2021
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Interest rate swap, liabilities $ (27,171) $ — $ (27,171) $ —

Long-term Debt – The fair value of the Company’s debt was estimated using Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 inputs based on recent
secondary market trades of the Company’s 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes (see Note 9), recent financing transactions, estimates
of the fair value of the property that serves as collateral for such debt, historical risk premiums for loans of comparable quality, current
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“CDOR”),
U.S. Treasury obligation interest rates, and discounted estimated future cash payments to be made on such debt. The discount rates
estimated reflect the Company’s judgment as to the approximate current lending rates for loans or groups of loans with similar maturities
and assumes that the debt is outstanding through maturity. Market information, as available, or present value techniques were utilized
to estimate the amounts required to be disclosed. Since such amounts are estimates that are based on limited available market information
for similar transactions and do not acknowledge transfer or other repayment restrictions that may exist on specific loans, it is unlikely
that the estimated fair value of any such debt could be realized by immediate settlement of the obligation.

The following table summarizes the carrying amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the Company’s estimate of the
fair value of the unsecured revolving credit facility, mortgages, unsecured term loans, and senior unsecured notes which reflects the fair
value of interest rate swaps:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Carrying amount $ 2,034,076 $ 1,699,160
Fair value 1,841,381 1,785,701

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s non-recurring fair value measurements at December 31, 2022 and 2021, consisted of the fair value of impaired real
estate assets that were determined using Level 3 inputs.

Income Taxes

The Company has made an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code, commencing with its taxable
year ended December 31, 2008. The Company believes it is organized and operates in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a
REIT, and intends to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that it will remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax to the extent its dividends paid deduction
exceeds its taxable income, as defined in the Code. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U.S. federal income taxes in the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary that elected to be treated as a taxable
REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular corporate tax rates when due.

The Company is subject to state and local income or franchise taxes and foreign taxes in certain jurisdictions in which some of its
properties are located and records these within Income taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income when due.
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The Company is required to file income tax returns with federal, state, and Canadian taxing authorities. At December 31, 2022, the
Company’s U.S. federal and state income tax returns remain subject to examination by the respective taxing authorities for the 2019
through 2021 tax years.

The Company recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. The first step is to evaluate the tax position
for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained
upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. In making this assessment, the Company must
assume that the taxing authority will examine the income tax position and have full knowledge of all relevant information. The second
step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The
Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments
and which may or may not accurately forecast actual outcomes.

The Company has determined that it has no uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2022 and 2021, or for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021, and 2020, which include the tax status of the Company.

Interest and penalties related to income taxes are charged to tax expense during the year in which they are incurred.

Taxes Collected From Tenants and Remitted to Governmental Authorities

A majority of the Company’s properties are leased on a net basis, which provides that the tenants are responsible for the payment of
property operating expenses, including, but not limited to, property taxes, maintenance, insurance, repairs, and capital costs, during the
lease term. The Company records such expenses on a net basis.

In other situations, the Company may collect property taxes from its tenants and remit those taxes to governmental authorities. Taxes
collected from tenants and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a gross basis, where amounts billed to tenants are
included in Lease revenues, net and the corresponding expense is included in Property and operating expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The Company is a lessee under non-cancelable operating leases associated with its corporate headquarters and other office spaces as
well as with leases of land (“ground leases”). The Company records right-of-use assets and lease liabilities associated with these leases.
The lease liability is equal to the net present value of the future payments to be made under the lease, discounted using estimates based
on observable market factors. The right-of-use asset is generally equal to the lease liability plus initial direct costs associated with the
leases. The Company includes in the recognition of the right-of-use asset and lease liability those renewal periods that are reasonably
certain to be exercised, based on the facts and circumstances that exist at lease inception. Amounts associated with percentage rent
provisions are considered variable lease costs and are not included in the initial measurement of the right-of-use asset or lease liability.
The Company has made an accounting policy election, applicable to all asset types, not to separate lease from nonlease components
when allocating contract consideration related to operating leases.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities associated with operating leases were included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets
as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) Financial Statement Presentation 2022 2021
Right-of-use assets Prepaid expenses and other assets $ 3,200 $ 3,099
Lease liabilities yAccounts payable and other liabilities 2,772 2,570

Rental Expense

Rental expense associated with operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease, for leases that have fixed
and measurable rent escalations. The difference between rental expense incurred on a straight-line basis and the cash rental payments
due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as part of the right-of-use asset in the accompanying December 31, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts associated with percentage rent provisions based on the achievement of sales targets are
recognized as variable rental expense when achievement of the sales targets are considered probable. Rental expense is included in
Property and operating expense on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has issued restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) under its 2020
Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”). The Company accounts for stock-based incentives in accordance with
ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires that such compensation be recognized in the financial statements based
on the award’s estimated grant date fair value. The value of such awards is recognized as compensation expense in General and



84

administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income over the appropriate vesting period on a
straight-line basis or at the cumulative amount vested at each balance sheet date, if greater. The Company records forfeitures during the
period in which they occur by reversing all previously recorded stock compensation expense associated with the forfeited shares.
Dividends declared on RSAs issued under the Equity Incentive Plan are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of retained
earnings on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accumulated dividends related to forfeited RSAs are reversed through compensation
expense in the period the forfeiture occurs. Dividends accrued on the PRSUs are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of
retained earnings on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accumulated dividends accrued related to forfeited PRSUs are reversed in the
period the forfeiture occurs.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, which requires the
classification of the Company’s unvested shares of restricted common stock, which contain rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends,
as participating securities requiring the two-class method of computing earnings per share. The two-class method is an earnings
allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating securities according to dividends
declared (or accumulated) and participation rights in undistributed earnings. In accordance with the two-class method, the Company’s
calculation of earnings per share excludes the income attributable to the unvested shares of restricted common stock from the numerator
of the calculation and the weighted average number of such unvested shares from the denominator. Diluted earnings per share is
computed by dividing net income by the weighted average shares of common stock and potentially dilutive securities in accordance
with the treasury stock method and/or if converted method. See Note 16.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-06, Debt –
Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic
815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. The guidance in ASU 2020-06 simplifies
the accounting for convertible debt and convertible preferred stock by removing the requirements to separately present certain conversion
features in equity. In addition, the amendments in ASU 2020-06 also simplify the guidance in ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging:
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, by removing certain criteria that must be satisfied in order to classify a contract as equity, which is
expected to decrease the number of freestanding instruments and embedded derivatives accounted for as assets or liabilities. Finally, the
amendments revise the guidance on calculating earnings per share, requiring use of the if-converted method for all convertible
instruments. The amendments in ASU 2020-06 were effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2022. The adoption of this guidance
on January 1, 2022 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 which was issued to defer the sunset date
of Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform to December 31, 2024. ASU 2022-06 is
effective immediately and does not have an impact on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.

3. Related-Party Transactions

Prior to the Internalization on February 7, 2020, BRE, a related party in which certain directors of the Corporation had either a direct or
indirect ownership interest, and the Asset Manager were considered to be related parties.

Property Management Agreement

The Corporation and the OP were parties to a property management agreement (as amended, the “Property Management Agreement”)
with BRE. Under the terms of the Property Management Agreement, BRE managed and coordinated certain aspects of the leasing of
the Corporation’s rental property.

In exchange for services provided under the Property Management Agreement, BRE received certain fees and other compensation as
follows:

(i) 3% of gross rentals collected each month from the rental property for property management services (other than one
property, which called for 5% of gross rentals under the Property Management Agreement); and

(ii) Re-leasing fees for existing rental property equal to one month’s rent for a new lease with an existing tenant and two months’
rent for a new lease with a new tenant.

Upon completion of the Internalization, the Property Management Agreement was terminated and, prospectively, property management
fees were no longer payable to BRE. The Internalization was not considered a “Termination Event” under the Property Management
Agreement, therefore no fees were payable to BRE as a result of the Internalization. See Note 4 for further discussion regarding the
Internalization, including the associated payments related thereto.
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Asset Management Agreement

The Corporation and the OP were parties to an asset management agreement (as amended, the “Asset Management Agreement”) with
the Asset Manager, a single member limited liability company of which BRE was the sole member, and therefore a related party in
which certain directors of the Corporation had an indirect ownership interest. Under the terms of the Asset Management Agreement, the
Asset Manager was responsible for, among other things, the Corporation’s acquisition, initial leasing, and disposition strategies,
financing activities, and providing support to the Corporation’s Independent Directors Committee (“IDC”) for its valuation functions
and other duties. The Asset Manager also nominated two individuals to serve on the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

Under the terms of the Asset Management Agreement, the Asset Manager was compensated as follows:

(i) a quarterly asset management fee equal to 0.25% of the aggregate value of common stock, based on the per share value as
determined by the IDC each quarter, on a fully diluted basis as if all interests in the OP had been converted into shares of
the Corporation’s common stock;r

(ii) 0.5% of the proceeds from future equity closings as reimbursement for offering, markeff ting, and brokerage expenses;

(iii) 1% of the gross purchase price paid for each rental property acquired (other than acquisitions described in (iv) below),
including any property contributed in exchange for membership interests in the OP;

(iv) 2% of the gross purchase price paid for each rental property acquired in the event that the acquisition of a rental property
required a new lease (as opposed to the assumption of an existing lease), such as a sale-leaseback transaction;

(v) 1% of the gross sale price received for each rental property disposition; and

(vi) 1% of the Aggregate Consideration, as defined in the Asset Management Agreement, received in connection with a
disposition event, as defined in the Asset Management Agreement.

Upon completion of the Internalization, the Asset Management Agreement was terminated and, prospectively, asset management fees
were no longer payable to the Asset Manager. The Internalization was not considered a “Termination Event” under the Asset
Management Agreement, therefore no fees were payable to the Asset Manager as a result of the Internalization. See Note 4 for further
discussion regarding the Internalization, including the associated payments related thereto.

Total fees incurred under the Property Management Agreement and Asset Management Agreement were as follows:

(in thousands) Financial Statement For the Year Ended
Type of Fee Presentation December 31, 2020(a)

Asset management fee Asset management fees $ 2,461
Property management fee Property management fees 1,275

gTotal management fee expense 3,736

Marketing fee (offering costs) Additional paid-in capital ——
Acquisition fee Capitalized as a component

of assets acquired ——
Leasing fee and re-leasing fees Leasing fees, net ——
Disposition fee Gain on sale of real estate 109

gTotal management fees $ 3,845
(a) Fees were payable under the Property Management Agreement and Asset Management Agreement from January 1, 2020 through February 6, 2020. The

Internalization, and termination of the agreements, was effective February 7, 2020, and therefore, there were no management fees subsequent to that date. All
management fees have been paid in full, in cash, within the Company’s normal payment cycle for vendors.

Earnout Consideration

In connection with the Internalization, the Company incurred a contingent obligation that would be payable to certain members of the
Company’s Board of Directors and employees who had previously been owners and/or employees of BRE, upon the occurrence of
certain events (see Note 4). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP milestones applicable to
the earnout. As a result, the Company issued 1,088,977 shares of common stock, 1,859,257 OP Units and made cash payments of $13.0
million to these related parties (see Note 4).

Conversion of OP Units to Common Stock

During the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, in non-cash transactions (see Note 18), the Company converted 2,049,439 and
822,745 OP Units, respectively, held by an affiliated third party to 2,049,439 and 822,745 shares of common stock, respectively, at a
total conversion value of $32.8 million and $15.6 million, respectively. There was no conversion of OP Units held by an affiliated third
party during the year ended December 31, 2022. See further discussion in Note 12 and 14.
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4. Internalization

On February 7, 2020, the Company completed the Internalization and the Company’s management team and corporate staff, who were
previously employed by BRE, became employees of an indirect subsidiary of the OP. The effect of the Internalization has been reflected
in the Company’s operating results beginning on February 7, 2020.

In accordance with the Internalization, the Company was required to pay additional earnout consideration of up to $75.0 million payable
in four tranches of $10.0 million, $15.0 million, $25.0 million, and $25.0 million if certain milestones related to the 40-day VWAP per
REIT Share were achieved. The consideration consisted of a combination of cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, and OP
Units, based on the same proportions paid in the base consideration.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP milestones, thereby triggering the payout of all earnout tranches.
Below is a summary of the shares of common stock and OP Units issued, and cash paid for each earnout tranche:

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Shares of 40-Day

Common Stock OP Units VWAP of a
Tranche Issued Issued Cash Paid REIT Share Achievement Date

1 145 248 $ 1,926 (a) $ 22.50 June 16, 2021
2 218 371 2,888 (a) 23.75 July 14, 2021
3 363 620 4,117 24.375 September 21, 2021
4 363 620 4,117 25.00 September 21, 2021

(a) Cash payments include amounts earned for dividends.

The Company incurred $3.7 million in non-recurring costs associated with the Internalization during the year ended December 31, 2020
which was classified as Internalization expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

The effect of the Internalization has been reflected in the Company’s operating results beginning on February 7, 2020. No incremental
revenues were recorded as a result of the Internalization. Subsequent to the Internalization, during the year ended December 31, 2020,
the Company incurred $20.5 million in expenses as a result of being internalized. Such amounts include general and administrative
expenses associated with the Company’s performance of functions previously performed by BRE and the Asset Manager (primarily
employee related costs), as well as interest expense associated with the borrowings related to the Internalization. These expenses do not
include the Internalization expenses discussed above, or amounts recorded to reflect changes in the fair value of the earnout liability.

Redemption Rights Agreement

If an IPO did not occur on or before the satisfaction of certain milestones related to the 40-day VWAP per REIT Share, then each holder
of common shares or OP Units issued in connection with the Internalization had the right to require the Company to repurchase any or
all of such holder’s shares or OP Units. Such rights terminated effective with the IPO.

Upon occurrence of the IPO in September 2020, the common stock and non-controlling interests issued as base consideration in
connection with the Internalization and originally classified as mezzanine equity, were reclassified as a component of Common stock,
Additional paid-in capital, and Non-controlling interests on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Condensed Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following pro forma information summarizes selected financial information from the Company’s combined results of operations,
as if the Internalization had occurred on January 1, 2019. These results contain certain adjustments totaling $4.5 million of income for
the year ended December 31, 2020. This pro forma adjustment reflects the elimination of Internalization expenses and asset
management, property management, and disposition fees between the Company and BRE and the Asset Manager in historical financial
results, and adjustments to reflect compensation and related costs, incremental general and administrative expenses related to the
Internalization, and incremental interest expense associated with the borrowing related to the Internalization. This pro forma information
is presented for informational purposes only, and may not be indicative of what actual results of operations would have been had the
Internalization occurred at the beginning of the period, nor does it purport to represent the results of future operations.

The condensed pro forma financial information is as follows:
For the Year Ended December

31,
(in thousands) 2020
Revenues $ 321,637
Net income 60,783
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5. Acquisitions of Rental Property

The Company closed on the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2022:

(in thousands, except number of properties) Number of Real Estate
Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price

January 7, 2022 Retail 2 $ 2,573
February 10, 2022 Industrial 1 21,733
February 15, 2022 Retail 1 1,341
February 28, 2022 Industrial 1 5,678
March 4, 2022 Retail 6 79,061
March 31, 2022 Restaurant 16 99,587
April 12, 2022 Retail 1 1,680
April 12, 2022 Industrial 1 7,522
April 13, 2022 Industrial 1 16,250
April 19, 2022 Retail 1 1,780
May 16, 2022 Retail 1 2,264
June 7, 2022 Retail 1 11,510
June 13, 2022 Retail 1 1,638
June 15, 2022 Retail 1 1,884
June 21, 2022 Industrial 5 78,500
June 29, 2022 Healthcare 1 12,467
June 30, 2022 Industrial 1 29,500
July 1, 2022 Retail 2 3,052
July 7, 2022 Retail 1 2,171
July 8, 2022 Industrial 11 75,000
August 25, 2022 Healthcare 1 9,219
August 26, 2022 Industrial 4 44,000
September 6, 2022 Retail 1 1,411
September 28, 2022 Industrial 4 56,250
September 29, 2022 Restaurant 3 12,823
October 12, 2022 Industrial / Office 7 235,000
October 12, 2022 Retail 1 1,743
October 17, 2022 Retail 2 6,000
October 19, 2022 Retail 1 1,743
November 2, 2022 Industrial 4 38,650
November 4, 2022 Retail 1 5,645
November 10, 2022 Industrial 1 10,758

86 $ 878,433 (a)

(a) Acquisition price excludes capitalized acquisition costs of $6.4 million and a $17.4 million building expansion agreed to as a forward commitment in
connection with a prior acquisition (see Note 19).
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The Company closed on the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2021:

(in thousands, except number of pff roperties) Number of Real Estate
Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price

February 5, 2021 Healthcare 1 $ 4,843
February 26, 2021 Restaurant (b) 181
March 11, 2021 Retail 13 26,834
March 30, 2021 Retail 11 41,324
March 31, 2021 Healthcare 3 14,140
June 4, 2021 Retail 2 19,420
June 9, 2021 Industrial 1 8,500
June 9, 2021 Industrial 11 106,578
June 25, 2021 Retail 8 12,131
June 28, 2021 Healthcare 4 15,300
June 30, 2021 Retail 1 1,279
June 30, 2021 Healthcare 7 30,750
July 2, 2021 Industrial (c) 4,500
July 21, 2021 Retail 1 5,565
July 29, 2021 Retail 3 4,586
July 29, 2021 Industrial 1 13,041
July 30, 2021 Industrial 2 11,011
August 23, 2021 Healthcare 1 60,000
September 8, 2021 Retail 2 8,901
September 17, 2021 Retail 1 1,722
September 24, 2021 Retail 1 2,456
September 24, 2021 Industrial 2 48,699
September 29, 2021 Industrial 1 10,600
September 30, 2021 Industrial 3 59,343
October 1, 2021 Healthcare 1 3,306
October 22, 2021 Industrial 1 5,386
October 27, 2021 Retail 3 4,278
December 10, 2021 Retail 16 33,500
December 15, 2021 Industrial 1 16,000
December 15, 2021 Healthcare 1 6,000
December 16, 2021 Restaurant/Office 6 28,546
December 17, 2021 Retail 3 4,260
December 17, 2021 Industrial 1 16,000
December 22, 2021 Industrial 2 22,651
December 22, 2021 Healthcare 1 7,600

116 $ 659,231 (d)

(b) Acquisition of additional land adjacent to an existing property.
(c) Acquisition of land related to an existing property.
(d) Acquisition price does not include capitalized acquisition costs of $5.8 million.

The Company closed on the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2020:

(in thousands, except number of properties) Number of Real Estate
Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price

November 13, 2020 Healthcare 1 $ 4,950
December 7, 2020 Industrial 8 28,000
December 23, 2020 Industrial 1 36,473 (e)

December 28, 2020 Retail 1 5,150
December 29, 2020 Restaurant 7 13,189
December 30, 2020 Industrial 1 8,050

19 $ 95,812 (f)

(e) Acquisition price excludes $4.5 million deposited in an escrow for the future purchase of the related land. The land purchase closed on July 2, 2021, and is
included in the 2021 acquisitions.

(f) Acquisition price does not include capitalized acquisition costs of $1.3 million.
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The Company allocated the purchase price of these properties to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
following table summarizes the purchase price allocation for completed real estate acquisitions:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Land $ 126,865 $ 114,296 $ 17,403
Land improvements 47,513 29,298 5,356
Buildings and improvements 649,195 469,113 64,116
Acquired in-place leases (g) 69,609 51,956 8,346
Acquired above-market leases (h) — 211 1,717
Acquired below-market leases (i) (279) — (428)
Right-of-use asset — 663 —
Lease liability — (481) —
Sales-type investments — — 574
Non-real estate liabilities assumed (8,051) — —

$ 884,852 $ 665,056 $ 97,084

(g) The weighted average amortization period for acquired in-place leases is 20 years, 16 years, and 15 years for acquisitions completed during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

(h) The weighted average amortization period for acquired above-market leases is 10 years and 1 year for acquisitions completed during the years ended
December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. There were no above-market leases acquired during the year ended December 31, 2022.

(i) The weighted average amortization period for acquired below-market leases is 14 years and 10 years for acquisitions completed during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2020, respectively. There were no below-market leases acquired during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The above acquisitions were funded using a combination of available cash on hand and revolving credit facility borrowings. All real
estate acquisitions closed during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, qualified as asset acquisitions and, as such,
acquisition costs have been capitalized.

6. Sale of Real Estate

The Company closed on the following sales of real estate, none of which qualified as discontinued operations:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except number of properties) 2022 2021 2020
Number of properties disposed 8 31 24
Aggregate sale price $ 58,024 $ 87,730 $ 81,039
Aggregate carrying value (40,485) (70,289) (62,528)
Additional sales expenses (1,586) (3,918) (3,526)
Gain on sale of real estate $ 15,953 $ 13,523 $ 14,985
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7. Investment in Rental Property and Lease Arrangements

The Company generally leases its investment rental property to established tenants in the industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and
office property types. At December 31, 2022, the Company had 804 real estate properties, 791 of which were leased under leases that
have been classified as operating leases, nine that have been classified as direct financing leases, one that has been classified as a sales-
type lease, and three that were vacant. Of the nine leases classified as direct financing leases, three include land portions which are
accounted for as operating leases. The sales-type lease includes a land portion which is accounted for as an operating lease (see Revenue
Recognition within Note 2). Substantially all leases have initial terms of 10 to 20 years. The Company’s leases generally provide for
limited increases in rent as a result of fixed increases, increases in the CPI, or increases in the tenant’s sales volume. Generally, tenants
are also required to pay all property taxes and assessments, substantially maintain the interior and exterior of the building, and maintain
property and liability insurance coverage. The leases also typically provide for one or more multiple year renewal options, at the election
of the tenant, and are subject to generally the same terms and conditions as the initial lease.

Investment in Rental Property – Accounted for Using the Operating Method

Depreciation expense on investment in rental property was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Depreciation $ 114,583 $ 99,143 $ 93,679

Estimated lease payments to be received under non-cancelable operating leases with tenants at December 31, 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands)
2023 $ 388,971
2024 389,107
2025 383,990
2026 376,937
2027 359,533
Thereafter 2,987,770

$ 4,886,308

Since lease renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the tenant, the above amounts only include future lease payments due during
the initial lease terms. Such amounts exclude any potential variable rent increases that are based on changes in the CPI or future variable
rents which may be received under the leases based on a percentage of the tenant’s gross sales. Additionally, certain of our leases provide
tenants with the option to terminate their leases in exchange for termination penalties, or that are contingent upon the occurrence of a
future event. Future lease payments within the table above have not been adjusted for these termination rights.

Investment in Rental Property – Direct Financing Leases

The Company’s net investment in direct financing leases was comprised of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Undiscounted estimated lease payments to be received $ 38,268 $ 42,602
Estimated unguaranteed residual values 14,547 15,203
Unearned revenue (25,645) (28,893)
Reserve for credit losses (125) (130)
Net investment in direct f ginancing leasesff $ 27,045 $ 28,782

Undiscounted estimated lease payments to be received under non-cancelable direct financing leases with tenants at December 31, 2022
are as follows:

(in thousands)
2023 $ 3,114
2024 3,171
2025 3,285
2026 3,357
2027 3,426
Thereafter 21,915

$ 38,268
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The above rental receipts do not include future lease payments for renewal periods, potential variable CPI rent increases, or variable
percentage rent payments that may become due in future periods.

The following table summarizes amounts reported as Lease revenues, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Contractual rental amounts billed for operating leases $ 359,317 $ 308,624 $ 281,998
Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease billings on a
straight-line basis 22,353 19,847 25,200

Write-off of accrued rental income (1,326) (442) (4,235)
Variable rental amounts earned 1,507 768 743
Earned income from direct financing leases 2,856 2,909 3,355
Interest income from sales-type leases 58 58 5
Operating expenses billed to tenants 19,779 17,462 15,845
Other income from real estate transactions (a) 3,069 33,549 799
Adjustment to revenue recognized for uncollectible rental amounts billed, net (100) 101 (2,073)
Total lease revenues, net $ 407,513 $ 382,876 $ 321,637

(a) Other income from real estate transactions includes $2.5 million and $33.5 million of lease termination fee income for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively. There was no lease termination fee income for the year ended December 31, 2020.

8. Intangible Assets and Liabilities

The following is a summary of intangible assets and liabilities and related accumulated amortization:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021
Lease intangibles:
Acquired above-market leases $ 45,740 $ 47,147
Less accumulated amortization (18,436) (16,807)

Acquired above-market leases, net 27,304 30,340
Acquired in-place leases 436,401 380,766
Less accumulated amortization (134,120) (107,464)

Acquired in-place leases, net 302,281 273,302
Total intangible lease assets, net $ 329,585 $ 303,642
Acquired below-market leases $ 105,059 $ 105,310
Less accumulated amortization (42,204) (34,714)

Intangible lease liabilities, net $ 62,855 $ 70,596
Leasing fees $ 14,430 $ 14,786
Less accumulated amortization (5,924) (5,145)

gLeasing fees, net $ 8,506 $ 9,641

Amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities was as follows:

(in thousands) For the Year Ended December 31,
Intangible Financial Statement Presentation 2022 2021 2020

Acquired in-place leases and
leasing fees

Depreciation and amortization
$ 40,090 $ 32,857 $ 38,934

Above-market and below-market
leases

Lease revenues, net
4,822 3,264 1,127
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For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, amortization of all intangible assets and liabilities includes $8.5 million, $3.8
million and $14.5 million, respectively, of accelerated amortization resulting from early lease terminations.

Estimated future amortization of all intangible assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands)
2023 $ 27,928
2024 27,120
2025 25,852
2026 24,700
2027 22,957
Thereafter 146,679

$ 275,236

9. Unsecured Credit Agreements

Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreements

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

On September 4, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) for a $900.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The Company
closed the Revolving Credit Agreement on September 21, 2020. The Revolving Credit Agreement includes an accordion feature to
increase the aggregate facility size from $900.0 million to $2.0 billion, subject to the willingness of existing or new lenders to fund such
increase and other customary conditions. The Company has the option to extend the term of the Revolving Credit Agreement twice for
six months per extension, subject to certain conditions, including payment of an extension fee equal to 0.0625% of the revolving
commitments. On January 28, 2022, the Company amended and restated the Revolving Credit Facility to increase the available
borrowings to $1.0 billion and extend the maturity date to March 31, 2026. In addition to United States Dollars (“USD”), borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Agreement can be made in Pound Sterling, Euros or Canadian Dollars (“CAD”) up to an aggregate amount
of $500.0 million. Prior to the amendment, borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement were subject to interest at variable rates
based on LIBOR plus a margin based on the Company’s current credit rating ranging between 0.825% to 1.550% per annum. Borrowings
under the amended Revolving Credit Agreement are subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to the applicable reference
rate plus a margin based on the Company’s credit rating, ranging between 0.725% and 1.400%. All other terms and conditions of the
Revolving Credit Agreement remained materially the same as those in effect prior to this amendment. The amended Revolving Credit
Agreement is subject to a facility fee on the amount of the revolving commitments, based on the Company’s credit rating, ranging
between 0.125% and 0.300%. The applicable facility fee is 0.200% per annum.

Unsecured Term Loan Agreements

2022 Unsecured Term Loan

On February 7, 2020, the Company entered into a $60.0 million term loan agreement (the “2022 Unsecured Term Loan”) with JPMorgan
Chase, N.A. as administrative agent. The 2022 Unsecured Term Loan was fully funded at closing and used to repay a portion of the debt
assumed by the Company as part of the Internalization. Borrowings under the 2022 Unsecured Term Loan were subject to interest only
payments at variable rates equal to LIBOR plus a margin based upon the Company’s credit rating, ranging between 0.85% and 1.65%
per annum. The 2022 Unsecured Term Loan was paid in full in February 2022 with borrowings from the Revolving Credit Facility.

2024 Unsecured Term Loan

Borrowings under the 2024 Unsecured Term Loan bore interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a margin based on the Company’s
credit rating ranging between 0.85% and 1.65% per annum. The 2024 Unsecured Term Loan was paid in full in August 2022 with
borrowings from the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured Term Loan.

2026 Unsecured Term Loan

On February 27, 2019, the Company entered into a $450.0 million seven-year unsecured term loan agreement (the “2026 Unsecured
Term Loan”) with Capital One, National Association as administrative agent. The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan provides an accordion
feature for up to a total of $550.0 million borrowing capacity. The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan has an initial maturity date of February
27, 2026. Borrowings under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan were subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to LIBOR
plus a margin between 1.45% and 2.40% per annum based on the Company’s credit rating through March 12, 2021. On March 12, 2021,
the Company amended the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan and made a $50.0 million paydown on the loan. The amendment reduced the
margin on variable interest rate borrowings to a range between 0.85% and 1.65% per annum based on the Company’s credit rating. All
other terms and conditions of the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan remained materially the same as those in effect prior to this amendment.
The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan is subject to a fee of 0.25% per annum on the amount of the commitment, reduced by the amount of
term loans outstanding.
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2027 and 2029 Unsecured Term Loans

On August 1, 2022, the Company entered into two unsecured term loans, including a $200.0 million, five-year unsecured term loan (the
“2027 Unsecured Term Loan”), and a $300.0 million, seven-year unsecured term loan (the “2029 Unsecured Term Loan”). Borrowings
on the new term loans bear interest at variable rates based on adjusted SOFR, plus a margin based on the Company’s credit rating,
ranging between 0.80% and 1.60% per annum for the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan, and 1.15% and 2.20% per annum for the 2029
Unsecured Term Loan.

Senior Unsecured Notes

2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A

On April 18, 2017, the Company issued $150.0 million of unsecured, fixed-rate, interest-only guaranteed senior promissory notes (the
“2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A”). The Series A Notes were issued at par, bear interest at a rate of 4.84%.

2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C

On July 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Note and Guaranty Agreement (the “NGA Agreement”) with each of the purchasers of
unsecured, fixed-rate, interest-only, guaranteed senior promissory notes. Under the NGA Agreement, the OP issued and sold senior
promissory notes in two series, Series B Guaranteed Senior Notes (the “2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B”) and Series C
Guaranteed Senior Notes (the “2030 Unsecured Notes - Series C”), for an aggregate principal amount of $325.0 million. The 2028
Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B provide for an aggregate principal amount of $225.0 million with a fixed-rate of 5.09%. The 2030
Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C provide for an aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million with a fixed-rate of 5.19%.

2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes

On September 15, 2021, the Company completed a public offering of $375.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2.60% senior
unsecured notes due 2031 (“2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes”), issued at 99.816% of the principal amount. The 2031 Senior
Unsecured Public Notes require semi-annual interest payments through the maturity date of September 15, 2031, unless earlier
redeemed. The 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes were issued by the OP and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by theare fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company. The proceeds were used to repay in full borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility and the 2023 Unsecured Term Loan,Company.
and to fund acquisitions.

Covenants on Unsecured Credit Agreements

The Company is subject to various financial and operational covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to its unsecured
credit agreements. These covenants require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios, including leverage, fixed charge coverage,
debt service coverage, aggregate debt ratio, consolidated income available for debt to annual debt service charge, total unencumbered
assets to total unsecured debt, and secured debt ratio, among others. As of December 31, 2022, and for all periods presented the Company
believes it was in compliance with all of its loan covenants. Failure to comply with the covenants would result in a default which, if the
Company were unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could accelerate the repayment of the obligations. Further, in the
event of default, the Company may be restricted from paying dividends to its stockholders in excess of dividends required to maintain
its REIT qualification. Accordingly, an event of default could have a material and adverse impact on the Company.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s unsecured credit agreements:

December 31,
2022 2021 Interest Maturity

(in thousands, except interest rates) Outstanding Balance Rate Date

Unsecured revolving credit facility $ 197,322 $ 102,000
Applicable reference rate + 0.85% (a)

(b) (c) Mar. 2026
Unsecured term loans:
2022 Unsecured Term Loan — 60,000 one-month LIBOR + 1.00% (c) Feb. 2022(e)
2024 Unsecured Term Loan — 190,000 one-month LIBOR + 1.00% (c) Jun. 2024(f)
2026 Unsecured Term Loan 400,000 400,000 one-month LIBOR + 1.00% (c) Feb. 2026

2027 Unsecured Term Loan 200,000 —
one-month adjusted SOFR

+ 0.95% (d) Aug. 2027

2029 Unsecured Term Loan 300,000 —
one-month adjusted SOFR

+ 1.25%(d) Aug. 2029
Total unsecured term loans 900,000 650,000
Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (5,308) (3,329)

Total unsecured term loans, net 894,692 646,671
Senior unsecured notes:
2027 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series A 150,000 150,000 4.84% Apr. 2027
2028 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series B 225,000 225,000 5.09% Jul. 2028
2030 Senior Unsecured Notes - Series C 100,000 100,000 5.19% Jul. 2030
2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes 375,000 375,000 2.60% pSep. 2031

Total senior unsecured notes 850,000 850,000
Unamortized debt issuance costs and
original issuance discount, net (5,445) (6,199)

Total senior unsecured notes, net 844,555 843,801
Total unsecured debt, net $ 1,936,569 $ 1,592,472
(a) At December 31, 2022, a balance of $123.5 million was subject to the one-month SOFR of 4.36%. The remaining balance includes $100.0 million CAD borrowings

remeasured to $73.8 million USD, which was subject to the one-month CDOR of 4.74%.
(b) At December 31, 2021, the applicable interest rate was one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%.
(c) At December 31, 2022 and 2021 one-month LIBOR was 4.39% and 0.10%, respectively.
(d) At December 31, 2022, one-month SOFR was 4.36%.
(e) The 2022 Unsecured Term Loan was paid in full in February 2022 with borrowings from the Revolving Credit Agreement.
(f) The 2024 Unsecured Term Loan was paid in full in August 2022 with borrowings from the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and the 2029 Unsecured Term Loan.

At December 31, 2022, the weighted average interest rate on all outstanding borrowirr ngs was 4.82%, exclusive of interest rate swap
agreements.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred $7.0 million in debt issuance costs associated with the amended Revolving
Credit Agreement, unsecured revolving credit facility, 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured Term Loan. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company incurred $5.0 million in debt issuance costs and original issuance discount associated with the 2031
Senior Unsecured Public Notes and the amended 2026 Unsecured Term Loan. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company
incurred $5.9 million in debt issuance costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility.

Additionally, during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of
unamortized debt issuance costs were expensed, and included in Cost of debt extinguishment in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Debt issuance costs and original issuance discounts are amortized as a component of Interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The following table summarizes debt issuance cost and original issuance discount
amortization:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020

gDebt issuance costs and original issuance discount amortization $ 3,692 $ 3,854 $ 3,445
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10. Mortgages

The Company’s mortgages consist of the following:

Origination Maturity
Date Date Interest December 31,

Lender (Month/Year) (Month/Year) Rate 2022 2021
gWilmington Trust National Association pApr-19 Feb-28 4.92% $ 45,516 $ 46,760 (a) (b) (c) (d)

Wilmington Trust National Association Jun-18 Aug-25 4.36% 19,150 19,557 (a) (b) (c) (e)

PNC Bank Oct-16 Nov-26 3.62% 16,675 17,094 (b) (c)

gAegon pApr-12 Oct-23 6.38% 5,413 6,249 (b) (g)

T2 Durham I, LLC Jul-21 Jul-24 Greater of Prime +
1.25% or 5.00%

— 7,500 (b) (f)

Total mortgages 86,754 97,160
Debt issuance costs, net (152) (314)
Mortgages, net $ 86,602 $ 96,846
(a) Non-recourse debt includes the indemnification/guaranty of the Corporation and/or OP pertaining to fraud, environmental claims, insolvency, and other matters.
(b) Debt secured by related rental property and lease rents.
(c) Debt secured by guaranty of the OP.
(d) Mortgage was assumed April 2019 as part of the acquisition of the related property. The debt was recorded at fair value at the time of the assumption.
(e) Mortgage was assumed in June 2018 as part of the acquisition of the related property. The debt was recorded at fair value at the time of the assumption.
(f) Mortgage is subject to interest at a daily floating annual rate equal to the Prime Rate plus 1.25%, but no less than 5.00% per annum. At December 31, 2021, the

interest rate was 5.00%.
(g) Mortgage was assumed April 2012 as part of the acquisition of the related property. The debt was recorded at fair value at the time of assumption.

At December 31, 2022, investment in rental property of $143.3 million was pledged as collateral against the Company’s mortgages.

Estimated future principal payments to be made under the above mortgage and the Company’s unsecured credit agreements (see Note
9) at December 31, 2022, are as follows:

(in thousands)
2023 $ 7,582
2024 2,260
2025 20,195
2026 614,165
2027 351,596
Thereafter 1,038,278

$ 2,034,076

Certain of the Company’s mortgages provide for prepayment fees and can be terminated under certain events of default as defined under
the related agreements. These prepayment fees are not reflected as part of the table above.

11. Interest Rate Swaps

Interest rate swaps were entered into with certain financial institutions in order to mitigate the impact of interest rate variability over the
term of the related debt agreements. The interest rate swaps are considered cash flow hedges. In order to reduce counterparty
concentration risk, the Company has a diversification policy for institutions that serve as swap counterparties. Under these agreements,
the Company receives monthly payments from the counterparties on these interest rate swaps equal to the related variable interest rates
multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. Certain interest rate swaps amortize on a monthly basis. In turn, the Company pays the
counterparties each month an amount equal to a fixed rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net
impact of these transactions is that the Company pays a fixed interest rate on its variable-rate borrowings.

In connection with the issuance of the 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes in September 2021 and repayment of outstanding borrowings
of variable rate debt indexed to the one-month LIBOR rate (see Note 9), the Company terminated interest rate swap agreements with an
aggregate termination value of $5.6 million. The Company determined that it was not probable the hedge forecasted transactions would
not occur during the original periods, and therefore, the $5.6 million of accumulated losses held in Other comprehensive income is being
reclassified to interest expense on a straight-line basis over the original lives of the terminated swaps. There were no swap terminations
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2020.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding interest rate swap agreements:

(in thousands, except interest rates) December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Counterparty Maturity Date
Fixed
Rate

Variable
Rate Index

Notional
Amount

Fair
Value

Notional
Amount

Fair
Value

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. October 2024 2.72%
one-month
LIBOR $ 15,000 $ 477 $ 15,000 $ (702)

Capital One, National Association December 2024 1.58%
one-month
LIBOR 15,000 815 15,000 (241)

Bank of Montreal January 2025 1.91%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,239 25,000 (649)

Truist Financial Corporation April 2025 2.20%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,169 25,000 (905)

Bank of Montreal July 2025 2.32%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,162 25,000 (1,049)

Truist Financial Corporation July 2025 1.99%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,358 25,000 (767)

Truist Financial Corporation December 2025 2.30%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,279 25,000 (1,125)

Bank of Montreal January 2026 1.92%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,547 25,000 (760)

Bank of Montreal January 2026 2.05%
one-month
LIBOR 40,000 2,332 40,000 (1,415)

Capital One, National Association January 2026 2.08%
one-month
LIBOR 35,000 2,007 35,000 (1,274)

Truist Financial Corporation January 2026 1.93%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,542 25,000 (768)

Capital One, National Association April 2026 2.68%
one-month
LIBOR 15,000 625 15,000 (941)

Capital One, National Association July 2026 1.32%
one-month
LIBOR 35,000 3,042 35,000 (205)

Bank of Montreal December 2026 2.33%
one-month
LIBOR 10,000 584 10,000 (538)

Bank of Montreal December 2026 1.99%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,773 25,000 (936)

Toronto-Dominion Bank March 2027 2.46%
one-month
CDOR 14,764 (a) 765 — ——

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. April 2027 2.72%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,129 25,000 (1,887)

Bank of Montreal December 2027 2.37%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,628 25,000 (1,570)

Capital One, National Association December 2027 2.37%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 1,605 25,000 (1,575)

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. January 2028 2.37%
one-month
LIBOR 75,000 4,854 75,000 (4,741)

Bank of Montreal May 2029 2.09%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 2,295 25,000 (1,316)

Regions Bank May 2029 2.11%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 2,244 25,000 (1,356)

Regions Bank June 2029 2.03%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 2,357 25,000 (1,222)

U.S. Bank National Association June 2029 2.03%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 2,377 25,000 (1,220)

Regions Bank August 2029 2.58%
one-month
SOFR 100,000 5,782 — ——

Toronto-Dominion Bank August 2029 2.58%
one-month
SOFR 45,000 2,674 — ——

U.S. Bank National Association August 2029 2.65%
one-month
SOFR 15,000 826 — ——

U.S. Bank National Association August 2029 2.58%
one-month
SOFR 100,000 5,861 — ——

U.S. Bank National Association August 2029 1.35%
one-month
LIBOR 25,000 3,419 25,000 (9)

Regions Bank March 2032 2.69%
one-month
CDOR 14,764 (a) 1,092 — ——

U.S. Bank National Association March 2032 2.70%
one-month
CDOR 14,764 (a) 1,107 — ——

Bank of Montreal March 2034 2.81%
one-month
CDOR 29,530 (a) 2,424 — ——

$ 973,822 $ 63,390 $ 640,000 $ (27,171)
(a) The contractual notional amount is $20.0 million or $40.0 million CAD.

At December 31, 2022, the weighted average fixed rate on all outstanding interest rate swaps was 2.23%.
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The total amounts recognized, and the location in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income,
from converting from variable rates to fixed rates under these agreements were as follows:

Total Interest Expense
Amount of Gain Presented in the

(Loss) Recognized in Reclassification from Accumulated Consolidated Statements
Accumulated Other Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) of Income and

(in thousands) Comprehensive Amount of Comprehensive
For the year ended December 31, Income (Loss) Location Loss Income
2022 $ 90,560 Interest expense $ 4,453 $ 78,652
2021 39,353 Interest expense 16,136 64,146
2020 (50,544) Interest expense 12,656 76,138

Amounts related to the interest rate swaps expected to be reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to Interest
expense during the next twelve months are estimated to be a gain of $22.8 million. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event
of non-performance by the counterparties of the swaps. The Company minimizes the risk exposure by limiting counterparties to major
banks who meet established credit and capital guidelines.

12. Non-Controlling Interests

Under the Company’s UPREIT structure, entities and individuals can contribute their properties in exchange for OP Units. There were
no UPREIT transactions during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020. The cumulative amount of UPREIT properties
contributed, less assumed debt, amounted to $128.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. In exchange for the properties
contributed and as part of the Internalization, 5,939,680 and 4,265,126 non-controlling OP Units were issued and outstanding,
respectively, as of December 31, 2022, representing a 5.2% interest in the OP at December 31, 2022. In exchange for the properties
contributed and as part of the Internalization, 6,058,080 and 4,265,126 non-controlling OP Units were issued and outstanding,
respectively, as of December 31, 2021, representing a 6.0% interest in the OP at December 31, 2021. In exchange for the properties
contributed and as part of the Internalization, 6,943,130 and 4,455,308 non-controlling OP Units were issued and outstanding,
respectively, as of December 31, 2020, representing a 7.3% interest in the OP at December 31, 2020.

The OP Units are economically equivalent to the Corporation’s common stock and, subject to certain restrictions, are convertible into
the Company’s common stock at the option of the respective unit holders on a one-to-one basis. The OP Units are redeemable for cash
at the option of the holder, however, the Company may issue shares in lieu of cash. Therefore the OP Units are considered to be
permanent equity. Exchanges of OP Units held by non-controlling interest holders are recorded by reducing non-controlling interest on
a historical cost basis with a corresponding increase in common stock and additional paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes OP Units exchanged for shares of common stock:

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
OP Units exchanged for shares of common stock 118 2,935 822

gValue of units exchanged $ 1,926 $ 46,968 $ 15,631

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP milestones applicable to the earnout and issued
1,859,257 OP Units (see Note 4).

Holders of the OP Units do not have voting rights at the Corporation level.

13. Credit Risk Concentrations

The Company maintained bank balances that, at times, exceeded the federally insured limit during the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021, and 2020. The Company has not experienced losses relating to these deposits and management does not believe that the Company
is exposed to any significant credit risk with respect to these amounts.

Prior to the Internalization on February 7, 2020, the Company’s rental property was managed by BRE and the Asset Manager as
described in Note 3. Management fees paid to BRE and the Asset Manager represented 2% of total operating expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2020. This amount does not include acquisition fees paid to the Asset Manager that were capitalized (see Note 3).
There were no management fees paid to BRE or the Asset Manager during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. For the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company had no individual tenants or common franchises that accounted for more than
10% of total revenues, excluding lease termination fees.
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14. Equity

General

On September 21, 2020, the Corporation completed its IPO and issued 37,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock inclusive of the
underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option on October 20, 2020.

Aside from the conversion discussed below, the terms of the Class A Common Stock were identical to the terms of the Common Stock.
Each share of Class A Common Stock automatically converted into one share of Common Stock on March 20, 2021, and effective
March 22, 2021, all shares of Common Stock were listed and freely tradeable on the NYSE under the ticker “BNL.” The Common Stock
and Class A Common Stock are collectively referred to as the Corporation’s “common stock.”

On June 28, 2021, the Corporation completed its first public follow-on equity offering and issued 11,500,000 shares of Common Stock,
inclusive of the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at $23.00 per share. The net proceeds, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $10.6 million and $0.4 million of other expenses, were $253.5 million. The Company used
the net proceeds to repay the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility in full, and used the remaining net proceeds for general
business purposes, including acquisitions.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP milestones applicable to the earnout. As a result, the
Company issued 1,088,977 shares of common stock (see Note 4).

The Company established an at-the-market common equity offering program (“ATM Program”), through which it may, from time to
time, publicly offer and sell shares of common stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $400.0 million. The ATM Program
provides for forward sale agreements, enabling the Company to set the price of shares upon pricing the offering, while delaying the
issuance of shares and the receipt of the net proceeds. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has $145.4 million of available capacity
under the ATM Program.

The following table presents information about the Company’s ATM Program activity:
For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2022 2021

Number of common shares issued 10,471 1,072
Weighted average sale price per share $ 21.66 $ 26.26
Net proceeds $ 222,893 $ 27,293
Gross proceeds 226,483 28,137

In August 2022, the Company completed a public offering to sell an aggregate of 13,000,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of
$21.35 per share, subject to certain adjustments, in connection with a forward sale agreement. On December 28, 2022, the Company
settled the forward sale agreement and issued 13,000,000 shares of Common Stock. The net proceeds, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions of $3.4 million and $0.6 million of other expenses, were $272.6 million. The Company used the net
proceeds to pay down the unsecured revolving credit facility.

Common Stock

The shares of the Corporation’s common stock entitle the holders to one vote per share on all matters upon which stockholders are
entitled to vote, to receive dividends and other distributions as authorized by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Maryland
General Corporation Law, and to all rights of a stockholder pursuant to the Maryland General Corporation Law. The common stock has
no preferences or preemptive conversion or exchange rights.

Pursuant to the limited liability company agreemea nt between the Corporation and the OP, each outstanding OP Unit is convertible into
one share of the Corporation’s common stock, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the OP’s operating agreement.

Preferred Stock

The Charter also provides the Board of Directors with the authority to issue one or more classes or series of preferred stock, and prior
to the issuance of such shares of preferred stock, the Board of Directors shall have the power from time to time to classify or reclassify,
in one or more series, any unissued shares and designate the preferences, rights and privileges of such shares of preferred stock. At
December 31, 2022 and 2021, no shares of the Corporation’s preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

Restricted Stock Awards

The Company awarded 181,244, 199,430 and 340,976 shares of RSAs, during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively, to certain officers, employees and non-employee directors under the Equity Incentive Plan. The holder of RSAs is generally
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entitled at all times on and after the date of issuance of the restricted common shares to exercise the rights of a stockholder of the
Company, including the right to vote the shares and the right to receive dividends on the shares. The RSAs vest over a one, three, or
four year period from the date of the grant and are subject to the holder’s continued service through the applicable vesting dates and in
accordance with the terms of the individual award agreements. The weighted average value of awards granted during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $21.43 and $18.66, which were based on the market price per share of the Company’s common stock
on the grant dates. The weighted average value per share of awards granted during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $20.50, which
was based on the Determined Share Value. Prior to the IPO, the Company sold shares of common stock in a private offering at a price
equal to the Determined Share Value, which was established at least quarterly by the Board of Directors based on the net asset value
(“NAV”) of the Company’s portfolio, input from management and third-party consultants, and such other factors as the Board of
Directors determined. The Company’s NAV was calculated using its established valuation process, starting with an estimate of the fair
value of the properties in the portfolio as of the date based upon, among other factors, the implied market price for each asset based
upon a review of market capitalization rates.

The following table presents information about the Company’s RSAs:

For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Compensation cost $ 3,469 $ 3,926 $ 1,989
Dividends declared on unvested RSAs 419 394 131

gFair value of shares vested during the period 3,209 3,296 —

As of December 31, 2022, there was $4.9 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to the unvested restricted shares, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3 years.

The following table presents information about the Company’s restricted stock activity:

For the year ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value
per Share

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value
per Share

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value
per Share

Unvested at beginning of period 372 $ 19.62 341 $ 20.50 — $ —
Granted 181 21.43 202 18.70 341 20.50
Vested (147) 19.80 (164) 20.15 — —
Forfeited (10) 20.24 (7) 19.40 — —
Unvested at end of period 396 20.36 372 19.62 341 20.50

Performance-based Restricted Stock Units

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company issued target grants of 124,024 and 132,189 PRSUs under the
Equity Incentive Plan to the officers of the Company, respectively. The awards are non-vested restricted stock units where the vesting
percentages and the ultimate number of units vesting will be measured 50% based on the relative total shareholder return (“rTSR”) of
the Company’s common stock as compared to the rTSR of peer companies, as identified in the grant agreements, over a three-year
period, and 50% based on the rTSR of the Company’s common stock as compared to the rTSR of the MSCI US REIT Index over a three
year measurement period. Vesting percentages range from 0% to 200%, with a target of 100%. rTSR means the percentage appreciation
in the fair market value of one share over the three year measurement period beginning on the date of grant, assuming the reinvestment
of dividends on the ex-dividend date. The target number of units is based on achieving a rTSR equal to the 55th percentile of the peer
companies and MSCI US REIT Index. Dividends accrue during the measurement period and will be paid on the PRSUs ultimately
earned at the end of the measurement period in either cash or common stock, at the direction of the Board of Director’s Compensation
Committee. The grant date fair value of the PRSUs was measured using aMonte Carlo simulation model based on assumptions including
share price volatility.

The following table presents information about the Company’s PRSUs:
For the Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2022 2021
Compensation cost $ 1,847 $ 743
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As of December 31, 2022, there was $3.5 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to the unvested PRSUs, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years.

The were no PRSUs at December 31, 2020.

The following table presents information about the Company’s PRSU activity:
For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Unvested at beginning of period 110 $ 24.40 — $ —
Granted 124 27.93 132 24.40
Vested — — — ——
Forfeited (1) 27.93 (22) 24.40
Unvested at end of period 233 26.27 110 24.40

16. Earnings per Share

The following table summarizes the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”):

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020
Basic earnings:
Net earnings attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. common
shareholders $ 122,115 $ 102,426 $ 51,181

Less: earnings allocated to unvested restricted shares (419) (394) (131)
Net earnings used to compute basic earnings per common share $ 121,696 $ 102,032 $ 51,050

gDiluted earnings:
et earnings used to compute basic earnings per share $ 121,696 $ 102,032 $ 51,050

Net earnings attributable to non-controlling interests 7,360 7,102 5,095
Net earnings used to compute diluted earnings per common share $ 129,056 $ 109,134 $ 56,145

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 170,225 153,425 117,289
Less: weighted average unvested restricted shares (a) (385) (368) (139)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in
basic earnings per common share 169,840 153,057 117,150

Effects of restricted stock units (b) 96 172 —
Effects of convertible membership units (c) 10,265 10,741 11,649
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in
diluted earnings per common share 180,201 163,970 128,799

Basic earnings per share $ 0.72 $ 0.67 $ 0.44
gDiluted earnings per share $ 0.72 $ 0.67 $ 0.44

(a) Represents the weighted average effects of 396,383, 372,150 and 340,963 unvested restricted shares of common stock as of December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively, which will be excluded from the computation of earnings per share until they vest.

(b) Represents the weighted average effects of shares of common stock to be issued as though the end of the period were the end of the performance period (see Note
15).

(c) Represents the weighted average effects of 10,204,806, 10,323,206, and 11,398,438 OP Units outstanding at December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.
OP Units are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation. However, because such OP Units would also require that the share of the net income attributable
to such OP units also be added back to net income, there is no effect to EPS.

17. Income Taxes

For federal income tax purposes, distributions to stockholders are characterized as ordinary dividends, capital gain distributions, or
return of capital distributions. Return of capital distributions will reduce stockholders’ basis in their shares, but not below zero. The
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portion of the distribution that exceeds the adjusted basis of the stock will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of property. The
following table shows the character of the distributions the Company paid on a percentage basis:

For the Year Ended December 31,
Character of Distributions 2022 2021 2020
Ordinary dividends 68% 61% 89%
Capital gain distributions 2% 0% 7%
Return of capital distributions 30% 39% 4%

100% 100% 100%

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Cash paid for interest was $72.0 million, $57.3 million, and $72.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively. Cash paid for income taxes was $0.4 million, $0.6 million, and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021,
and 2020, respectively.

The following are non-cash transactions and have been excluded from the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company converted 118,400 OP units valued at $1.9 million to 118,400 shares
of common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company converted 2,934,489 OP Units valued at $47.0
million to 2,934,489 shares of common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company converted 822,745 OP
Units valued at $15.6 million to 822,745 shares of common stock. (See Note 12).

At December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, dividend amounts declared and accrued but not yet paid amounted to $54.5 million,
$45.9 million, and $39.3 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company adjusted the carrying value of Non-controlling interests to reflect their
share of the book value of the OP by $6.3 million, $32.2 million, and $(41.2) million, respectively, with the reallocation
recorded as an offset to Additional paid-in capital (see Note 2).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Corporation issued 275,271 shares of common stock with a value of
approximately $5.7 million, under the terms of the Corporation’s Distribution Reinvestment Plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued shares of Common Stock and OP Units, with a total value of
approximately $178.5 million, and earnout consideration with a fair value of $40.1 million as consideration for the
Internalization, and assumed $90.5 million of debt (see Note 4).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company adjusted the carrying value of mezzanine equity non-controlling
interests by $2.5 million, with an offset to Additional paid-in capital, in accordance with our accounting policy (see Note 2).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company reclassified $112.7 million of mezzanine equity non-controlling
interests to Non-controlling interests as a result of the IPO triggering permanent equity classification (see Notes 2 and 4).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company reclassified $66.4 million of mezzanine equity common stock, with
an offset of $66.4 million to Additional paid-in capital as a result of the IPO triggering permanent equity classification (see
Notes 2 and 4).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company reclassified $30.8 million of the carrying value of the earnout liability,
with an offset of $19.4 million as a component of Non-controlling interests and $11.4 million as a component of Additional
paid-in capital (see Note 2).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company executed lease modifications that resulted in the lease classification
changing from direct financing lease to operating lease for five properties. At the modification date, the net investment in the
original lease, and therefore the carrying value of the assets recognized, amounted to $10.8 million.

Upon adoption of ASC 326, Financial InsII truments – Credit losses, on January 1, 2020, the Company recorded a transition
adjustment to record a provision for credit losses associated with its net investment in direct financing leases of $0.3 million,
with an equal amount recorded as a reduction in retained earnings. The provision for credit losses is included as a component
of Accounted for using the direct financing method on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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In connection with real estate transactions conducted during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company accepted credits
for rent in advance of $1.7 million in exchange for a reduction to the cash paid to acquire the associated real estate assets.

19. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is a party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of the Company’s business. While the
resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, based on currently available information, the Company does not believe
that the final outcome of any of these matters will have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or
liquidity.

Property and Acquisition Related

In connection with ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for cost and damages related to
environmental matters. The Company is not aware of any non-compliance, liability, claim, or other environmental condition that would
have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company has a $22.2 million remaining commitment to fund a building expansion, in exchange for
increases in rent contractually scheduled to commence simultaneously upon funding. The Company expects to fulfill the obligation
during 2023. The Company had a commitment to fund a building expansion related to a previous acquisition for a total of $17.4 million
as of December 31, 2021, in exchange for an increase in base rent. In June 2022, the Company fulfilled this commitment and the base
rent increased accordingly.

The Company is a party to three separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of two distinct UPREIT transactions
and to a tax protection agreement in connection with the Internalization. The tax protection agreements require the Company to
indemnify the beneficiaries in the event of a sale, exchange, transfer, or other disposal of the contributed property, and in the case of the
tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the Internalization, the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would
cause such beneficiaries to recognize a gain that is protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. The Company is
required to allocate an amount of nonrecourse liabilities to each beneficiary that is at least equal to the minimum liability amount, as
contained in the agreements. The minimum liability amount and the associated allocation of nonrecourse liabilities are calculated in
accordance with applicable tax regulations, are completed at the OP level, and do not represent GAAP accounting. Therefore, there is
no impact to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Based on values as of December 31, 2022, taxable sales of the applicable properties
would trigger liability under the agreements of approximately $20.4 million. Based on information available, the Company does not
believe that the events resulting in damages as detailed above have occurred or are likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various types of commitments to purchase real estate properties. These
commitments are generally subject to the Company's customary due diligence process and, accordingly, a number of specific conditions
must be met before the Company is obligated to purchase the properties.

Obligations Under Leases

In October 2022, the Company executed a ten year lease for its new corporate office space that commences in 2023, the timing of which
depends on the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the lease. The Company has the ability to terminate the lease prior to
commencement if certain conditions are not met. If the lease were to commence, the total expected future lease payments would be $8.9
million.

20. Subsequent Events

On January 13, 2023, the Company paid distributions totaling $54.0 million.

On February 17, 2023, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly distribution of $0.275 per share on the Company’s common stock
and OP Units for the first quarter of 2023, which will be payable on or before April 14, 2023 to stockholders and unit holders of record
as of March 31, 2023.

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Company paid down $61.0 million, and borrowed $29.0 million on the Revolving Credit Facility,
the proceeds of which were used for general corporate purposes.

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Company executed an early lease termination with an office tenant on a single property in
exchange for a fee of $7.5 million, and simultaneously sold the underlying property to an unrelated third party for total proceeds of
$32.0 million. The carrying value of the property was approximately $30.9 million, resulting in a gain on sale of real estate of
approximately $0.5 million after selling costs. As the sale was to an unrelated third party, the Company accounted for the lease
termination and sale as separate transactions in accordance with GAAP. Aggregate gross proceeds from the two transactions amounted
to $39.5 million.



B
ro
ad
st
on
e
N
et
Le
as
e,
In
c.
an
d
Su
bs
id
ia
rie
s

Sc
he
du
le
II
I–

R
ea
lE

st
at
e
A
ss
et
sa
nd

A
cc
um

ul
at
ed

D
ep
re
ci
at
io
n

A
so

fD
ec
em

be
r3
1,
20
22

(in
th
ou
sa
nd
s)

C
os
ts
C
ap
ita
liz
ed

L
ife

on
In
iti
al
C
os
ts
to

Su
bs
eq
ue
nt

G
ro
ss
A
m
ou
nt
at
W
hi
ch

C
ar
ri
ed

at
W
hi
ch

C
om

pa
ny
(A
)

to
A
cq
ui
si
tio
n

C
lo
se
of
Pe
ri
od

D
ep
re
ci
at
io
n

B
ui
ld
in
gs

an
d

A
cc
um

ul
at
ed

D
at
e
of

D
at
e

is
C
om

pu
te
d

Pr
op
er
ty
T
yp
e

E
nc
um

br
an
ce

L
an
d

Im
pr
ov
em

en
ts

L
an
d

Im
pr
ov
em

en
ts

L
an
d

Im
pr
ov
em

en
ts

T
ot
al
(B
)

D
ep
re
ci
at
io
n

C
on
st
ru
ct
io
n

A
cq
ui
re
d

(Y
ea
rs
)

In
du
st
ri
al

M
an
uf
ac
tu
rin
g

$
—

$
13
1,
14
9

$
64
9,
55
7

$
—

$
9,
34
3

$
13
1,
14
9

$
65
8,
90
0

$
79
0,
04
9

$
75
,1
69

19
32
-2
02
1

20
11
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

D
is
tri
bu
tio
n
&

W
ar
eh
ou
se

—
92
,3
17

59
1,
50
3

4,
51
1

1,
87
5

96
,8
28

59
3,
37
8

69
0,
20
6

66
,5
31

19
29
-2
02
1

20
12
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

Fo
od

Pr
oc
es
si
ng

5,
41
3

52
,3
56

54
1,
52
6

—
30
,8
22

52
,3
56

57
2,
34
8

62
4,
70
4

37
,9
24

19
07
-2
02
0

20
12
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

Fl
ex

an
d
R
&
D

45
,5
16

57
,1
18

15
5,
15
0

—
48

57
,1
18

15
5,
19
8

21
2,
31
6

22
,7
41

19
82
-2
01
8

20
13
-2
01
9

15
-3
9

C
ol
d
St
or
ag
e

19
,1
50

11
,6
38

15
4,
54
2

—
68

11
,6
38

15
4,
61
0

16
6,
24
8

21
,7
69

19
33
-2
01
7

20
17
-2
01
8

7-
39

Se
rv
ic
es

—
58
,1
14

65
,6
44

—
3,
68
0

58
,1
14

69
,3
24

12
7,
43
8

6,
52
2

19
60
-2
02
2

20
13
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

U
nt
en
an
te
d

—
1,
04
8

7,
54
5

—
1

1,
04
8

7,
54
6

8,
59
4

1,
24
8

20
08

20
17

15
-3
9

H
ea
lth

ca
re

C
lin
ic
al

—
33
,4
24

28
3,
53
9

55
7

10
,2
66

33
,9
81

29
3,
80
5

32
7,
78
6

55
,5
08

19
70
-2
02
2

20
10
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

H
ea
lth
ca
re
Se
rv
ic
es

—
21
,3
93

14
6,
12
6

(1
45
)

66
9

21
,2
48

14
6,
79
5

16
8,
04
3

13
,8
08

19
82
-2
02
0

20
09
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

A
ni
m
al
H
ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
es

—
15
,9
43

11
1,
10
7

—
(1
44
)

15
,9
43

11
0,
96
3

12
6,
90
6

14
,5
15

19
54
-2
01
7

20
15
-2
02
1

15
-3
9

Su
rg
ic
al

—
9,
94
2

11
7,
00
6

29
0

13
5

10
,2
32

11
7,
14
1

12
7,
37
3

19
,6
11

19
84
-2
01
1

20
14
-2
02
1

15
-3
9

Li
fe
Sc
ie
nc
e

—
10
,3
06

78
,0
56

—
1,
32
7

10
,3
06

79
,3
83

89
,6
89

14
,8
93

19
65
-2
01
6

20
11
-2
01
8

15
-3
9

U
nt
en
an
te
d

—
14
1

2,
15
2

—
1

14
1

2,
15
3

2,
29
4

36
20
06

20
18

15
-3
9

R
es
ta
ur
an
t

Q
ui
ck

Se
rv
ic
e

R
es
ta
ur
an
ts

—
49
,1
87

23
6,
56
9

19
7

3,
65
0

49
,3
84

24
0,
21
9

28
9,
60
3

48
,5
01

19
65
-2
02
0

20
09
-2
02
0

15
-3
9

C
as
ua
lD

in
in
g

—
75
,8
40

27
2,
77
4

—
12

75
,8
40

27
2,
78
6

34
8,
62
6

39
,1
25

19
72
-2
01
4

20
11
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

R
et
ai
l

G
en
er
al
M
er
ch
an
di
se

16
,6
75

80
,6
69

29
4,
92
3

—
17

80
,6
69

29
4,
94
0

37
5,
60
9

19
,7
15

20
03
-2
02
2

20
16
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

A
ut
om

ot
iv
e

—
33
,6
59

12
4,
97
9

—
73

33
,6
59

12
5,
05
2

15
8,
71
1

20
,3
89

19
09
-2
02
1

20
14
-2
02
2

7-
39

H
om

e
Fu
rn
is
hi
ng
s

—
3,
62
5

90
,6
44

—
98
1

3,
62
5

91
,6
25

95
,2
50

14
,1
78

19
74
-2
01
4

20
17
-2
01
8

15
-3
9

C
hi
ld
C
ar
e

—
48
2

4,
74
1

—
—

48
2

4,
74
1

5,
22
3

17
20
22

20
22

15
-3
9

O
ff
ic
e

C
or
po
ra
te
H
ea
dq
ua
rte
rs

—
13
,4
15

98
,0
41

—
2,
22
2

13
,4
15

10
0,
26
3

11
3,
67
8

13
,7
49

19
65
-2
00
8

20
12
-2
02
2

15
-3
9

St
ra
te
gi
c
O
pe
ra
tio
ns

—
7,
72
3

90
,1
30

—
8,
90
0

7,
72
3

99
,0
30

10
6,
75
3

17
,8
11

19
84
-2
01
2

20
16
-2
01
7

7-
39

C
al
lC

en
te
r

—
3,
58
0

35
,9
42

—
10
,2
28

3,
58
0

46
,1
70

49
,7
50

10
,1
54

19
79
-1
99
8

20
14
-2
01
9

15
-3
9

U
nt
en
an
te
d

—
18
8

3,
14
7

—
—

18
8

3,
14
7

3,
33
5

51
20
01

20
10

15
-3
9

A
cq
ui
si
tio
ns

in
Pr
oc
es
s(
C
)

—
—

46
—

—
—

46
46

—

To
ta
l(
D
)

86
,7
54

76
3,
25
7

4,
15
5,
38
9

5,
41
0

84
,1
74

76
8,
66
7

4,
23
9,
56
3

5,
00
8,
23
0

53
3,
96
5

N
ot
es
: (A
)

Th
e
in
iti
al
co
st
to
th
e
C
om

pa
ny

re
pr
es
en
ts
th
e
or
ig
in
al
pu
rc
ha
se
pr
ic
e
of
th
e
pr
op
er
ty
(s
ee

N
ot
e
5)
.

(B
)

Th
e
ag
gr
eg
at
e
co
st
of
re
al
es
ta
te
ow

ne
d
as
of
D
ec
em

be
r3
1,
20
22

fo
rU

.S
.f
ed
er
al
in
co
m
e
ta
x
pu
rp
os
es
w
as
ap
pr
ox
im
at
el
y
$5
.2
bi
lli
on
.

(C
)

A
cq
ui
si
tio
n
co
st
si
n
pr
og
re
ss
re
pr
es
en
ts
co
st
si
nc
ur
re
d
du
rin
g
th
e
ye
ar
en
de
d
D
ec
em

be
r3
1,
20
22

re
la
te
d
to
as
se
ta
cq
ui
si
tio
ns

ex
pe
ct
ed

to
cl
os
e
du
rin
g
th
e
ye
ar
en
de
d
D
ec
em

be
r3
1,
20
23
.

(D
)

Th
is
sc
he
du
le
ex
cl
ud
es
pr
op
er
tie
ss
ub
je
ct
to
le
as
es
th
at
ar
e
cl
as
si
fie
d
as
di
re
ct
fin
an
ci
ng

le
as
es
,s
al
es
-ty
pe

le
as
es
,a
sw

el
la
st
he

va
lu
e
of
rig
ht
-o
f-
us
e
as
se
ts
re
co
rd
ed

on
ce
rta
in
of
th
e

pr
op
er
tie
sw

he
re
th
e
C
om

pa
ny

is
le
ss
ee

un
de
ra

gr
ou
nd

le
as
e.

103



C
ha
ng
e
in
To

ta
lR

ea
lE

st
at
e
A
ss
et
s

Fo
r
th
e
Y
ea
r
E
nd
ed

D
ec
em

be
r
31
,

20
22

20
21

20
20

g
g

B
al
an
ce
,b
eg
in
ni
ng

of
pe
rio
d

$
4,
20
5,
19
1

$
3,
70
4,
48
8

$
3,
68
6,
44
4

A
cq
ui
si
tio
ns

an
d
bu
ild
in
g
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts

92
9,
97
2

61
3,
64
6

10
8,
86
8

D
is
po
si
tio
ns

(1
18
,0
28
)

(1
09
,7
61
)

(6
9,
94
1)

Im
pa
irm

en
t

(8
,9
05
)

(3
,1
82
)

(2
0,
88
3)

B
al
an
ce
,e
nd

of
pe
rio
d

$
5,
00
8,
23
0

$
4,
20
5,
19
1

$
3,
70
4,
48
8

C
ha
ng
e
in
A
cc
um

ul
at
ed

D
ep
re
ci
at
io
n

Fo
r
th
e
Y
ea
r
E
nd
ed

D
ec
em

be
r
31
,

20
22

20
21

20
20

B
al
an
ce
,b
eg
in
ni
ng

of
pe
rio
d

$
43
0,
14
1

$
34
9,
97
7

$
27
1,
04
4

A
cq
ui
si
tio
ns

an
d
bu
ild
in
g
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts

11
5,
89
2

10
0,
87
8

93
,7
41

D
is
po
si
tio
ns

(8
,1
65
)

(1
9,
54
3)

(1
2,
36
9)

Im
pa
irm

en
t

(3
,9
03
)

(1
,1
71
)

(2
,4
39
)

B
al
an
ce
,e
nd

of
pe
rio
d

$
53
3,
96
5

$
43
0,
14
1

$
34
9,
97
7

104



105

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange
Act), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2022, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a
reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent
limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that a misstatement
of our financial statements would be prevented or detected.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Deloitte
& Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, of the
Company and our report dated February 23, 2023, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal contrrr ol over financial reporting includes tff hose
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Rochester, New York
February 23, 2023
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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Part III.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s 2022 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s 2022 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s 2022 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s 2022 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated
herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s 2022 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial Statements

See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedules

See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All other
schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the financial
statements or the notes thereto.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
Index to Exhibits.

Exhibit
No.

Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017 and incorporated by reference)

3.2 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

3.3 Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

3.4 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

3.5 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 25, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

4.1 Description of the Company’s Securities (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed February 23, 2022, and incorporated by reference)

4.2 Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net
Lease, LLC and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of the Guarantee (filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 15, 2021 and incorporated by
reference)

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of the
Notes (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 15, 2021 and
incorporated by reference)
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10.1 Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, dated September
21, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 21, 2020
and incorporated by reference)

10.2* Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Policy, effective as of May 5, 2022

10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreement, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and each of its officers and
directors (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017
and incorporated by reference)

10.4 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, for 4.84% Guaranteed Senior Notes due April 18,
2027, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017
and incorporated by reference)

10.5 Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net
Lease, LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as administrative
agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed June 29, 2017, and incorporated by reference)

10.6 Consent and Agreement Regarding Commitment Increases and Additional Term Loans, dated as of
November 20, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC,
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 27, 2017, and incorporated
by reference)

10.7 First Amendment Regarding Commitment Increases, dated February 28, 2019, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company and the other
parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 5, 2019,
and incorporated by reference)

10.8 Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2019, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company, and other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed July 3, 2019, and incorporated by reference)

10.9 Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2020, by
and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company, and other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed September 21, 2020, and incorporated by reference)

10.10 Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2022, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company, and other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed May 5, 2022 and incorporated by reference)

10.11 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated July 2, 2018, for 5.09% Series B Guaranteed Senior Notes due July
2, 2028 and 5.19% Series C Guaranteed Senior Notes due July 2, 2030, by and among Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 6, 2018, and incorporated by reference)
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10.12 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 27, 2019, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone
Net Lease, LLC, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (“Capital One Term
Loan Agreement”) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 5,
2019, and incorporated by reference)

10.13 Guaranty, dated February 27, 2019, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., in favor of Capital One, National
Association (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 5, 2019,
and incorporated by reference)

10.14 First Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated July 1, 2019, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 12, 2019, and
incorporated by reference)

10.15 Second Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, by and among
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other
parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 21,
2020, and incorporated by reference)

10.16 Third Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and among
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other
parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 18,
2021 and incorporated by reference)

10.17 Fourth Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated March 31, 2022, by and among
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other
parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 5,
2022 and incorporated by reference)

10.18 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.19 Guaranty, dated February 7, 2020, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and
incorporated by reference)

10.20 Amendment No.1 to Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the
other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 21, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.21 Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September 4, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders
party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 11,
2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.22 Guaranty, dated September 4, 2020, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 11, 2020 and
incorporated by reference)
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10.23 Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2022, by and among,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed February 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference)rr

10.24 Guaranty, dated January 28, 2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 3, 2022 and
incorporated by reference)

10.25 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Regions Bank, as administrative agent, and the lender parties thereto (filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by
reference)

10.26 Guaranty, dated August 1, 2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of Regions Bank (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by
reference)

10.27 Tax Protection Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone
Net Lease, LLC, and the persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.28 Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and the
persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February
7, 2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.25+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and Christopher J.
Czarnecki (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020
and incorporated by reference)

10.26+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and RyanM. Albano (filed
as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated
by reference)

10.27+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and Sean T. Cutt (filed as
Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by
reference)

10.28+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and John D. Moragne
(filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 7, 2020 and
incorporated by reference)

10.29+ Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan, dated August 4, 2020 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 4, 2020 and incorporated by
reference)
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10.30+ Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 4,
2020 and incorporated by reference)

10.35+ Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Change in Control Severance Protection Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 4, 2022 and incorporated by reference)

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.

23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.1*† Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*† Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in Interactive Data File because
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL Document

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
† In accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act
or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BROADSTONE NET LEASE, INC.

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Christopher J. Czarnecki
Christopher J. Czarnecki
Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Laurie A. Hawkes
Laurie A. Hawkes
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Christopher J. Czarnecki
Christopher J. Czarnecki
Director, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Denise Brooks-Williams
Denise Brooks-Williams
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Michael A. Coke
Michael A. Coke
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Jessica Duran
Jessica Duran
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Laura Felice
Laura Felice
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ David M. Jacobstein
David M. Jacobstein
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Shekar Narasimhan
Shekar Narasimhan
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Geoffrey H. Rosenberger
Geoffrey H. Rosenberger
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ James H. Watters
James H. Watters
Director

Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ RyRR an M. Albano
RyRR an M. Albano
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
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Date: February 23, 2023 /s/ Timothy D. Dieffenbacher
Timothy D. Dieffenbacher
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
and Treasurer (Principal Accounting Officer)
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John D. Moragne
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Kevin M. Fennell
EVP and Chief Financial Officer

Michael B. Caruso
SVP, Corporate Strategy and Investor Relations

Jim Lessard
SVP, Asset Management

Roderick A. Pickney
SVP, Acquisitions

Andrea T. Wright
SVP, Property Management

E X E C U T I V E  T E A M

Ryan M. Albano
President and Chief Operating Officer

John D. Callan, Jr.
SVP, General Counsel, and Secretary

Timothy D. Dieffenbacher
SVP, Chief Accounting Officer, and Treasurer

Jennie O’Brien
SVP, Accounting and Controller

Molly Kelly Wiegel
SVP, Human Resources and Administration

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Laurie A. Hawkes
Chairman of the Board

Denise Brooks-Williams
Director

Jessica Duran
Director

David M. Jacobstein
Director

Geoffrey H. Rosenberger
Director

John D. Moragne
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Michael A. Coke
Director

Laura Felice
Director

Shekar Narasimhan
Director

James H. Watters
Director

I N V E S T O R  R E L AT I O N S CORPORATE OFF ICE  &  CONTACT

BNL is not affiliated or associated with, is not endorsed by, does not endorse, and is not sponsored by or a sponsor of the tenants 
or of their products or services pictured or mentioned. The names, logos, and all related product and service names, design marks,  
and slogans are the trademarks or service marks of their respective companies.

investorrelations@broadstone.com
585.287.6500

800 Clinton Square
Rochester, New York 14604
585.287.6500
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